Ministry of Interior - State Secretariat for Healthcare NATIONAL ADVISORY BOARD OF HEALTHCARE

Medical Guideline On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Type: Identifier: Published on:

Valid through: Issued by:

Published in Printed version: Electronic access: Clinical Medical Guideline 002168 day/month/year (To be specified by the journal's publisher) 30 September 2025 Ministry of Justice

Healthcare Journal (EgészségügyiKözlöny) https://kollegium.aeek.hu

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. CONTRIBUTORS TO THE GUIDELINE
1. Definitions4
2. Acronyms
3. The level of evidence6
4. The ranking of recommendations6
V. INTRODUCTION
1. The topic's situation in Hungary, choice of topic7
2. User group
3. Contacts for official Hungarian and foreign medical guidelines8
VI. MEDICAL DETAILS OF THE RECOMMENDATIONS
1. Conditions of application in Hungarian practice
2. List of documents to help administration 49
3. Guidelines for practical application, audit criteria
VIII. GUIDELINES REVIEW PLAN
IX. REFERENCES
1.Formation of the development group, the development method and the documentation of tasks . 63
2. Literary search and selection
3. Describing the strength and shortcomings of the evidence used (critical assessment, 'evidence or recommendation matrix'), method for determining the level of evidence
4. Method for drafting the recommendations
5. Consultation method
6. Independent expert consultation method
1. Documents to help administration

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

I. CONTRIBUTORS TO THE GUIDELINE

Co-author National Advisory Board of Healthcare Section(s):

1. Transfusiology and Haematology

Prof. Dr.IstvánVályi-Nagy, internist, president

Members of the Development Working Group:

Dr. Marienn Réti, internist, haematologist, transfusion specialist, co-author Prof. Dr.György Reusz, paediatrician, nephrologist, co-author Prof. Dr. Zoltán Prohászka, medical laboratory testing specialist, co-author

Consultative National Advisory Board of Healthcare Section(s):

1. Anaesthetics and intensive therapy

Prof. Dr. János Gál, anaesthesiology and intensive therapy specialist, A&E doctor, president, consultant

2. Paediatrics

Prof. Dr. Csaba Bereczki, paediatric intensive therapy specialist, nephrologist, paediatrician, clinical pharmacologist, president, consultant

3. Clinical Immunology and Allergology

Prof. Dr. Emese Kiss, allergist and clinical immunologist, internist, rheumatologist, president, consultant

4. Nephrology and Dialysis

Prof. Dr.István Wittmann, internist, nephrologist, president, consultant

5. Neonatology

Dr. László Gárdos, gastroenterologist, neonatologist, paediatrician, paediatric intensive therapy specialist, president, consultant

6. Neurology

Dr. Csaba Óváry, neurologist, president, consultant

7. Medical Laboratory

Prof. Dr. Attila Miseta, clinical laboratory testing specialist, president, consultant

8. Obstetrics and Gynaecology

Dr. János Demeter, gynaecologist, president, consultant

9. Transplantation

Dr. László Piros, surgeon, president, consultant

The authors' independence was not infringed during the drafting of this medical guideline.

The National Advisory Board of Healthcare sections listed above endorse the contents of this medical guideline in a documented manner.

Other contributors to the guideline Patient organisation(s) with consultative capacity: Did not take part

Other organisation(s) with consultative capacity: Did not take part

Professional society(ies) with consultative capacity: Did not take part

Independent expert(s): Did not take part

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

II. FOREWORD

Evidence-based medical guidelines provide guidance in decision-making for healthcare professionals and other users in a specific medical environment. Medical guidelines developed and applied based on a systematic methodology have been scientifically proven to improve quality of care. The set of recommendations presented in the medical guideline has been created based on the highest standard of scientific findings available and factoring in clinical experience, patient perspectives and the idiosyncrasies of the Hungarian healthcare system alike. This guideline defines sector-neutral recommendations. Although medical guideline recommendations represent the best practices based on the most recent evidence at the time of their publication, they are no substitute for the decisions of healthcare professionals in every situation, so they may be diverged from in warranted cases in a documented manner.

III. SCOPE				
Healthcare considerations:	Medical care for patients with thrombotic microangiopathies (thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura, haemolytic uraemic syndrome)			
Stage(s) of the medical care process:	Diagnostics, therapy, risk assessment, care			
Affected patient group: Affected patient group Specialty area:	All patients with thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura and haemolytic uraemic syndrome 0102 haematology 0105 nephrology			
Form of care:	 J1 Outpatient specialist treatment, specialist practice J7 Outpatient specialist treatment and care D1 Diagnostics F1 Inpatient specialist treatment, active inpatient treatment F2Inpatient specialist treatment, chronic inpatient treatment F6 Inpatient specialist treatment, emergency treatment A1 Primary care 			
Level of progressivity:	Levels I - II - III			
Other specification:	None			
IV. DEFINITIONS				

1. Definitions

ADAMTS13 relapse: ADAMTS13 activity falling below 20% again after a partial or complete ADAMTS13 remission.

Amotosalen-UVA: a method for pathogen inactivation of blood products by using amotosalen as a photoactivating agent and irradiating the product with ultraviolet "A" rays.

amotosalen-UVA-FFP: FFP pathogenically inactivated using amotosalen-UVA technology.

APA syndrome: antiphospholipid syndrome.

CD36 receptor: scavenger receptor expressed on platelets, phagocytes, liver, fat and muscle cells.

HELLP syndrome: Haemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, low platelet count.

Clinical exacerbation: platelet count falling below 150 G/L (other cause excluded) after achieving a clinical response but before achieving clinical remission, with or without new or progressive ischaemic organ damage, within 30 days of completion of plasma exchange or anti-VWF therapy.

Clinical relapse: platelet count again falling below 150 G/L after clinical remission (other causes excluded) with or without new ischaemic organ damage. Clinical relapse should be supported by evidence of severe ADAMTS13 deficiency.

Clinical remission in TTP: clinical response without plasma exchange and anti-VWF treatment: at least for 30 days or if ADAMTS13 remission (partial or complete) is achieved, whichever occurs first.

002168

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Clinical response in TTP: platelet count maintained above 150 G/L, LDH not exceeding one and a half times the upper normal value, without clinical signs of new or progressive ischaemic organ damage.

Methylene blue: a compound used to inactivate viruses in plasma preparations.

Methylene blue-FFP: FFP inactivated by methylene blue virus.

Plasmapheresis/plasma exchange: A blood cleaning procedure (extracorporeal circulation) using a specifically developed cell or plasma separator where approximately 40–60 mL/kg of plasma is removed from the patient and replaced by a substitution solution with a composition dependent on the indication (crystalloid, synthetic colloid, albumin, fresh frozen plasma). The purpose of the procedure is to remove intravascular (non-dialysable) macromolecules and, in some cases, replace deficient plasma components (such as the ADAMTS13 enzyme, complement regulator proteins, etc.) in large volumes.

Plasma transfusion: administration of fresh frozen plasma using a transfusion set.

Refractory TTP: Persistent thrombocytopenia (<50 G/L) and LDH elevation despite 5 plasma exchanges and immunosuppressive therapy.

Partial ADAMTS13 remission: ADAMTS13 activity is 20% or higher but below the lower limit of the normal range.

Riboflavin-UV: a method for inactivating pathogens in blood products by using riboflavin (vitamin B2) as a photoactivating agent and irradiating the product with ultraviolet rays.

Riboflavin-UV-FFP: FFP pathogen inactivated using the riboflavin-UV method.

SD plasma: FFP virus inactivated by solvent-detergent method.

Solvent-detergent (SD): a virus inactivation method for killing viruses with lipid envelopes.

Complete ADAMTS13 remission: ADAMTS13 activity exceeds the lower limit of the normal range.

2. Acronyms

ANA – Anti-nuclear antibody **ANCA** – Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody **AKI** – acute kidney injury **ADAMTS13** – A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with a thrombospondin type 1 motif, member 13; **aHUS**– atypical HUS anti-Gbm - Anti-glomerular basement membrane antibody APA – antiphospholipid antibody BCSH – British Society for Haematology BF – Complement factor B BSC – Best supportive care C3 – Complement component C3 C4 – Complement component C4 C5 – Complement component C5 CD46 – Membrane cofactor protein, or cluster of differentiation antigen 46 **CFB** – Complement factor B CFH - Complement factor H CFHR1 - Complement factor H-related 1 CFI - Complement factor I CMV - Cytomegalovirus **CRP** – C-reactive protein DGKE – diacylglycerol kinase epsilon **DIC** – disseminated intravascular coagulation DNA – deoxyribonucleic acid dsDNA - double stranded DNA **EBV** – Epstein-Barr virus EHEC – Enterohaemorrhagic E. coli ENA - extractable nuclear antigen ESRD – End stage kidney disease FcRN – neonatal Fc receptor FFP – fresh frozen plasma HBV – Hepatitis B virus HCV – Hepatitis C virus HELLP – haemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, low platelet count FH – complement factor H HIV – human immunodeficiency virus HUS – haemolytic uraemic syndrome

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

IBD – inflammatory bowel disease FI – complement factor I ISU - immunosuppressant treatment ITP - immune thrombocytopenia iTTP - immune thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura IVIG – intravenous immunoglobulin LDH – lactate dehvdrogenase LMWH - low-molecular weight heparin LPS – lipopolysaccharide MAHA - microangiopathic haemolytic anaemia MCP - membrane cofactor protein (CD46) Met 1606 – methionine 1606 MMACHC - methylmalonic aciduria and homocystinuria NAC - N-acetylcysteine NEAK - National Health Insurance Fund OGYÉI - National Institute of Pharmacy and Nutrition PCR – polymerase chain reaction PEX – plasma exchange PLG - plasminogen PNH - paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria RIPA - ristocetin-induced platelet aggregation SARS-CoV-2 - severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 SLE – systemic lupus erythematosus SP-HUS - Streptococcus pneumoniae-associated HUS SSC – Systemic sclerosis STEC-HUS – Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli-associated haemolytic uremic syndrome THBD - thrombomodulin TMA – thrombotic microangiopathy TTP: thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura Tyr 1605 - tyrosine 1605 **ULVWF** – ultra-large VWF USS - Upshaw-Schulman syndrome VTEC / STEC - Verotoxin- / Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli VWF - von Willebrand factor

3. The level of evidence

The classification system used for the level of evidence is based on the GRADE nomenclature [193].

In	the	text,	the	development	group	rated	scientific	evidence	and	its	credibility	and	scientific	support	in
par	enth	leses f	follo	wing the text d	lescript	ion, fo	r instance:	(A). The c	level	opm	ent group	ised t	he following	ng levels	5:

parentneses following the text description, I	or instance: (A). The development group used the following levels:
Evidence level A (A)	Based on several randomised, controlled trials or studies or the meta-analysis of studies. Further research is unlikely to alter the reliability of the evidence.
Evidence level B (B)	Evidence from at least one randomised, controlled trial or several non-randomised studies with the same conclusion. Further research is likely to alter the reliability of the evidence and the evidence may change in the future.
Evidence level C (C)	Only corroborated by professional consensus that is based on the coherent opinion of experts, case presentations or the results of small trials. Further research is very likely to alter the reliability of the evidence and the evidence may change in the future.
Evidence level D(D)	Used to classify expert opinions based on domestic professional consensus within a system.

4. The ranking of recommendations

The system used for ranking recommendations is based on the GRADE nomenclature [193].

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

In the text, the development group classified recommendations in parentheses following the text description, for instance: (1). The development group used the following levels:

1, Strong (grade 1)	The recommendation is classified as strong if clinicians are unanimously convinced that the patient benefit that can be achieved based on recommendation outweighs (or does not outweigh) the expected risk or burden. Strong recommendations can apply generally to all patients, and the following terms can be validly used: 'recommended' or 'must'
2, Weak (grade 2):	A recommendation is classified as weak if clinicians deem that the benefits and risks/burden are balanced or if there is uncertainty in assessing the balance of benefits to risks/burdens. A recommendation is also classified as weak if the patient's opinion or preference may impact the clinical decision. Weak recommendations may only be applied with great caution in clinical decisions, and the following terms should be used for them: 'should be considered', 'suggested' or 'should be contemplated'.

When the adapted guidelines used a different classification system, the Hungarian development group adopted the classification used by the BCSH Guideline [1] and classified recommendations from other adapted guidelines using this system. If adapted guidelines assigned a different grade to a specific recommendation, the development group applied the lower recommendation classification grade.

V. INTRODUCTION

1. The topic's situation in Hungary, choice of topic

Research aimed at elucidating the pathomechanism of thrombotic microangiopathies has yielded significant results in recent decades. Searching for underlying molecular mechanisms has become routine practice. Knowing these results is currently essential for choosing the right treatment strategy. TTP and HUS are highly similar clinical syndromes that are both classified as thrombotic microangiopathies. They both involve microvascular platelet aggregation, however the localisation and extent of aggregation differs substantially, and therefore so does the clinical presentation.

Most modern, cost-effective methods are available in Hungarian medical care. However, a systematically structured medical guideline to help identify the patients in need of medical care and give them evidence-based care seems called for, taking into consideration that numerous major changes have emerged on the disease group since the 2017 publication of the last medical guideline on the condition, which warranted the drafting of an entirely new medical guideline.

Given the fact that thrombotic microangiopathies are not notifiable diseases and that there is currently no way to accurately code the different forms of the disease based on ICPM, no systematicsurvey has been conducted to determine the epidemiological situation in Hungary. Since 2010, the FüstGyörgy Complement Diagnostic Laboratory of the Department of Internal Medicine and Haematology of Semmelweis University has been providing complement and ADAMTS13 diagnostic measurements to all healthcare providers in Hungary. Figure 1 shows the evolution of the number of cases detected by the Laboratory since 2010. By the end of 2021, 60 patients with complement-mediated atypical HUS and 201 patients with ADAMTS13-deficient TTP had been diagnosed in this laboratory, corresponding to an incidence of 0.43 aHUS/year/million people and 1.43 TTP/year/million people, but the real incidence may be higher.

Figure 1:Annual trends in the number of patients diagnosed with aHUS and TTP at the FüstGyörgy Complement Diagnostic Laboratory of the Department of Internal Medicine and Haematology of the Semmelweis University. The curve shows the cumulative number of cases, and the numbers above the curve show the number of cases diagnosed in a given year.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)



2. User group

This medical guideline has been created to provide recommendations based on the most recent evidence for the daily practice of the physicians active in the professions specified in the scope of this guideline.

It also strives to provide clear guidance to healthcare decision-makers and providers of medical care by acting as a reference for designing services based on the most recent evidence.

This medical guideline can be recommended to all patients and their relatives, patient representative bodies and NGOs to provide concise professional information on the steps involved in treatment provided in Hungary.

3. Contacts for official Hungarian and foreign medical guidelines

Antecedents to this medical guideline:

This development addresses the issues of the following outdated medical guideline.

Author:	Ministry of Human Capacities, National Advisory	
	Board of Healthcare, Transfusiology and Haematology	
	Section	
Title:	Medical Guideline — On the treatment of thrombotic	
	thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic	
	uraemic syndrome (HUS)	
Type:	Clinical Medical Guideline	
×1		
ID no.:	002019	
Effective:	24.01.2017 - 24.01.2020	
This publication is a revision of the above medical guideline, factoring in the international guidelines published		

in recent years.

Links to foreign medical guidelines:

This guideline has been created using the recommendations of the following foreign guidelines.

Author(s):	M Scully, S Cataland, P Coppo, J de la Rubia, K D Friedman,
	J Kremer Hovinga, B Lämmle, M Matsumoto, K Pavenski, E
	Sadler, R Sarode, H Wu, International Working Group for
	Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura.
Scientific organisation:	International Working Group for Thrombotic
	Thrombocytopenic Purpura
Title:	Consensus on the standardization of terminology in
	thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and related thrombotic
	microangionathies [2]
Publication data:	-
Access:	Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis, 15: 312–322. doi:
	10.1111/jth.13571.
Author(s):	X. Long Zheng, Sara K. Vesely, Spero R. Cataland, Paul
	Coppo, Brian Geldziler, Alfonso Iorio, Masanori Matsumoto,
	Reem A. Mustafa, Menaka Pai, Gail Rock, Lene Russell,
	Rawan Tarawneh, Julie Valdes, Flora Peyvandi:
Scientific organisation:	International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis
Title:	ISTH guidelines for the diagnosis of thrombotic
	thrombocytopenic purpura [3].
Publication data:	https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/ith.15006
A cross:	I ThrombHaemost 2020:18:2486–2495 (DOI:
1100055	10 1111/jth 15006)
	10.1111/jui.15000)
Author(s).	X Long Zheng Sara K Vesely Spero R Cataland Paul
Author (5).	Conno Brian Geldziler Alfonso Iorio Masanori Matsumoto
	Reem A Mustafa Menaka Pai Gail Rock Lene Russell
	Rechi A. Mustala, Menaka I al, Gali Rock, Lene Russen,
Scientific enconication:	International Society on Thrombosis and Harmostasis
Scientific organisation:	International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis
1 itle:	ISTH guidelines for treatment of thrombotic
	thrombocytopenic purpura [4].
Publication data:	https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/jth.15010
Access:	J ThrombHaemost. 2020;18:2496–2502. (DOI:
	10.1111/jth.15010)
Author(s):	X. Long Zheng, Sara K. Vesely, Spero R. Cataland, Paul
	Coppo, Brian Geldziler, Alfonso Iorio, Masanori Matsumoto,
	Reem A. Mustafa, Menaka Pai, Gail Rock, Lene Russell,
	Rawan Tarawneh, Julie Valdes, Flora Peyvandi
Scientific organisation:	International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis
Title:	Good practice statements (GPS) for the clinical care of
	patients with thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura [5].
Publication data:	https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/jth.15009
Access:	J ThrombHaemost. 2020;18:2503–2512. (DOI:
	10.1111/jth.15009)
	I J /

Author(s):	Mary Hughes, Carl Prescott, Nicole Elliott, Amanda I Adler)
Scientific organisation:	The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)
Title:	NICE guidance on caplacizumab for treating acute acquired
	thrombotic thrombocytopenia purpura [6].
Publication data:	-
Access:	Lancet Haematol. 2021 Jan;8(1):e14-e15. doi:
	10.1016/S2352-3026(20)30406-3.
Author(g)	Lucy Fox Solomon I Cohnay Joshua V Kausman Jaka
Author(s):	Shortt Peter D Hughes Frica M Wood Nicole M Ishel
	Theo de Malmanche, Anne Durkan, Pravin Hissaria, Piers
	Blombery, Thomas D. Barbour
Scientific organisation:	-
Title:	Consensus opinion on diagnosis and management of
	thrombotic microangiopathy in Australia and New Zealand
	[7].
Dell'ester leter	
Publication data:	- Nenhrology (Carlton) 2018 Jun:23(6):507 517 doi:
Access.	10 1111/nen 13234
	101111110001102011
Author(s):	Masanori Matsumoto, Yoshihiro Fujimura, Hideo Wada,
	Koichi Kokame, Yoshitaka Miyakawa, Yasunori Ueda,
	Satoshi Higasa, TakanoriMoriki, Hideo Yagi, Toshiyuki
	Miyata, Mitsuru Murata, For TTP group of Blood
	Coagulation Abnormalities Research Team, Research on Rare
	and Intractable Disease supported by Health, Labour, and Welfere Sciences Pesearch Grant
Scientific organisation:	-
Title:	Diagnostic and treatment guidelines for thrombotic
	thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP) 2017 in Japan [8].
Publication data:	https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12185-017-2264-7
Access:	Int J Hematol. 2017;106:3-15. (DOI 10.1007/s12185-017-
	2264-7)
Author(s):	Ronald S Go, Jeffrey L Winters, Nelson Leung, David L
	William I Hogan Ariela I Marshall Sanjeev Sethi Cheryl I
	Tran Dong Chen Raijy K Pruthi Aneel A Ashrani Fernando
	C Fervenza, Carl H Cramer, Vilmarie Rodriguez, Alexandra P
	Wolanskyj, Stephan D Thomé, C Christopher Hook
Scientific organisation:	Mayo Clinic Complement Alternative Pathway-Thrombotic
	Microangiopathy (CAP-TMA) Disease-Oriented Group
Title:	Thrombotic Microangiopathy Care Pathway: A Consensus
	Statement for the Mayo Clinic Complement Alternative
	Paulway-Infombolic Microanglopathy (CAP-IMA) Disease-
Publication data:	
Access:	Mayo Clin Proc. 2016 Sep:91(9):1189-211
	doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2016.05.015. Epub 2016 Aug 3.

Author(s):	Adam Cuker, Spero R Cataland, Paul Coppo, Javier de la Rubia, Kenneth D Friedman, James N George, Paul N Knoebl, Johanna A Kremer Hovinga, Bernhard Lämmle, Masanori Matsumoto, Katerina Pavenski, Flora Peyvandi, Kazuya Sakai, Ravi Sarode, Mari R Thomas, Yoshiaki Tomiyama, Agnès Veyradier, John-Paul Westwood, Marie
	Scully
Scientific organisation:	
Title.	Redefining outcomes in immune TTP: an international
Thie.	working group consensus report [10]
Dublication data:	working group consensus report [10].
	- Dlood 2021 Apr 9:127(14):1955 1961 doi:
Access:	blood. 2021 Apr 8,157(14):1855-1801. doi:
	10.1182/01000.2020009130.
	Marie Sculle Deverlage I Hant Scilete Devicemin Di Licence
Author(s):	Marie Scully, Beverley J. Hunt, Sylvia Benjamin, Ki Liesher,
	Peter Rose, Flora Peyvandi, Betty Cheung, Samuel J. Machin
	and on behalf of British Committee for Standards in
	Haematology
Scientific organisation:	British Committee for Standards in Haematology
Title:	Guidelines on the diagnosis and management of thrombotic
	thrombocytopenic purpura and other thrombotic
	microangiopathies [1].
Publication data:	http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-
	<u>2141.2012.09167.x/pdf</u>
Access:	British Journal of Haematology. 2012:158:(3):323–335
Author(s):	Sarode R, Bandarenko N, Brecher ME, Kiss JE, Marques
	MB, Szczepiorkowski ZM, Winters JL
Scientific organisation:	American Society for Apheresis (ASFA)
Title:	Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: 2012 American
	Society for Apheresis (ASFA) consensus conference on
	classification, diagnosis, management, and future research
	[11].
Publication data:	http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/jca.21302/pdf
Access:	Journal of Clinical Apheresis.2014:29:(3):148-67

Author(s):	Loirat C, Fakhouri F, Ariceta G, Besbas N, Bitzan M, Bjerre		
	A, Coppo R, Emma F, Johnson S, Karpman D, Landau D,		
	Langman CB, Lapeyraque AL, Licht C, Nester C, Pecoraro C,		
	Riedl M, van de Kar NC, Van de Walle J, Vivarelli M		
	Frémeaux-Bacchi V; for HUS International.		
Scientific organisation:	HUS International		
Title:	An international consensus approach to the management of		
	atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome in children [12].		
Publication data:	http://www.ouhsc.edu/platelets/documents/C-tmaarticle.pdf		
Access:	Pediatr Nephrol. 2016 Jan;31(1):15-39		

Author(s):	M. Salvadori, E. Bertoni
Scientific organisation:	-
Title:	Update on hemolytic uremic syndrome: Diagnostic and
	therapeutic recommendations [13].
Publication data:	http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3832913/pdf/
	<u>WJN-2-56.pdf</u>
Access:	World J Nephrol. 2013 Aug 6;2(3):56-76.

Author(s):	Campistol JM, Arias M, Ariceta G, Blasco M, Espinosa
	L,Espinosa M, Grinyó JM, Macía M, Mendizábal S,
	PragaM,Román E, Torra R, Valdés F, Vilalta R, Rodríguez de
	Córdoba S
Scientific organisation:	•
Title:	An update for atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome:
	Diagnosis and treatment. A consensus document [14].
Publication data:	http://digital.csic.es/bitstream/10261/80425/1/P1-E547-
	<u>S3861-A11781-EN.pdf</u>
Access:	Nefrologia. 2013;33(1):27-45
Author(s):	Zuber J, Fakhouri F, Roumenina LT, Loirat C, Frémeaux-
	Bacchi V; French Study Group for aHUS/C3G
Scientific organisation:	French Study Group for aHUS/C3G
Title:	Use of eculizumab for atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome
	and C3 glomerulopathies [15].
Publication data:	http://www.nature.com/nrneph/journal/v8/n11/pdf/nrneph.201
	<u>2.214.pdf</u>
Access:	Nat Rev Nephrol. 2012 Nov;8(11):643-57.
Author(s):	GemaAriceta, NesrinBesbas, Sally Johnson, Diana Karpman,
	Daniel Landau, Christoph Licht, Chantal Loirat, Carmine
	Pecoraro, C. Mark Taylor, Nicole Van de Kar, Johan
	Vandewalle, Lothar B. Zimmerhacki - The European
	Paediatric Study Group for HUS
Scientific organisation:	The European Paediatric Study Group for HUS
Title:	Guideline for the investigation and initial therapy of diarrhea-
	negative hemolytic uremic syndrome [16].
Publication data:	http://link.springer.com/article/10.100//s0046/-008-0964-1
Access:	Pediatr Nephrol (2009) 24:687–696
	Tenter CM Mashin & Wieman SI Candahin TH marking
Author(s):	Taylor CM, Machin S, Wigmore SJ, Goodship TH; Working
	Standards in Haamatology and the British Transplantation
	Society
Scientific organisation:	Working party from the Renal Association the British
Scientific of gamsation.	Committee for Standards in Haematology and the British
	Transplantation Society
Title	Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of atypical
	Haemolytic Uraemic Syndrome in the United Kingdom [17]
Publication data:	http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/i.1365-
	2141,2009.07916.x/epdf
Access:	British Journal of Haematology, 2010:148:(1):37-47
Author(s):	Johnson S. Stojanovic J. Ariceta G. Bitzan M. Beshas N.
	Frieling M. Karpman D. Landau D. Langman C. Licht C.
	Pecoraro C, Riedl M, Siomou E, van de Kar N, Walle JV.
	Loirat C, Taylor CM
Scientific organisation:	-
Title:	An audit analysis of a guideline for the investigation and
	initial therapy of diarrhea negative (atypical) hemolytic
	uremic syndrome [18].
Publication data:	144m ///int anning and anti-1/10 10070/ 2E=00467 014
	nup://ink.springer.com/article/10.100/%2F\$00467-014-
	<u>http://ink.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00467-014-</u> 2817-4

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Related to the following Hungarian medical guideline(s):

This guideline is not related to any other Hungarian medical guideline.

VI. MEDICAL DETAILS OF THE RECOMMENDATIONS

INTRODUCTION

Research aimed at elucidating the pathomechanism of thrombotic microangiopathies has yielded significant results in recent decades. Searching for underlying molecular mechanisms has become routine practice. Knowing these results is currently essential for choosing the right treatment strategy. TTP and HUS are highly similar clinical syndromes that are both classified as thrombotic microangiopathies. They both involve microvascular platelet aggregation, however the localisation and extent of aggregation differs substantially, and therefore so does the clinical presentation.

Figure 2 shows the classification of thrombotic microangiopathies. Table 1 shows typical age-related occurrence.

Figure 2: Classification of thrombotic microangiopathies [12].



002168

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Table 1: TTP and HUS: age-related onset of clinical conditions with a known pathomechanism [19].			
Typical age- related onset	Probable diagnosis	Clinical presentation	Tests confirming the diagnosis
From neonate to	Congenital TTP	severe jaundice, 'burgundy' urine	ADAMTS13 activity <10%
adult age	(Upshaw-Schulman	without any significant	Absence of ADAMTS13
	sy)	haematuria,	inhibitor
		similar symptoms in blood	ADAMTS13 genetic mutation
D		relatives or siblings, neonatal	
Pregnancy	(1	death	
	Late-onset USS	absence of foetal development or f_{a} to the death (42%) or	
		alinical TTD in the third trimester	
Neonates	Methylmalonic	feeding difficulties stunted	hyperhomocysteinaemia
<6 months of age	aciduria-HUS	growth and development	hypomethionaemia
to months of uge	(Cobalamin-C defect)	hypotension	methylmalonic aciduria.
	(00000000000000000000000000000000000000	nj potension	MMACHC mutation
Neonate <1-2	Diacylglycerol kinase	hypertension, haematuria,	DGKE genetic mutation
years of age	epsilon (DGKE)	proteinuria, renal failure	e
	mutation	-	
< 2 years	Pneumococcal-	fever, invasive S. pneumoniae	positive direct Coombs,
	associated HUS	infection: pneumonia, meningitis,	T antigen activation,
	(neuraminidase-	septicaemia (empyema, subdural	positive culture (blood,
	associated HUS)	abscess)	cerebrospinal fluid),
			PCR
>6 months $-<5$	STEC-HUS	Acute gastroenteritis, (bloody)	stool culture: MacConkey
years	(formerly D+HUS)	diarrhoea in the past two weeks in	agar: 0157:H7,
		a STEC or Shigelladysenteriae	PCR: Shiga toxin
Erom adolosoonoo	Autoimmuno TTD	haematological symptoms	ADAMTS12 potivity <10%
to adult age	Autommune IIF	neurological symptoms	ADAMISIS activity <10%
to adult age		+ renal involvement of varving	ADAM1313 Initiotion
		degree	
		fever	
From birth to	Complement-mediated	haematological symptoms	
adulthood	aHUS	symptoms of acute kidney injury	complement C3, C4alternative
		symptoms suggestive of	total complementFH, FB, FI,
		atypicality (Table 8)	MCP expressionanti-FH
			antibody
			complement genetic test

HUS: haemolytic uraemic syndrome; TTP: thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura; ADAMTS13: A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with a thrombospondin type 1 motif, member 13; MMACHC: methylmalonic aciduria and homocystinuria; PCR: polymerase chain reaction; STEC: Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli; LPS: lipopolysaccharide; FH: complement factor H; FI: complement factor I; FB: complement factor B; MCP: membrane cofactor protein (CD46)

THROMBOTIC THROMBOCYTOPAENIC PURPURA (TTP) OR MOSCHCOWITZ SYNDROME

Incidence

Previously estimated at 1/1 million [20], the most recent data suggest an annual prevalence of about 10/1 million and a new case rate of 1-2/1 million [21]. This is only partially due to greater familiarity with the condition and the easing of diagnostic criteria. Approx. 2/3 of patients are women, within the 30–40-year age group, but the condition may occur at any age.

Definition of the condition

Thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura is a clinical entity classified among thrombotic microangiopathies. The clinical condition was first described by Dr Eli Moschcowitz in 1924. The characteristic clinical pentad includes

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

thrombocytopenia caused by platelet consumption, microangiopathic haemolytic anaemia, fluctuating neurological symptoms, renal involvement and fever. However, the full pentad can be detected only in a very small percentage of cases [21], the first 3 symptoms (triad) being much more common. *Unexplained thrombocytopenia and microangiopathic haemolytic anaemia* (*diad*) are sufficient for confirming the diagnosis. The basis of pathological events is uncontrolled platelet aggregation and disseminated microthrombi formation (containing platelets and von Willebrand factor) in the small blood vessels. Mortality is currently approximately 5–20% compared to over 90% before the 1970s. Acquired idiopathic, congenital/familial and secondary forms of TTP are also known. Its clinical course may be episodic or relapsing. Due to the similarity of clinical and laboratory symptoms, particularly in the adult literature, TTP was not distinguished from HUS in the past, and was referred to as TTP/HUS or HUS/TTP. Today however, we must strive to establish an accurate diagnosis because the two conditions differ not only in terms of pathomechanism, but also the required therapy.

Pathomechanism

A significant decrease in the activity of the ADAMTS13 (a distintegrin and metalloprotease with a thrombospondin type 1 motif, member 13) metalloprotease enzyme was observed in the majority of patients [22, 23].

The enzyme's physiological role is to decompose the von Willebrand factor (VWF); it cleaves the peptide bond between Tyr1605 and Met1606. In its absence, the cleavage of endothelial VWF does not take place, resulting in the appearance of so-called ultra-large VWF (ULVWF) multimers in the bloodstream. Their adhesiveness to normal multimers is far greater; the shear stress creates direct aggregation of platelets in the small blood vessels. The decrease in enzyme activity may be caused by both the IgG isotype autoantibody acting as an inhibitor (roughly 90%) or a genetically defined defect (roughly 10%) in enzyme function. Rarely, despite deficient activity, no inhibitor can be detected, but the normalisation of ADAMTS13 activity upon treatment suggests other mechanisms of action that are not yet clear [21]. Other cases may consist of a relative deficiency of the enzyme resulting from consumption. TTP is characterised by "deficient" (insufficient) enzyme activity of under 10%; a slight decrease can be demonstrated in many different clinical conditions.

The ADAMTS13 enzyme is predominantly produced by the liver; its gene is located on chromosome 9 at location q34. The enzyme's half-life is approx. 1 week *in vitro* and just 2–4 days *in vivo*. At the same time, in the event of genetic enzyme deficiency, replacement of the enzyme via FFP transfusion yields a far longer, 1–4-week asymptomatic state. The contradiction is assumed to stem from the binding of the enzyme to the endothelium, which would serve as a sort of reservoir. According to preliminary data, the CD36 receptor [24] may play a role in this. It is important to note that the absence of ADAMTS13 enzyme activity alone does not cause TTP and only increases the risk of developing the disease. Diffuse endothelial activation or a different trigger mechanism is necessary to launch the process. The most common clinical triggers are infections (respiratory, urinary tract or gastrointestinal), pregnancy and surgery.

In a small percentage of cases, ADAMTS13 activity is normal or barely decreased, and the precise pathomechanism is not yet fully understood. The clinical and laboratory symptoms may overlap significantly with atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome and secondary thrombotic microangiopathies. It is important to clarify the pathomechanism as soon as possible, as the therapies applied are different today. This requires taking a detailed clinical history that includes the family, researching comorbidities and triggers and taking a blood sample before starting treatment (to clarify the molecular mechanism, see below).

Recent clinical data suggest that ADAMTS13 plays an important role in the overall protection against arterial thrombosis: in non-TTP patients, ADAMTS13 activity levels in the lowest quartile may increase the risk of acute ischaemic stroke [25, 26].

Clinical symptoms

The clinical presentation of TTP is very diverse and may copy many different clinical conditions depending on the localisation of the ischaemia caused by microthromboses. The disease generally has a sudden onset without a typical prodromal phase.

Haematological symptoms:

- Symptoms caused by thrombocytopaenia: severe bleeding is rare even in the case of severe thrombocytopaenia: purpura and petechiae are observed most frequently on the skin and mucous membranes; gastrointestinal, gynaecological, ocular fundus or other bleeding is rare. Sometimes no bleeding symptoms can be detected despite the low platelet count.
- Symptoms of intravascular haemolysis: no or mild jaundice, burgundy-brown urine. This may be accompanied by symptoms of anaemia to varying degrees. Rarely, the onset of the condition may be similar to ITP, in which case anaemia and possibly schistocytosis only present several days later.

002168

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Neurological symptoms:

It is detected in 70-80% of cases. Common and characteristic symptoms include violent headaches (sometimes occurring as a prodrome) and fluctuating levels of consciousness, frequently perceived aphasia, focal neurologic signs and seizures may also occur. The symptoms often 'shift' and often cannot be tied to a single focus, and typical stroke may also occur rarely.

Gastrointestinal symptoms:

Epigastric pain, nausea and vomiting are common symptoms, diarrhoea is a rare symptom. Pancreatitis can occur both as a trigger or a complication.

Renal symptoms:

Abnormal urine results (proteinuria, microhaematuria, haemoglobinuria) are very common, but in some cases, urinary abnormality may be absent or mimic tubular necrosis. According to the French study group's data, the vast majority of ADAMTS13-deficient patients had an initial creatinine level of <200 micromol/L [27]. For a precise assessment of acute kidney injury (AKI), see **Table 7** below; the increasing creatinine and the evolution of diuresis may provide guidance to the extent and dynamics of AKI. Stage 3 AKI (failure) is rare. Cardiovascular symptoms:

Heart failure, arrhythmia, acute myocardial infarction and hypertension are uncommon, but may occur. Fever:

Part of the pentad, and does not stem from infection. In the presence of fever, any potential infection must always be investigated and treated, as it may have a role in triggering and maintaining the condition. <u>Other symptoms:</u>

TTP involves the entire body, so any organ may be affected, although the liver (the liver primarily produces the ADAMTS13 enzyme) and the lungs are mostly spared. Over 10% of patients require artificial respiration due to coma which occurs in some cases.

It is not always easy to diagnose TTP. The diversity of symptoms in some cases and conversely, the absence of symptoms and the clinical presentation reminiscent of ITP and Evans syndrome (ITP and autoimmune haemolytic anaemia) may be misleading. Ischaemic symptoms (stroke, myocardial infarction, 'acute abdomen' etc.) may not only precede the characteristic haematological abnormalities, but may also dominate the clinical presentation.

Diagnosis

Confirming <u>unexplained</u> thrombocytopaenia and microangiopathic haemolytic anaemia (diad) is still enough today to establish the clinical diagnosis of TTP and to begin therapy. **Table 2** specifies the laboratory tests necessary for diagnosis and the immediate start of treatment, **Table 3** specifies the tests required for a differential diagnosis and for choosing the optimal therapy, and **Table 4** contains the main conditions to be distinguished.

Recommendation 1

The clinical diagnosis necessary for starting treatment must be based on the clinical history, clinical symptoms, a physical exam and the results of the routine laboratory tests specified in Table 2 [1]. (1A)

Table 2: Tests necessary to determine and begin immediate treatment of thrombotic microangiopathies (TTP and HUS) to be performed urgently [1]. and see Table 5 too.	
The diagnosis requires	Typical value
direct Coombs test	negative
complete blood count	thrombocytopenia (TTP<30 G/l; HUS <150 G/l), anaemia, reticulocytosis
peripheral blood smear	schistocytosis <u>+</u> nucleated red blood cells, spherocytes, polychromasia basophilic stippling
serum haptoglobin	low/unmeasurably low
serum indirect bilirubin	normal/slightly abnormal/rarely elevated

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH)	high (most often 1000–5000 IU/L)
transaminases	normal/slightly abnormal
screening coagulogram (PT, APTI, fibrinogen)	normal/slightly abnormal
Increased creatinine	TTP: often moderate, creatinine remains below 200 micromol/L HUS: often significant, for an accurate assessment of the degree of acute kidney injury, see Table 7
troponin	normal/varying degrees of increase
C-reactive protein (CRP)	normal/slightly abnormal
procalcitonin	normal/slightly abnormal (renal failure: high)
complete urine	varying degrees of haemoglobinuria, proteinuria, (micro)haematuria

Recommendation 2

1

In order to determine the aetiology, the blood samples for the tests listed in Table 3 must be drawn before the first plasma exchange or plasma transfusion [194] and if necessary, stored under adequate conditions, sent to the laboratory or along with the patient if the patient is transferred [1]. (1B)

Table 3: Tests required for differential diagnosis and microangiopathies (TTP and HUS). [1, 12-14, 17, 28-30]	the selection of targeted therapy for thrombotic
Tests required for differential diagnosis and the selection of therapy	Comment
pregnancy test	for women of childbearing age
eye exam, ocular fundus exam	If malignant hypertension is suspected
kidney biopsy if feasible, histological exam	To confirm the final diagnosis of TMA, to assess the reversibility of kidney damage
virology (HIV, hepatitis A/B/C/E, CMV, EBV, +/- other)	the blood sample <u>must</u> be drawn and sent to the laboratory prior to starting therapy
screening test for autoimmune disease (RF, ANA, dsDNA, ENA screening, C3, C4, lupus anticoagulant, antiphospholipid antibodies, In the event of acute kidney injury: ANCA, anti-GBM as well	the blood sample <u>must</u> be drawn and sent to the laboratory prior to starting therapy
ADAMTS13 activity, antigen, inhibitor, genetic test	prior to starting therapy, the blood sample <u>must</u> be drawn and stored according to the specialist laboratory's requirements or sent to the laboratory
complement screening test + complement genetic test + flow cytometry (CD46)	prior to starting therapy, the blood sample <u>must</u> be drawn and stored according to the specialist laboratory's requirements or sent to the laboratory
stool culture + verotoxin PCR	diarrhoea at the onset of the condition or in the 1–2 weeks directly preceding onset
Examination of cobalamin metabolism (plasma, homocysteine, plasma + urine methylmalonic acid, vitamin B12 level, genetic test)	it is recommended in all paediatric cases and in the event of hyperhomocysteinaemia in young adults

Recommendation 3

ADAMTS13 activity and inhibitor profile must be defined at least from a blood sample taken before the first plasma exchange/plasma transfusion in all cases clinically considered to be TTP [1]. (1B)

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Table 4: Main clinical conditions to be excluded in the differential diagnosis of TTP and HUS [1, 12-14, 17, 28-30].
Immune thrombocytopenia
Autoimmune haemolytic anaemia
Evans syndrome (autoimmune haemolytic anaemia and thrombocytopaenia)
Disseminated intravascular coagulation
(Pre)eclampsia, HELLP syndrome
Cobalamin C deficiency (children, young adults), vitamin B ₁₂ deficiency (adults)
Secondary thrombotic microangiopathies (see Table 11)
Thrombocytopaenia and/or other causes of haemolysis

Clinical forms

Congenital/familial TTP (cTTP)-Upshaw-Schulman syndrome (USS) [31].

The underlying cause is the homozygous or double heterozygous genetic mutation of the ADAMTS13 enzyme (up to now, >150 mutations have been described); the inheritance pattern is autosomal recessive. <10% of all TTP cases fall into this group. More severe early onset and milder late onset clinical forms are known. Cumulative occurrence of the latter has been observed during pregnancy [32].

Recommendation 4

USS must be considered in the event of severe jaundice presenting in neonates. The clinical onset may sometimes occur during childhood or even adulthood [1].(1A)

Recommendation 5

USS must be considered in the event of thrombocytopaenia of unknown origin in childhood or adulthood [1]. (1B)

The most severe cases begin during the neonatal period; the most characteristic clinical manifestations include severe neonatal jaundice and continental thrombocytopaenia. Follows the course of a chronic cyclical cTTP with relapses. Exhibits characteristic periodicity, with relapses generally occurring every 3–4 weeks. Mono- and oligosymptomatic forms are both known. Childhood symptoms are mild, reminiscent of ITP or atypical (Coombs-negative) Evans syndrome, with the characteristic clinical presentation unfolding only in young adulthood, as a result of pregnancy, infection, alcohol abuse, surgery, vaccination, stress, etc. Rarely, the presentation of the first episode may be delayed until age 50 [1]. Common symptoms in these patients may include headache, migraine and abdominal pain, which may occur even with normal blood count parameters and may respond well to plasma therapy [33].

Recommendation 6

A diagnosis of USS can be established based on an ADAMTS13 enzyme activity of under 10% and the resulting deficiency in the inhibitor. The diagnosis can be confirmed by demonstrating the homozygous or compound heterozygous genetic mutation of the ADAMTS13 gene [1]. (1A)

Recommendation 7

USS should be considered in primary blood relatives even if the patient is asymptomatic — an ADAMTS13 screening test is recommended, particularly in pregnant patients [1, 32]. (1D)

In the case of certain mutations, onset in adulthood or particularly during pregnancy is characteristic [32]. These must be distinguished from the idiopathic form based on non-normalising deficient (<10%) ADAMTS13 activity, the resulting deficiency in the anti-enzyme antibody/inhibitor, and the ULVWF multimers detectable in the blood stream during asymptomatic periods. The genetic test may confirm the diagnosis. Screening tests for primary blood relatives are recommended even in the absence of clinical symptoms.

Acquired autoimmune TTP (iTTP)

Idiopathic TTP is far more common than the familial form and is most often based on an autoimmune mechanism; ADAMTS13 enzyme deficiency develops due to the presence of inhibiting autoantibodies. It is therefore now also called autoimmune TTP (the abbreviation refers to "immunological pathomechanism", iTTP).

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Acute (or episodic) and chronic relapsing (intermittent) forms of the condition are known. In the latter, relapses follow each other irregularly.

Recently, it has become more widely accepted that iTTP refers to only a group of TMAs due to ADAMTS13 deficiency caused by anti-ADAMTS13 inhibitory autoantibodies [2]. Clarifying the exact pathomechanism is important because targeted therapies should be selected according to the molecular mechanism.

In patient groups with TTP clinically previously considered idiopathic, there is contradicting data on the frequency of deficient ADAMTS13 activity. According to numerous studies, nearly 100% of patients with idiopathic TTP fall within this group, with the inhibitor detectable in the blood stream in approximately 90% of patients at the onset of the condition and in an even higher percentage later on [11]. By contrast, the ratio of non-ADAMTS13 deficient patients is significant in mainly older studies, and moreover, these patients responded to the plasma exchange [34, 35]. The latter patient group was characterised by a weaker response to plasma exchange, higher mortality but a low relapse rate [36]. For the time being, it has not been decided whether the latter patient group forms a subgroup of idiopathic TTP of unknown (non-ADAMTS13) mechanism or based on an as yet undiscovered mechanism is rather classified as aHUS or secondary TMA [28, 37].

The following 2 scoring systems are now used to clinically differentiate between iTTP with ADAMTS13 deficiency and HUS [3]: the French score [27] and the PLASMIC score [38]. The two scoring systems consider the same parameters, except for MCV (**Table 5**).

Recommendation 8

If ADAMTS13 activity measurements are not available, the clinical diagnosis of iTTP can be made using the French scores or the PLASMIC scores [27, 38]. (2B)

Table 5: PLASMIC score [38] and FRENCH sc	core [27]	
Lab test	PLASMIC score	FRENCH score
Platelet count	<30 G/L (+1)	<30 G/L (+1)
Serum creatinine level	<176.84 µmol/L (+1)	<199.83 µmol/L (+1)
Signs of haemolysis (presence of at least 1 of the following)	(+1)	*
indirect bilirubin >34.2 μmol/L		
reticulocyte count >2.5% undetectable haptoglobin		
No history of active tumour in recent years	(+1)	*
No history of solid organ or stem cell transplantation	(+1)	*
INR <1.5	(+1)	*
MCV <90 fL	(+1)	NA
Probability of ADAMTS13 activity below 10%:	Score 0-4: 0-4% Score 5: -24% Score 6-7: 62-82%	Score 0: 2% Score 1: 70% Score 2: 94%

Each item is worth 1 point (+1); INR, international normalised ratio; MCV, mean corpuscular volume; SCT, stem cell transplantation;

*The French score can be used in TMA if there is no history of tumour, transplantation and unconfirmed disseminated intravascular coagulation in addition to fragmentation haemolysis. These are basic criteria and no specific points are awarded for them in the French score. The French score originally included the antinuclear factor.

NA: MCV is not included in the French score.

Secondary TTP

Secondary TTP is discussed in detail along with secondary HUS in a later section (Table 11).

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Therapy

The objective of therapy in TTP associated with an ADAMTS13 deficiency is the replacement and restoration of enzyme activity. Substitution therapy is indicated in the case of a genetically determined deficiency, plasma exchange to remove the inhibitor and substitute enzyme activity in the presence of antibodies against ADAMTS13, and immunosuppressive therapy to inhibit the reproduction of the inhibitor are indicated.

Treatment of congenital/familial cTTP [1, 11, 31].

Recommendation 9

Both plasma therapy (plasma transfusion or rarely plasma exchange) and, if plasma therapy is unavailable or contraindicated, coagulation factor VIII with ADAMTS13 activity can be used for treatment. The dose and treatment frequency must be determined so that the patient's platelet count remains stable above 150 g/L [1, 11, 31]. (1B)

Recommendation 10

In the case of recurrent plasma-responsive headache, lethargy, abdominal complaints, prophylactic plasma therapy should be considered even if blood count parameters are normal [33]. (2B)

Recommendation 11

During pregnancy, prophylactic plasma therapy is recommended [4]. (1C)

Recommendation 12

The patient should be informed about the possibility, expected benefits and possible adverse side effects of prophylactic plasma therapy [33]. (1D)

Recommendation 13

Treatment and care for USS should be provided in an oncohaematology (paediatric) or haematology (adult) centre experienced in the treatment of TTP [1]. (1A)

Treatment can be with FFP or virus inactivated plant plasma (pooled plasma, human, solvent-detergent treated). The dose per session is 10-15 mL/kg, generally every 1-3 weeks. The frequency of administration must be defined individually to keep the platelet count above 150 g/L. Plasma exchange is generally unnecessary. As there is no inhibitor, immunosuppressant treatment is not necessary. In pregnancy, plasma prophylaxis improves the life expectancy of both the mother and the foetus [32]. Even in the absence of haematological symptoms, prophylactic plasma therapy may be recommended if the patient has frequent recurrent headache, lethargy, and abdominal pain that responds well to plasma. Therefore, a normal platelet count in patients does not necessarily mean full clinical remission. In addition to the clinical signs mentioned above, an increase in organ damage markers and urinary protein/creatinine ratio may be indicative of subclinical activity [33]. Prophylactic plasma therapy reduces the incidence of cerebrovascular events, and can therefore be considered for use in completely asymptomatic patients [33].

In the event of plasma intolerance, an intermediate purity factor VIII product containing ADAMTS13 activity [39] may also be used as an alternative therapy, or more recently, an ultra-pure factor VIII product [40]. They have the advantage of being safe against viruses and being of small volume, i.e. no fluid load, but their efficacy can vary due to the fluctuating ADAMTS13 content of the products, and they are therefore less and less recommended [4].

Treatment of autoimmune iTTP [1, 11, 28].

Recommendation 14 iTTP requires emergency treatment [1]. (1A)

Recommendation 15

If iTTP is reasonably suspected, the adult patient must be transferred to the territorially competent hospital with an apheresis centre and haematology ward. If this has not been done for any reason, the haematology ward must be contacted by telephone and the patient's treatment discussed daily until the transfer [6]. (1D)

If iTTP is reasonably suspected (French score 2, see **Table 5**above), the patient must be sent to a haematology centre with a 24-hour apheresis service as soon as possible; if the patient cannot be transported, mobile PEX

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

must be requested. In this case, daily consultation is necessary with the territorially competent haematology centre.

First-line therapy

Recommendation 16

Plasma exchange must be started within 4–8 hours [1]. (1B)

Recommendation 17

If the plasma exchange fails for any reason, plasma transfusion should be administered [41, 42]. (1C)

Recommendation 18

The plasma exchange must be performed according to the specifications included in Table 6 [1]. (1B)

Table 6: The practice of plasma exchange in TTP [1].
– Volume: 1.5 plasma volumes/day (initially)
1.0 plasma volumes/day (once the patient's condition has stabilised)
– Substitution fluid: FFP (>50%)
– Frequency: daily
– Endpoint: haematological remission [*]
* Platelet count >150 g/L on at least two consecutive days, with no signs of haemolysis and rising or normal haemoglobin level.

Recommendation 19

If the patient's state is critical, or if it deteriorates in spite of starting therapy (e.g. artificial respiration is needed, new neurological or cardiac symptoms develop etc.), it is recommended to increase the intensity of plasma therapy (the volume and/or frequency of plasma exchange) [1, 43, 44].(2B)

If possible, treatment should be started immediately, but no later than within 4–8 hours [1]. A clinical diagnosis or reasonably suspected diagnosis (French score 2, see Table 5) established based on clinical history data, clinical symptoms, the results of the standard physical exam and the results of the laboratory tests specified in Table 2 is sufficient for initiating therapy. Plasma exchange (PEX) is still the first-line treatment to be opted for based on controlled data [41, 42]; its characteristics are summarised in Table 6.

For the plasma exchange, a centrifugal device [1] should be used. Nevertheless, positive experiences have been reported internationally using filtration devices at paediatric dialysis stations [45]. Treatment must be started at an intensity of 1.5 plasma volumes/day and may be decreased to 1 plasma volume/day once the patient's condition stabilises. If the patient's condition deteriorates in spite of starting therapy (e.g. artificial respiration is needed, new neurological or cardiac symptoms develop etc.), PEX can be repeated more frequently, twice daily [1, 43, 44] (currently not funded by NEAK). The latter can be induced by a very slow, almost continuous infusion of FFP (10-15 mL/kg) between PEXs, if the patient's circulation can tolerate it. We have had positive experiences with the latter at the South Pest Central Hospital.

The substitution fluid in the current Hungarian setting is either FFP or cryosupernatant (if available), but according to international guidelines [1, 14, 29] and practice, the use of virus-inactivated plasma would be warranted due to extremely high donor exposure. Virus inactivation can be performed in several ways, for instance with solvent detergent (SD), methylene blue, amotosalen/UVA or riboflavin/UV treatment. The protein S and alpha 2-antiplasmin content of SD plasma is lower, nevertheless it has proven to be equivalent to FFP in clinical studies [46]. Amotosalen/UVA/FFP has also proven just as effective [47], while the effectiveness of methylated blue/UVA/FFP was varied [48]. There is no data to date on the use of riboflavin/UV/FFP. During the first half of the plasma exchange, 5% albumin may also be given in lieu of FFP [49], but the substitution fluid must contain at least 50% FFP.

Recommendation 20

Plasma exchange must be repeated until haematological remission is achieved (platelet count of at least >150 g/L on two consecutive days, no sign of haemolysis, rising or normal haemoglobin level). (1A)

Recommendation 21

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

When haematological remission is achieved, the gradual reduction (tapering) of the frequency of plasma exchange is not recommended [1, 49]. (2B)

Recommendation 22

Close observation for at least one month following haematological remission is necessary, and the frequency of monitoring should be determined on an individual basis. (1D)

Recommendation 23

In the case of a steadily deteriorating or abnormal platelet count, continuation of plasma exchange is recommended until the condition stabilizes or haematological remission is achieved [1]. (1B)

When the platelet count becomes normalised, non-improving anaemia, reticulocytosis without an increase in haemoglobin, a haptoglobin level that remains low and insufficient ADAMTS13 activity, or a once again decreasing platelet count within the normal range may signal disease activity without symptoms, so the patient requires close monitoring. Residual neurological or renal symptoms upon reaching haematological remission (platelet count >150 g/L on 2 consecutive days or normal haemoglobin level) generally do not warrant the continuation of treatment. When haematological remission is achieved, a gradual decrease in the frequency of PEX (instead of sudden discontinuation) does not decrease the risk of relapse [49].

PEX alone does not decrease, but rather increases the production of the anti-ADAMTS13 antibodies so sustained remission can only be expected with the concomitant use of immunosuppressant treatment (see below).

Treatment should be restarted in the face of deteriorating results (exacerbation within 30 days of suspending or discontinuing treatment) until the patient's condition stabilises. Several months of treatment may be needed at times to achieve sustained remission. As a rule of thumb, if TTP does not respond or does not respond well to the treatment, other reasons for the condition (infection, tumour, autoimmune disease) must be investigated.

Late relapse (following 30 days of maintained haematological remission, i.e. inactive disease) observed in 20–50% of patients [1]; often triggered by pregnancy, surgery or infection, and responds similarly to the first episode, generally well. The time of late relapse is unpredictable. In our own (South-Pest Central Hospital) patient material, the longest asymptomatic period between two episodes was 24 years (!).

Alternative plasma therapy

If plasma exchange cannot be accessed within 4–8 hours, an FFP infusion should be given: its recommended daily dose is 20–30 mL/kg [9]. However, plasma exchange should be strived for, as the effectiveness of plasma infusion therapy is significantly lower according to controlled data [26, 27]. Blood for the specific tests listed in Table 3 <u>must</u> be drawn before the first FFP and stored or forwarded according to the specialist laboratory's instructions.

Immunosuppressant treatment (ISU) [1].

In iTTP of autoimmune (ADAMTS13 inhibitor) mechanism, the use of immunosuppressant therapy is broadly accepted. Data is available in the literature on the use of the following agents:

Recommendation 24

For cases where a platelet count below 30 G/L and the absence of acute renal function impairment (initial serum creatinine level below 200 μ mol/L; see also Table 7 for an accurate assessment of renal impairment) are observed at the onset of the condition (or French score ≥ 2 , see Table 5). In addition to plasma exchange, steroid therapy should be initiated as pulse therapy (1 g/day for 3 days in adults) or by giving a standard dose (1 mg/kg/day) [1, 27, 50-52]. (1B)

Recommendation 25

Both platelet count and ADAMTS13 activity should be considered when withdrawing corticosteroid (steroid) therapy [8]. It is recommended to check ADAMTS13 activity at each dose change. If the activity shows a downwards trend (even within the normal range), a review of immunosuppressive therapy is recommended. (1D)

Corticosteroids [50-52]:

The most commonly and longest used agents; their dose can vary between 1 mg/kg/day (iv. or per os) and pulse therapy (1 g/day for 3 consecutive days). If there is no contraindication, administration should be started as soon as possible; if possible, it should always be administered after plasma exchange. When switching to oral dosing, prednisolone is recommended instead of methylprednisolone. Both platelet count and ADAMTS13 activity should be considered during reduction. The initial dose (1 mg/kg/day) is maintained for 2 weeks, followed by a

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

rapid reduction to 0.5 mg/kg/day, after which the recommended dose should be reduced to 2.5-5 mg/week [8]. Following rituximab treatment, the degradation may be faster if ADAMTS13 activity is stable in the normal range.

Recommendation 26

The administration of rituximab is recommended if there is no haematological response (at least minimal) following 5 plasma exchanges (platelet count <50 g/L), the platelet count decreases following a temporary improvement and/or a new clinical symptom (neurological, cardiac etc.) presents [1]. (1B)

Recommendation 27

Rituximab may also be given as first-line treatment for patients in a critical condition [1, 53]. (1B)

Recommendation 28

The patient should be screened for HBV, HCV prior to starting rituximab treatment. If the patient tests positive for HBV, HCV, an individual treatment protocol must be designed with the involvement of an infectologist[54-56]. (1C)

Despite its off-label use, rituximab is part of standard treatments today. Cannot be administered during pregnancy and conception is not recommended for one year following administration [56]. Virological status must be determined prior to beginning treatment (mandatory: HBV and HBC) as the agent may cause viral reactivation [54-56]. If the patient tests positive, a personalised treatment plan must be designed with the help of an infectologist. The most frequently used dose: 375 mg/m², generally given once a week for 4 weeks. Fixeddose therapy is now used in a very wide dose range (100 mg-1000 mg). The efficacy of low-dose rituximab (100 mg once a week for 4 weeks) has been confirmed in several recent studies [57, 58], and we have been using it successfully for years at the South Pest Central Hospital. If the patient's condition allows it, plasma exchange should not be performed on the day following administration, but an FFP infusion administered instead at a dose of approx. 10–15 mL/kg. If the plasma exchange cannot be omitted, at least 4 hours [59] must elapse before the next plasma exchange and more frequent administration of the agent (every 3-4 days) may be considered. B-cell count should be checked during rituximab treatment. Based on unconfirmed data, if the B cell count falls below the detectable level ($\leq 1\%$) on Day +14 after Dose 1, an additional dose is probably not needed [60]. Rituximab accelerates the achievement of remission, decreases the need for plasma exchange, the length of hospital treatment and the one-year relapse rate [61]. Rituximab treatment started within 3 days has proved to be more effective compared to treatment started after 3 days [53]. If there is no haematological response (at least minimal) following five plasma exchanges (platelet count remains <50 g/L or the increase in platelet count is less than 2-fold), the platelet count decreases following a temporary improvement or a new clinical symptom (neurological, cardiac etc.) presents despite the treatment, rituximab is recommended. It is also considered as first-line treatment for critically ill patients, alongside plasma exchange and steroid therapy, and its use is generally gaining ground in therapy. It exerts an effect within 1–2 weeks, so it is unable to avert early death in all fulminant cases. B cell depletion lasts approximately 9 months after which production of the inhibitor may return and accordingly, it has no impact on late relapses [61].

Cyclophosphamide, vincristine, azathioprine, cyclosporine, mycophenolatemofetil, etc.:

Case reports and small-scale studies corroborate the efficacy of these agents. Cyclophosphamide is most strongly recommended [62]. The optimal dosing regimen is not known, but the regimens used in systemic autoimmune diseases are recommended or a single dose of 500 mg may be used [8]. Unconfirmed data suggest that up-front cyclophosphamide treatment (400 mg/m² 6 times every 3 weeks) has similar efficacy to up-front rituximab treatment [63]. Cyclosporine itself may induce TTP, so great care is necessary when using it. IV immunoglobulin:

Its standard dose is 2 g/kg over 2–5 days. As regards its efficacy, the data found in the literature are highly contradictory.

Inhibition of VWF and platelet interaction

By blocking the GPIbα binding site in the VWF A1 domain, platelet microthrombus formation can be inhibited. Among several experimental molecules (ARC1779:[64], GBR600:[65], ALX-0681:[66]), caplacizumab has recently been registered as an orphan drug for TTP. The efficacy and safety of caplacizumab in adult patients have been established in 2 randomized controlled studies [67, 68]. Caplacizumab:

It is an immediately effective symptomatic agent that does not affect the underlying disease, but stops disseminated microthrombosis formation, which is most often responsible for organ symptoms and death, by suspending VWF-mediated platelet aggregation. It is expected to make a major contribution to reducing

002168

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

premature mortality and relapse cases. In the laboratory, its effect is indicated by a decrease in RIPA (ristocetininduced platelet aggregation) and RICO (ristocetin cofactor) levels below 10% and 20%, respectively, and a decrease in VWF and factor VIII antigen levels, which return to baseline within 7 days of treatment discontinuation (INN-caplacizumab, SmPC [69]). In clinical practice, after a 10 mg IV loading dose (before the 1st PEX), a dose of 10 mg daily should be administered subcutaneously (immediately after PEXs). In trials, it reduced the time to remission, the number of days with plasma exchange, hospital and intensive care time, and the incidence of early exacerbation. There were no refractory patients or deaths among the patients treated with this agent. Adverse effects include mainly mild to moderate bleeding and therefore in patients with other coagulopathies or coadministration of anticoagulant/antiplatelet therapy, an individual risk/benefit analysis and very close monitoring are required. It does not affect the underlying autoimmune process, so administration of concomitant immunosuppressive therapy to suppress the production of inhibitors is very important. In the absence of this or if it is not sufficiently effective, exacerbation/relapse may occur after discontinuation of caplacizumab. The summary of product characteristics recommends that caplacizumab should be continued for 30 days after the last PEX. More recent clinical data suggest that monitoring VWF and ADAMTS13 activity in patients allows the therapy to be customized with significant cost savings. After achieving a stable 10% ADAMTS13, discontinuation of caplacizumab therapy before 30 days elapses did not result in relapse and was found to be safe. In some patients, in addition to monitoring VWF activity, the frequency of drug administration could also be reduced during the plasma exchange-free period [70].

More recent data suggest that caplacizumab may be an effective therapy without plasma exchange if plasma exchange cannot be administered for whatever reason [71].

Recommendation 29

Caplacizumab therapy can be initiated if ADAMTS13 activity is confirmed to be deficient or there is a significant clinical suspicion of TTP (thrombocytopenia not otherwise explained, fragmentation haemolysis, platelet count <30 G/L and serum creatinine <200 umol/L, or French score 2, see Table 5) and the result of ADAMTS13 activity is available optimally within 3 days, but no later than 1 week. Continuation of the caplacizumab therapy is recommended if ADAMTS13 deficiency (<10%) is confirmed, with individual decisions required for a baseline activity between 10-20%, while this medicinal product should not be recommended above 20% [3]. (1C)

Recommendation 30

In patients in haematological remission receiving immunosuppressive treatment, discontinuation of caplacizumab therapy may be considered on an individual basis if ADAMTS13 activity above 10% is achieved [70]. (1D)

Platelet function inhibiting agents

Recommendation 31

During the rising platelet count phase (>50 g/L), the administration of a small dose of aspirin is recommended based on an individual assessment [1, 5, 72]. (2B)

During the rising phase of the platelet count (platelet count >50 g/L), many centres use aspirin \pm dipyridamole treatment to shield against relapse caused by rapidly rising platelet count. Its effectiveness has been reported in only one study [72], so its use has recently been considered more on an individual basis [5].

Thienopyridines (including ticlopidine, clopidogrel, and prasugrel) alone can cause TTP (incidence for treatments administered for other indications: ticlopidine: 0.01-0.02%; clopidigrel: 0.0001%, prasugrel: no data) [73]. While in the case of ticlopidine TTP most often develops within the first 2-12 weeks of therapy, is usually associated with ADAMTS13 deficiency and responds well to plasma exchange, in the case of clopidogrel it most often develops within 2 weeks, usually without ADAMTS13 deficiency, in the form of TMA refractory to plasma exchange, often with acute renal impairment. So far, only a few cases have been reported related to prasugrel [73, 74]. Thus ticlopidine should definitely be avoided during the active phase of TTP and generally avoided if the patient's medical history includes TTP. In the case of cerebrovascular and/or cardiovascular indications, clopidogrel and prasugrel may be given under close observation after a careful benefit/risk assessment.

Splenectomy [75]

002168

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Recommendation 32

Splenectomy may be recommended in patients who relapse frequently despite sustained immunosuppressant treatment [1, 11, 75]. (1C)

It may be used as salvage treatment in fulminant cases or to avert frequent relapses, with particularly good efficacy in the latter case. It is cost-effective and extremely safe with the right preparation, and may significantly decrease the relapse rate, rendering patients asymptomatic for a very long time even if ADAMTS13 remains abnormal. At least 2 weeks prior to surgery, the patient must be vaccinated (against *pneumococcus*, *meningococcus*, *haemophilus influenzae*). If the outcome of the immunisation is uncertain (due to the concomitant use of immunosuppressant agents), antibiotic prophylaxis may be necessary (penicillin, macrolides).

Supportive therapy

Red blood cell transfusion:

Recommendation 33 When giving a red blood cell transfusion, the administration of a white blood cell depleted product is recommended. (1D)

Recommendation 34

When determining the indication, clinical symptoms must also be taken into account alongside the degree of anaemia, particularly if there is cardiac involvement [1]. (1A)

Defining the Rh and Kell phenotype is also suggested prior to the first transfusion. The transfusion must be performed using a leukoreduced product in every case. The use of a radiated product is generally not necessary. Red blood cell replacement is indicated rarely if haemoglobin levels exceed 70 g/L [1].

Platelet transfusion:

Recommendation 35

Platelet transfusion is generally contraindicated unless there is life-threatening haemorrhage [1, 76]. (1A)

Patients with TTP rarely bleed even if they have a single-digit platelet count. Many publications reported progression of the disease and a rise in mortality following a platelet transfusion [76], while other studies did not establish such a correlation [77]. According to the currently widely accepted stance, a platelet transfusion may only be considered in TTP if vitally indicated, if there is a severe haemorrhage [1]. When placing a central intravenous line, the vein should be chosen in a compressible location (or at the periphery in adults) during the acute phase in order to reduce the risk of complications from an intervention performed at a low platelet count.

Thromboprophylaxis:

Recommendation 36

LMWH should be administered for the purpose of thromboprophylaxis above the 50 g/L platelet count threshold. (1B)

LMWH prophylaxis should be given to reduce the risk of thromboembolism caused by immobility.

Folic acid replacement:

Recommendation 37

Folic acid replacement is necessary during the haemolysis phase [1]. (1C)

Folic acid replacement is suggested in all patients due to continuous haemolysis. The recommended daily dose in adults is 6 mg.

Hepatitis vaccination:

The BCSH guideline suggests HBV vaccination in the active phase of the condition at a platelet count of over 50 g/L [1]. As most patients receive high-dose steroid \pm rituximab treatment in such cases, the utility of vaccination is currently in question.

Response to therapy (nomenclature) [2, 10]. The nomenclature of the response to therapy has recently been standardised as follows:

Clinical response in TTP: platelet count maintained above 150 G/L, LDH not exceeding one and a half times the upper normal value, without clinical signs of new or progressive ischaemic organ damage.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Clinical remission in TTP: sustained clinical response without plasma exchange and anti-VWF treatment: at least for 30 days or if ADAMTS13 remission (partial or complete) is achieved, whichever occurs first. **Partial ADAMTS13 remission:** ADAMTS13 activity is 20% or higher but below the lower limit of the normal

range.

Complete ADAMTS13 remission: ADAMTS13 activity exceeds the lower limit of the normal range.

Clinical exacerbation: platelet count falling below 150 G/L (other cause excluded) after achieving a clinical response but before achieving clinical remission, with or without new or progressive ischaemic organ damage, within 30 days of the completion of plasma exchange or anti-VWF therapy.

Clinical relapse: After clinical remission, platelet count again falling below 150 G/L (other causes excluded) with or without new ischaemic organ damage. Clinical relapse should be supported by evidence of severe ADAMTS13 deficiency.

ADAMTS13 relapse: the ADAMTS13 activity falling below 20% again after a partial or complete ADAMTS13 remission.

Refractory TTP: Persistent thrombocytopenia (<50 G/L) and LDH elevation despite 5 plasma exchanges and immunosuppressive therapy.

Outcome

Recommendation 38

Every patient must be admitted to care and regularly checked. The patient must be informed in depth about the nature of the condition, the risk of relapse, its symptoms, the risks of pregnancy and oral contraception, and the related tasks (see the attached 'TTP-HUS Patient Information Sheet') [1]. (1C)

Recommendation 39

Non-oestrogen-containing products are recommended as contraception [1]. (1C)

Recommendation 40

Rituximab may be administered preemptively in the event of ADAMTS13 deficiency coupled with haematological remission [1, 11, 78, 79]. (2C)

Recommendation 41

If there is ADAMTS13 deficiency coupled with haematological remission, a customised decision may be recommended based on clinical history, the severity of the episode(s), the response to treatment, potential residual symptoms and the patient's wishes. (1D)

If a new symptom presents despite the plasma exchange or if there is persistent thrombocytopaenia, we are dealing with a plasma-refractory condition. In such cases, plasma exchange and/or the intensification of pharmacological treatment may still improve the patient's health. Infection, an undiagnosed autoimmune disease or tumour are often the underlying cause of such resistance. Unfortunately, mortality is still between 5-20%.

Patients in remission must be admitted to long-term care, during which ADAMTS13 activity must be checked occasionally. The frequency of late relapse is approximately 20–50% [1]. To prevent them, the French Thrombotic Microangiopathies Reference Centre's study group recommends the preemptive use of rituximab [78] in cases where ADAMTS13 activity remains, or once again becomes, deficient. Although lower than normal ADAMTS13 activity leads to an approximately 3-fold increase in the probability of a relapse [80], its actual occurrence and time of occurrence are completely unpredictable. Unconfirmed data suggest that if ADAMTS13 activity is still deficient at clinical remission, the likelihood of relapse is several times higher than in patients with at least 10% activity [81]. Not everybody agrees with preemptive rituximab treatment [79], as many patients may be asymptomatic for a long period of time even with 0% ADAMTS13 activity, or the activity may improve spontaneously. However, ADAMTS13 activity that remains low or declines in remission, increases the risk of stroke several fold [82]. ADAMTS13 activity is also important in the non-TTP patient population in terms of stroke probability and it has an impact on survival [26].

For this reason, at present a customised decision may be recommended based on clinical history, the severity of the episode(s), the response to treatment, potential residual symptoms and the patient's wishes.

The patient should be informed about the nature of the disease, the risks associated with pregnancy and oral contraceptive use, the possibility of relapse, its most common causes (including infection, pregnancy, and surgery) and the need for increased monitoring (see attached "TTP-HUS Patient Information Leaflet"), the risk of low ADAMTS13 activity and the treatment options. Trigger drugs (such as quinine, oestrogen, ticlopidine, interferon, cyclosporine) should generally be avoided.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Unfortunately, TTP does not always heal without a trace, residual renal [83] and neurological [84] symptoms may remain, which is why the importance of care cannot be overemphasised.

Future therapeutic options

Recombinant ADAMTS13:

The Phase I study using the BAX-930 molecule ended with positive results [85] in the congenital form of TTP. It would primarily make the treatment of USS very simple and safe. Phase III of the trial is currently under way (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03393975). Its use in inhibitor-associated TTP could be considered, but the immunocomplex formation may be an undesirable consequence, and a patient-specific dose, depending on the amount of inhibitors, may be required [86, 87]. It is therefore currently being tested as an adjuvant therapy in addition to the standard treatment in the inhibitor form of TTP. A solution could be to produce a variant of ADAMTS13 to which the inhibitor would bind with less affinity while the enzyme would have been increased proteolytic function [88].

<u>VWF — platelet interaction inhibiting therapies:</u>

VWF plays a central role in primary haemostasis and the pathomechanism of TTP. No wonder it is a prime target for pharmaceutical research. Most medicinal products target the inhibition of the bond between the VWF A1 domain and the platelet GP1b receptor, and less frequently the bond between the A3 domain and collagen [89]. From these, the nanobody ALX-0681 has recently been approved for the treatment of the acquired form of TTP under the name caplacizumab [195, 196]. In addition to antibody molecules (82D6A3, h6B4-Fab, AJW200, GBR600), nucleic acid aptamers are under development as well (ARC1779, TAGX-0004). They have in common that they bind tightly and specifically to the target molecule, are non-toxic, non-immunogenic, chemically easy to produce, and cheap, but have a short half-life [90].

A promising recent development is the GP1b receptor antagonist Anfibatide derived from snake venom, with which human trials are already underway [91].

N-acetylcysteine (NAC)[92]:

NAC is an antioxidant that is a precursor for the synthesis of L-cysteine and glutathione. It reduces the viscosity of airway secretions by breaking down disulfide bridges between mucin monomers and has long been successfully used in obstructive lung diseases. *In vitro and in vivo*, it decreases the number of soluble VWF multimers and decomposes ULVWF thanks to their structural similarity with mucin. Animal data suggest that it will be used mainly for preventive purposes, as it is not able to dissolve developed VWF-rich thrombi in TTP. There is very little human clinical data yet.

Bortezomib [93]:

A proteasome inhibitor used with great success in the treatment of multiple myeloma. The therapy would be aimed at destroying the plasma cells that produce the ADAMTS13 antibody, as they are resistant to traditional immunosuppressant therapy. There is still very little experience with it.

Complement-inhibiting treatment:

Increasing evidence suggests that enhanced complement activation on the alternative activation pathway is also involved in TTP, for the initiation of which ULVWF fibres anchored to the endothelium may serve as an activation surface [94-96]. To date, only sparse clinical data are available on the use of complement-inhibiting treatment in TTP therapy-resistant cases [97].

HAEMOLYTIC URAEMIC SYNDROME (HUS)

The triad characterising the condition is listed in Table 7. The concurrent or the consecutive presence of all three symptoms is necessary for establishing a diagnosis [13, 14, 17, 19, 29, 30].

Clinical forms

HUS is an umbrella term; 2 large groups can be distinguished based on the introductory symptoms, aetiology and clinical course (**Figure 2**). 'Typical' HUS usually refers to clinical forms presenting as a single episode following acute gastroenteritis that responds well to supportive therapy and only rarely leads to severe chronic kidney injury or death. 'Atypical' HUS usually refers to clinical forms where patients do not respond sufficiently to supportive and/or renal replacement treatment, follow a clinical course characterised by relapses and/or exhibit an asynchronous familial nature. The conditions often progress and can lead to the sustained impairment of renal function; fatal outcomes are not rare (see also Table 8). ADAMTS13 activity is characteristically normal or just slightly decreased in HUS.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Table 7: The clinical triad of HUS	[13, 14, 17, 19, 29, 30].
Thrombocytopaenia caused by plate	elet consumption
Microangiopathic haemolytic anaer	nia
 Confirmed acute kidney injury: with the following classification 	proteinuria and/or glomerular haematuria and/or decreased renal function, according to RIFLE criteria [98]:
—	Risk: 1.5x increase in serum creatinine or decrease in GFR >25%, or urine output per hour <0.5 mL/kg/hour for 6 hours,
—	Injury: 2x increase in serum creatinine or decrease in GFR >50%, or urine output per hour <0.5 mL/kg/hour for 12 hours,
—	Failure: 3x increase in serum creatinine or decrease in GFR >75% or an acute increase in serum creatinine of >353 micromol/L (>44 micromol/L), or urine output per hour <0.3 mL/kg/hour for 24 hours, or anuria for 12 hours
_	Loss: protracted acute renal failure = total loss of kidney function for >4 weeks, ESRD End stage kidney disease (>3 months)

HUS forms associated with specific infections

Typical HUS, STEC-HUS [99]

Clearly defined typical or STEC-HUS clinical entity associated with enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC, VTEC/STEC, formerly known in Hungary as *E. coli* 0157:NM) that produces verotoxin/Shiga-like toxin. In certain tropical regions, it may also be associated with *Shigelladysenteriae* and rarely, *Citrobacterfreundii and salmonella*. It is the most common form of childhood acute renal failure, but is also not rare in adulthood. About half of the STEC-HUS cases confirmed in Hungary in recent years occurred in adults. The source of the infection may be food, drink or water contaminated with the toxin-producing bacteria. However, faecal-oral transmission is also possible. The prodromal phase is characterised by runny diarrhoea accompanied by cramps, often followed by bloody diarrhoea which is succeeded by acute renal failure approximately 3–10 days later. The symptoms are caused by the toxin being absorbed in the intestines. Its receptor is globotriaosylceramide (GB3) and the degree of receptor expression plays a role in the localisation and severity of tissue damage. The toxin is directly toxic to the vascular endothelium by inhibiting protein synthesis. In addition, the activation of the white blood cell, platelet and coagulation system, the cytokine (IL-6, IL-8, TNF) effect at the outflow of higher ULVWF from the stimulated endothelium along with secondary ADAMTS13 enzyme consumption also play a role in the pathological consequences. The development of autoantibody cross-reacting with the verotoxin and the CD36 structure has also been described [100].

Approximately 14-33% of EHEC infection cases develop colitis, of which approximately 10% develop typical HUS, with clinical risk factors including dehydration, fever, vomiting, visible blood in the stool, younger or older age, use of intestinal motility inhibitors and some antibiotics. From the laboratory findings, an elevated white blood cell count and a C reactive protein level higher than 12 mg/L may be predictors of HUS. Rarely, typical HUS may be a consequence of a urinary tract infection. In this case, there is no typical diarrhoea and the bacteria producing the toxin is detectable in urine.

Most frequently, renal failure dominates the clinical presentation while the neurological symptom is a rare consequence – in roughly 25% of cases, almost always accompanied by renal failure – of hypertension and metabolic encephalopathy or brain microangiopathy. Clinical cardiac complications (such as ischaemia and arrhythmia) are even rarer (<10%). By and large, it is a relatively benign condition in childhood, with a mortality rate of 3-5%. If significant renal function impairment was observed in the early phase, hypertension, proteinuria and kidney function impairment may present years after full regression of symptoms, so the patient must be monitored periodically. There is no relapse after recovery, but reinfection is possible, and the infection may be a trigger factor for the development of previously asymptomatic atypical HUS. In older age, the condition is far more malignant with a high mortality rate.

Diagnosing typical HUS

Typical HUS is recognisable by the fact that it generally presents 3–10 days after acute gastroenteritis, at which point the patient often no longer has diarrhoea. Microbiological (culture, identification of the pathogen, toxin detection in the stool sample or in the identified pathogen with a biological or serological procedure) or immunological (confirmation of a serological response against LPS typical of the STEC strain) tests can confirm a diagnosis of typical HUS. In Hungary, the above microbiological tests are available at the National Enteral Reference Laboratory of the National Public Health Centre. Typical HUS requires mandatory reporting.

002168

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Therapy for typical HUS

In the most recent epidemics of STEC-HUS, best supportive care (BSC) has improved survival statistics compared to earlier outbreaks [101]: this involves maintaining the fluid and electrolyte balance, controlling blood pressure, renal replacement treatment if necessary, parenteral nutrition and transfusion. The use of medicines inhibiting intestinal motility should be avoided. For a long time, the general view was that antibiotic treatment is rather harmful because of the increased toxin production, direct toxin release from decaying bacteria and damage to normal gut flora. The antibiotic effect is toxin-specific and bacterial strain-specific, which explains the conflicting clinical results. In larger epidemics, the exact bacterial strain can be quickly identified by whole genome sequencing, which can also provide information on serotype, virulence and resistance profile. Bioinformatics systems, now available online, can help to select the right, effective antibiotic [197]. In sporadic cases, in the absence of the former, antibiotics can be given only for shiga toxin-1-producing bacteria. Phosphomycin is the most indicated agent (beginning within 2-3 days from the onset of diarrhoea), while betalactam and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole should be avoided. Fluoroquinolones have been shown to be beneficial in clinical trials, despite failing in in vitro studies. Of the other agents, rifamycin is the most promising. In addition, studies are being conducted with antitoxin monoclonal antibodies and the use of adjuvant zinc therapy [102].

Recommendation 42

The efficacy of plasma exchange has not been confirmed in typical HUS [101, 103, 104]. (2B)

Recommendation 43

Plasma exchange therapy can be attempted in severe childhood STEC HUS with neurological symptoms [45, 101, 105].(2C)

Plasma exchange is generally not recommended in childhood HUS; in practice, it is reserved for severe forms of the disease accompanied by neurological symptoms [106]. Plasma exchange decreased mortality in adults during the Scottish epidemic [103]. By contrast, during the German epidemic of 2011, which mostly affected adult patients, extended plasma exchange had a mostly negative impact on outcome [104].

Dysregulation of the complement system has also been described in typical HUS, so it is not surprising that a Phase III trial is currently underway to assess the clinical efficacy of eculizumab [198], but some results suggest that this treatment is not effective for this disease [107].

Attempts to neutralise the toxin have so far not produced satisfactory results.

HUS associated with neuraminidase-producing pathogens

5-15% of all HUS cases. Recently, the number of cases has been increasing, probably due to better awareness of the disease. Presents after an infection caused by neuraminidase-producing pathogens, most commonly *Streptococcus pneumoniae* [108], generally in children below 2 years of age. The presentation of the disease is characterised by a severe clinical condition (most commonly pneumonia accompanied by empyema or meningitis), and it is often accompanied by DIC. The prognosis for cases with meningitis is significantly worse. Relapse after recovery is not known. The long-term prognosis for the kidney is generally good, with renal function restored in most patients.

Neuraminidase cleaves sialic acid from the surface of red blood cells, platelets and endothelial cells which exposes hidden Thomsen-Friedenreich (T) antigens. The blood stream contains regular anti-T antibodies against these antigens. This process is called T activation, and indicative signs may include polyagglutination detected in blood group serology, autocontrol positivity and Coombs positivity. Recently, the importance of anti-T antibodies has been questioned and T-activation has been considered a marker of the process rather than the cause of pathological events. Neuraminidase-neutralising antibodies develop in the blood of most people until the age of 2 years, which explains the age-specificity of the syndrome. Recent data also suggest that the proteolytic effect of plasmin activated on the bacterial surface is responsible for endothelial damage [109]. In addition, removal of sialic acid from the membrane reduces the binding of factor H to the cell surface and its function, thereby causing the dysregulation of the alternative pathway and complement activation [110].

The diagnosis of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*-associated HUS (SP-HUS)

A firm diagnosis of **SP-HUS** can be made if all three conditions are present:

- the Streptococcus pneumoniaeinfection can be confirmed (using antigen, nucleic acid detection or culture based methods), and
- HUS can be confirmed (see Table 7), and
- DIC can be ruled out (no bleeding can be confirmed, fibrinogen level is not reduced).

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Neuraminidase activity has recently become detectable using serum, which may help in therapeutic decisionmaking.

Therapy for Streptococcus pneumoniae-associated HUS (SP-HUS) [108]

As factor H, which plays a central role in the regulation of the alternative complement activation pathway, binds to sialic acid on the cell membrane and there may be an overlap between the neuraminidase-mediated and complement-mediated forms of aHUS [111], it is recommended to extend diagnostic tests to the complement system.

Recommendation 44

The use of FFP should be avoided in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*-mediated HUS. Albumin is recommended for plasmapheresis [112-114]. (2C)

Stopping the infection is decisive in the treatment of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*-mediated HUS; supportive and renal replacement treatment should only be given if necessary. Given its neutralising anti-neuraminidase antibody content, IVIG may be a potentially effective therapy, although extensive clinical validation is still awaited. Given the complement activation promoting effect of neuraminidase, complement-inhibiting treatment is also being tested, with encouraging results so far. No controlled studies are available regarding plasma therapy. Based on the pathogenesis, plasma therapy (FFP infusion or FFP substitution) should be avoided in the acute phase; instead, plasma exchange using albumin substitution may be efficacious [112-114]. Recently, successful treatment with T-antibody-negative plasma has also been reported [115]. The potential benefit and the potential side effects and complications of apheresis require individual assessment.

More recently, HUS has been reported as a complication of influenza virus A infection, with a pathogenesis similar to the one described above due to the viral neuraminidase effect [116]. Therapy is fundamentally based on antiviral and supportive treatment; plasma should not be administered in this form of the disease.

Complement-mediated atypical HUS [14, 19, 117]

A heterogeneous patient group that includes both sporadic and familial forms, which manifest in some disease cases in response to trigger factors (which may include infections or pregnancy). Their common trait is a severe and progressive course, and the tendency for relapses in some cases. Can occur at any age, but mainly affects neonates, children and young adults. Rare; with an estimated incidence of 1–2/1 million [14, 118]. The following subgroups based on aetiology are known:

Atypical HUS caused by complement dysregulation

More than half of all cases of aHUS stem from impaired regulation of the alternative complement pathway. Spontaneous activation due to the continuous cleavage of C3 and amplification are characteristic of the alternative pathway of the complement system. Complement regulation proteins are responsible for keeping this process in check.

Impaired alternative pathway regulation may stem from loss-of-function or gain-of-function mutations or an antibody inhibiting the factor H regulator. So far, mutations in factor H (FH), factor I (FI), membrane cofactor protein (MCP, CD46), factor B (FB) and C3, and thrombomodulin genes have been described in the background of aHUS. FH, FI, MCP and thrombomodulin mutations are typically loss-of-function mutations, in other words the regulatory protein affected is not produced or does not function. FB and C3 are gain-of-function mutations which do not allow the physiological regulation to prevail. Whichever underlying mechanism is at play, the end result is the amplification of the alternative pathway, the excessive activation of the terminal response pathway with consequential tissue damage (resulting from inflammation causing anaphylatoxins and a cell-damaging complex).

Complement-mediated aHUSis clinically characterised by an insidious onset, express hypertension, fluctuating clinical symptoms and laboratory results. In most cases, the onset of the disease is caused by indirect trigger factors, such as infection or pregnancy. It exhibits numerous similarities to TTP. It is not only a childhood disease, as approximately 60% of cases manifest in young adulthood, and a case has also been reported in an 85-year-old patient. In childhood, 50% of cases manifest before the age of 2 years. In children, the male/female ratio is nearly identical while a slight female predominance can be observed among adults. In more than half of patients (children: 58%, adults: 73%) the platelet count is <u>over</u> 50 g/L and normal (>150 g/L) in 15% of cases. 59% of children and 81% of adults require dialysis treatment at the beginning of the process [118]. Although the clinical presentation is mostly predominated by acute renal failure, 10–30% of patients present with extrarenal symptoms (neurological, cardiac, other) [119]. The prognosis is worse in adults and in cases with familial accumulation. The majority of relapses occur within one year. The outcome is significantly influenced by genetic background [118, 119].

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Genetic predisposition can be identified in approx. 50–60% of confirmed complement-mediated aHUS patients and is mostly complex: it consists of the cumulative effect of one or more rare variations (mutations) and one or more risk polymorphisms or haplotypes. Due to complex genetic predisposition, mutation penetrance is low, approximately 40–50%. The most commonly affected genes are [120]:

Factor H and factor I mutations

Factor H is the most common (30%) mutation, while factor I is far rarer (5-10%). Numerous mutations are known for both factors. Both proteins are predominantly produced by the liver. Factor H inhibits C3 convertase and helps factor I as a cofactor. Factor I plays a role in the regulation of both the alternative and classic pathway, and cleaves the C3b and C4b alpha chain in the presence of a cofactor. The factor H gene is located on chromosome 1 at location q32 while the factor I gene is located on chromosome 4 at location q25. If a patient carries a factor H or combined factor I mutation, without treatment the prognosis is poor, with a 60–70% likelihood of developing irreversible renal failure. Relapse following a kidney transplant is approximately 80% in factor H mutations and nearly 100% in factor I mutations within two years [121] of the transplant.

MCP mutations

Membrane cofactor protein (MCP or CD46) is a transmembrane glycoprotein that is expressed on all cells with the exception of red blood cells. It is a cell surface cofactor necessary for FI functioning; MCP mutations can be detected in approximately 10% of aHUS patients. Its penetrance is also low. In carriers of the MCP mutation, aHUSmanifests most often following an infection. It is a benign form of the condition in terms of clinical course, with 20–30% of patients developing irreversible renal failure. The frequency relapse following transplantation is low (the donor organ does not carry the mutation), approximately 10%. The treatment of post-transplantation ISU and the endothelial microchimerism may both play a role. As it is a non-soluble protein, plasma exchange is not expected to yield any results.

Other mutations

The gain-of-function mutations in factors C3 and B have an adverse clinical course, often presenting as aHUS accompanied by sustained hypocomplementaemia, in which the disease has a high likelihood of recurring in the graft following the kidney transplant.

Thrombomodulin mutations (which also plays a complement regulation role) are identified in the lowest ratio among aHUS patients (roughly 5%), and if there are multiple mutations, the functional relevance of the variation cannot be confirmed. There is insufficient clinical experience on thrombomodulin mutations [122].

Plasminogen mutations were confirmed in aHUS patients in the US in 2014 with tests performed using a new generation sequencing method. They found that variations that had an adverse effect on plasminogen/plasmin function accumulated in aHUS patients, thereby preventing the breakdown of thrombi [123]. No new data have been published in recent years to support a role for plasminogen in aHUS.

Autoimmune (anti-factor H autoantibody positive) aHUS [124]

aHUS developing based on the autoimmune mechanism can be confirmed in 6-56% of patients according to geographic location. It is characterised by the presence of autoantibodies produced against the alternative pathway regulator factor H, which shows a close correlation with the homozygous deletion of complement factor H-like genes 1 and 3 (*CFHR1*, 3). It has been confirmed that anti-FH autoantibodies bind to the factor H C-terminal domain and have the functional effect of inhibiting factor H from binding to the cell surface and neutralising the regulator function of factor H.

able 8: Signs suggestive of atypical HUS [29].
- Absence of diarrhoea prior to the onset of HUS
<u>or</u>
- Diarrhoea + presence of <u>any</u> of the following:
- Age <6 months or >5 years
- Insidious onset
- HUS relapse
- Presumed earlier HUS
- Prior unexplained anaemia or thrombocytopaenia
- HUS following any organ transplant
- Asynchronous HUS occurring in the family

002168

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Other atypical HUS forms

Other mechanisms not based on the defective functioning of the complement system may explain HUS exhibiting a clinically atypical course.

HUS caused by defective cobalamin C metabolism

May be expressed in the form of HUS with an autosomal recessive inheritance pattern. Fulminant forms already presenting at birth, or milder forms only manifesting later [125, 126, 127] are both known. Feeding difficulties, stunted growth, hypotension, lethargy, leukopenia, megaloblastic anaemia require major attention to the condition. Its characteristic symptoms are hyperhomocysteinaemia and methylmalonic acidemia. Presence of the disease can be confirmed with the sequencing of the MMACHC gene, the mutations of which were described in the most recently affected case. Renal biopsy is pathognomonic. Therapy: hydroxocobalamin administered daily. aHUS associated with cobalamin E and G disease has also been reported.

Very rarely, pernicious anaemia [128] may also result in a microangiopathic blood count. However, the clinical presentation corresponds most closely to TTP, disproportionately high LDH may draw attention to it, and a low serum B12 vitamin level and normal ADAMTS13 activity may help distinguish the condition.

HUS associated with diacylglycerol kinase epsilon (DGKE) mutation

Loss-of-function mutations of the DGKE gene were described in 2013 in the background of early-onset HUS typically manifesting with severe hypertension and proteinuria [129]. By analysing the disease course in additional patients, it has been recognised that there may be an overlap between TMA and membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis in affected individuals [130]. Impaired DGKE function does not affect the functioning of the complement system, but it does cause prothrombotic changes in endothelial cells. It was reported in 2014 that in certain patients, impaired regulation of the alternative complement pathway and DGKE mutation are present and the complement abnormality largely determines the time and severity of the presentation of HUS [131]. For this reason, genetic tests should be extended to DGKE for all cases of early-onset HUS.

The diagnosis of atypical HUS [12]

Recommendation 45

aHUS must always be considered as a possibility in the event of acute renal failure. The clinical diagnosis must be based on the clinical history, the clinical symptoms (Tables 7 and 8) and routine laboratory test results (Table 2) [17, 29] (1A)

Recommendation 46

The tests needed to clarify aetiology (Table 3) must be performed prior to starting plasma therapy [17]. (1B)

Recommendation 47

If aHUSis clinically suspected, an in-depth complement diagnostic examination (complement C3, C4, alternative total complement, FH, FB, FI, MCP expression, anti-FH antibody \pm genetic test) and ADAMTS13 (activity, inhibitor \pm genetic test) must be performed for every patient [12, 13, 17, 132]. (1B)

The diagnosis of atypical HUS is a multiple step process. There is currently no method of investigation to confirm aHUS with the requisite diagnostic sensitivity and specificity in a short amount of time. Therefore, aHUS is diagnosed using the exclusion method and requires complex verification.

<u>Step 1</u>:

The basis of the clinical diagnosis of HUS is the recognition of acute thrombocytopaenia, acute non-immune (Coombs negative) microangiopathic haemolytic anaemia and kidney injury (Table 7). Table 2 sums up the early diagnostic steps, while Table 8 sums up the clinical symptoms to be regarded as "atypical" signs [29]. If HUS does not present with accompanying acute gastroenteritis (diarrhoea), severe purulent pneumonia or meningitis or alongside an unequivocal comorbidity, it should be clinically regarded as atypical. Step 2:

Confirming the diagnosis of aHUS. If atypical HUS is suspected, before potentially necessary supportive therapy (red blood cell or rarely, platelet transfusion) or plasma therapy is started, a blood sample must be drawn for indepth complement diagnostics (classical and alternative pathway activity, C3, C4, FH, FI, FB level, MCP expression, anti-FH antibody screening and complement genetic testing), ADAMTS13 (enzyme activity, inhibitors and genetic testing) and cobalamin metabolism testing [17]. The normal range of C3 and C4 tests

002168

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

generally available in larger laboratories does not rule out the possibility of complement defect, so the blood sample must be sent to a special laboratory (such as: Semmelweis University, Clinic of Internal Medicine and Haematology, Research Laboratory [133] [134] or frozen until transportation according to the laboratory's instructions (see: [194]).

Obviously, it is generally not possible to wait for the results; therapy must be started within 24 hours and may be modified based on the results (intensification, suspension, supplementation, see below). A diagnosis of aHUS can also be established if alternative pathway deregulation or hypocomplementaemia cannot be confirmed. At the same time, in the vast majority of cases of aHUS, a positive result confirms the diagnosis and is suitable for guiding therapy and monitoring its efficacy (particularly in anti-FH autoantibody positive patients).

If the patient's clinical condition allows a kidney biopsy, the typical abnormalities detected in the histological sample both clarify the diagnosis and provide a prognosis for assessing the outcome of the renal process/renal failure.

<u>Step 3</u>:

Critical assessment of the results of the differential diagnosis and the clinical response to initial therapy. In the 2–4 days following the onset of HUS, if verotoxin positivity, ADAMTS13 deficiency, cobalamin metabolism disorder or primary disease warranting HUS as a complication (see Figure 3 and Table 11) cannot be confirmed, a diagnosis of aHUS can be established. In cases of atypical HUS, the clinical response (increase in platelet count, degree of haemolysis, severity of renal impairment, resolution of oliguria, improvement of renal function, other organ damage) to initial (supportive, infection control, plasma treatment) therapy is often partial, slow or completely absent.

<u>Step 4</u>:

The need for and results of genetic tests in aHUS. Genetic tests (*CFH, CFI, CD46, CFB, C3, THBD2, CFHR1-5, DGKE, PLG* genes DNA sequence analysis for identifying rare and common variations and defining copy number) are warranted for every new aHUS patient during the first episode of the disease. Likewise, an in-depth genetic test is warranted in the event of HUS relapse (confirmed or suspected), in the event of an asynchronous family history of HUS (in healthy family members for screening purposes and for assessing subsequent risk of the disease) and if aHUSpresents during or after pregnancy or if HUS presents *de novo* following a transplant. A kidney transplant in patients with sustained kidney injury due to earlier HUS can only be authorised following in-depth genetic testing. The above genetic tests are warranted in patients with aHUS for the following reasons: to confirm the complement-mediated form of the disease (possible in approximately 50–60% of patients); to assess prognosis and the risk of relapse; for genetic counselling and family screening; for designing the transplantation protocol if necessary (see below); for choosing effective and safe treatment protocols and determining the required length of treatment.

Great care is necessary when evaluating the results of the above genetic tests. Only mutations that have previously been described in aHUS patients (but not in healthy individuals) with a confirmed harmful functional effect can be declared as having an aetiological effect on aHUS with a high degree of certitude. Likewise, mutations that have not been described in either patients or healthy individuals but which have an experimentally proven harmful effect on complement regulation are also to be regarded as aetiological factors. In all other cases, careful *in silico* experimental and family analysis, etc. are necessary for assessing the functional relevance and aetiological nature of the specific variation. The potential role of common aHUS risk polymorphisms and haplotypes should also be carefully evaluated.

Therapy for typical HUS [12, 15, 135]

Figure 2 shows the diagnostic and therapeutic algorithm for HUS.

As the incidence of secondary HUS/TTP cases in adulthood is far higher compared to childhood (due to the possibility of cancer, autoimmune disease, pregnancy, malignant hypertension and other trigger factors), investigating the aetiological background and establishing a final diagnosis generally takes longer.

Recommendation 48

If atypical HUS is suspected, child patients should be immediately transferred to a paediatric nephrology centre experienced in treating HUS that has the facilities for paediatric dialysis and paediatric ICU care [14]. (1D)

Recommendation 49

If atypical HUS is suspected, adult patients must immediately be transferred to a hospital experienced in the treatment of TTP-HUS that has facilities for dialysis, 24-hour apheresis service and intensive care unit, nephrological and haematological care. (1D)

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Recommendation 50

A clinical diagnosis of aHUS in children should be followed by first-line treatment with complementinhibiting treatment, which should be started within 24-48 hours [12, 14, 15, 18].(1B)

Recommendation 51

In the absence of complement-inhibiting treatment, initiation of plasma exchange therapy in paediatric aHUS patients is recommended within 24 hours (Table 9) [29]. (1B)

Table 9: Plasma exchange in childhood atypical HUS (The recommendation of the European Paediatric Study Group for HUS) [29]
— Starting plasma exchange within 24 hours, <u>except</u> :
- if an alternative diagnosis requiring different treatment is reasonably suspected
- in small children if placing the line in the vein causes technical difficulties
- if renal involvement is mild, if the risk/benefit balance is negative
— Substitution: FFP or pooled plasma, human, solvent-detergent treated
— Volume: 1.5 plasma volumes (60–75 mL/kg/session)
— Frequency:
- 1x daily for 5 days
- 5x weekly for 2 weeks
- 3x weekly for 2 weeks
- on day 33 of the evaluation of therapeutic effect
— Endpoint:
- Confirmation of an alternative diagnosis that is not treatable with plasma exchange
- Severe complication requiring the discontinuation of plasma exchange
- Haematological remission [*]
* Aetiology must be clarified in order to continue plasma exchange

Recommendation 52

If aHUSis clinically diagnosed in adult patients, plasma exchange is recommended as first-line treatment according to the plasma exchange protocol for TTP (Table 6). However, the endpoint of treatment must be determined individually [15, 17, 30, 136]. (1B)

Recommendation 53

A switch to complement-inhibiting treatment must also be deployed for adult patients if the serum creatinine level does not show at least a 25% improvement following 5 plasma exchanges, irrespective of the change in haematological symptoms and parameters, if the secondary causes can be ruled out with great likelihood [15]. (1B)

Recommendation 54

In adults, in case of aHUS relapse or renal graft-related aHUS, first-line complement-inhibiting treatment is also recommended [15]. (1B)

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Figure 3: Summary of the diagnostic algorithm and possible modes of therapy for HUS [132]. See the text for detailed explanations. Based on Reference no. [15], as amended. Only the most common forms are indicated in the figure.



Plasma therapy

Table 9 contains the standardised 2009 plasma exchange recommendation of the European Paediatric Study Group for HUS for children [29]. A higher volume of treatment compared to the plasma exchange protocol for TTP, with gradually decreasing frequency, is recommended. The daily plasma exchange protocol described for TTP may still be used in adults [17].

In case of mutations resulting only in factor deficiency, plasma transfusion (10–20 mL/kg, 2–3 times per week) may also be effective instead of plasma exchange if the patient tolerates fluid overload well. In mutations resulting in abnormal protein, particularly gain-of-function forms, the abnormal protein must also be removed, so plasma exchange should definitely be chosen in these cases. In the case of thrombomodulin mutations, 80% of patients responded to plasma therapy [119]. In MCP mutations, plasma therapy must be decided as a function of the condition's severity [119], and no significant result can be expected in DGKE mutations.

Experience drawn from the high-volume plasma exchange protocol recommended by the European Paediatric Study Group for HUS guidelines shows that the effect of intense plasma exchange is sub optimal: 17% of children still required dialysis on day 33 of treatment, 11% did not achieve haematological remission and 31% presented with some kind of central cannula complication [18]. As a result, the most recent International Consensus now recommends first-line complement-inhibiting treatment for children, to be initiated within 24–48 hours; plasma exchange is only considered in the absence of the former [12].

Based on the recommendation of the French Study Group for aHUS/C3G, complement inhibitor treatment must also be used in adults if the serum creatinine level dips below 25% after 5 plasma exchanges, irrespective of the status of haematological parameters [15]. This amount of time is generally sufficient to rule out ADAMTS13 deficiency, verotoxin, autoimmune mechanism, cancer, pharmacological effects and infections. A histological exam may confirm the diagnosis if a kidney biopsy can be performed safely given the current platelet count and haemostasis parameters. In adults with proven aHUS relapse or aHUS in case of kidney graft, first-line complement-inhibiting treatment should be chosen, and plasma exchange is an option only until this is started.

If no complement-inhibiting treatment is available, plasma exchange should be continued until complete remission or until maximum improvement is achieved, but for at least 1 month. The exception is if it is

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

discovered in the meantime that the process is plasma-refractory or requires other specific therapy, or if an adverse reaction occurs that prevents the continuation of treatment [29].

Once maximum improvement has been achieved, maintenance therapy can be started, carefully decreasing the frequency of treatments. The method (plasma infusion or plasma exchange), dose, frequency and duration of such treatment must be determined individually [19].

If a complement-inhibiting medicinal product is not available, bilateral nephrectomy may also be considered in the event of end-stage renal failure in severe, uncontrollable active thrombotic microangiopathy and/or malignant hypertension [13, 17].

Targeted complement-inhibiting treatment

Recommendation 55

Patients should be vaccinated against meningococcal disease (conjugate vaccine against serogroup A, C, Y, W135 and conjugate vaccine against serogroup B) at least 2 weeks before the scheduled administration of the complement-inhibiting treatment. Antibiotic prophylaxis (methyl penicillin or macrolides) must be used within two weeks of treatment. Patients below 18 years of age must also be vaccinated against *meningococcus* and *Haemophilus influenzae* [12, 14, 137]. (1A)

Recommendation 56

Before starting complement-inhibiting treatment, a patient information brochure and patient safety card must be given to patients. Patients must be given in depth information about the fact that the vaccine does not provide comprehensive protection (see attached information brochure) against meningococcus infection. If the patient presents with fever accompanied by headaches and/or nuchal rigidity, medical attention must be sought immediately as these may be signs of *meningococcus* infection [12, 137]. (1A)

Recommendation 57

Prior to starting complement-inhibiting therapy, a kidney biopsy is recommended in adult patients to specify the diagnosis and assess prognosis if it is feasibly safe given the haematological parameters and other circumstances [14]. (1D)

Recommendation 58

If dialysis treatment lasts for more than three months, the indication for starting or continuing complement-inhibiting therapy should be decided based on a kidney histological report [12]. (1C)

Recommendation 59

Complement-inhibiting therapy can also be recommended to treat severe extrarenal symptoms if renal failure is not reversible [12]. (2C)

Recommendation 60

When initiating complement-inhibiting treatment, we recommend checking complement inhibition from a blood sample drawn prior to the second dose in a specialised laboratory, see: [194]). A subsequent verification is also recommended if the absence or a decrease in effectiveness is clinically suspected [12]. (1C)

Recommendation 61

A minimum of 3 months of ineffective treatment is required for the complement-inhibiting treatment to be deemed ineffective [12]. (1C)

Recommendation 62

The decision to suspend complement-inhibiting treatment can only be taken after receiving the results of a complement genetic test, in which case very close monitoring is required. In the case of a relapse (in the absence of a contraindication), treatment must be reinitiated [12]. (1B)

Both eculizumab [137] and ravulizumab are registered for the treatment of aHUS and are available to patients in Hungary on the basis of individual compassionate use. The availability of eculizumab for emergency use has improved significantly in recent years. Ravulizumab [138, 139] is a structurally modified eculizumab. The aim of the modification was to improve binding to endosomal neonatal Fc receptors (FcRN), thereby increasing the half-life. Both drugs are humanized IgG2/4 kappa monoclonal antibodies, which prevent the cleavage of the C5 complement protein by binding to it with a high affinity, thus creating the C5b-9 complex (membrane attack
002168

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

complex). It thereby stops the new activation of the complement terminal pathway without substantially influencing the activation of the alternative pathway at the level of C3. None of the drugs inhibits complement activation at the level of C3, which is essential for the opsonisation of microorganisms, antigen presentation and clearance of immune complexes. The clinical efficacy and adverse effect spectrum of the two agents are similar, the difference lies in the dosing: while for eculizumab, maintenance treatment should be provided every 2 weeks, for ravulizumab this is enough every 8 weeks. More stable blood levels with less frequent dosing create more favourable therapeutic conditions [140].

According to international recommendations [12, 15] and the SmPCs of eculizumab and ravulizumab [137], patients should be vaccinated against meningococcal disease (conjugate vaccine against serogroup A, C, Y, W135 and conjugate vaccine against serogroup B) at least 2 weeks before starting treatment. Antibiotic prophylaxis (penicillin V or macrolides) must be used within two weeks of treatment. In some countries, this is mandatory throughout the entire duration of treatment and for an additional 60 days after its completion. If vaccination is not feasible at least two weeks before the start of complement-inhibiting treatment, the administration of antibiotic prophylaxis should be considered until the end of the complement-inhibiting treatment. A patient information brochure and patient safety card must be given to patients, and they must be given in-depth information about the fact that the vaccine does not provide 100% protection. If the patient presents with fever, fever accompanied by headaches and/or nuchal rigidity, or sensitivity to light, medical attention must be sought immediately as these may be signs of *meningococcus* infection. Patients below 18 years of age must also be vaccinated against *Haemophilus influenzae* and *pneumococcus*.

Importantly, vaccination can increase complement activation, so the patients need close monitoring.

The use of eculizumab during pregnancy has been shown to be safe and to have no effect on the complement system in newborns [141], although more recent data have shown that it can be detected in the blood of newborns [142]. There are no data yet on ravulizumab in pregnancy. Eculizumab may be given during pregnancy on the basis of an individual assessment and stricter monitoring if the indication is clear.

It is administered as an infusion, eculizumab is given once weekly initially for 4 weeks, then at fixed doses every 2 weeks [137]. Several studies have shown that the dosing interval can be extended safely in a significant proportion of patients with monitoring of eculizumab blood levels, complement activation and haemolysis biomarkers [143, 144]. Higher body weight and male sex did not decrease the elimination half-life of the medicinal product and increased the possibility of interval extension. Personalisation of therapy resulted in significant cost savings and improved quality of life for patients [143].

In the case of ravulizumab, we switch to maintenance treatment every 8 weeks after 2 weeks following the first loading dose. In the case of ravulizumab, a dose adjusted for body weight should be administered [138]. The emergence of complement inhibition must be checked in a specialised laboratory before administering the second dose, and in every case where its effect is clinically suspected to have decreased or stopped. If inhibition is not complete, the cause must be clarified. Underlying causes may be complement-activating states (infection, pregnancy, surgical intervention, trauma, ischaemia/reperfusion), massive proteinuria or protein-losing conditions (e.g. active IBD), incorrect dose and - very rarely - genetic resistance (resistant C5 variant in Asian and Japanese patients)[12]. After starting treatment, plasma therapy can generally be discontinued, but if this is not possible, the dosage must be modified according to pharmacopoeial requirements. Its effect in aHUS is identical in cases with or without complement mutation. If extrarenal symptoms occur, its administration is indicated irrespective of the reversibility of renal failure [12]. If treatment is initiated early (<28 days after the onset of HUS), there is a greater likelihood of restoring kidney function [15, 145]. Three months after dialysis treatment, a kidney biopsy may decide on the indication for giving or continuing the medicinal product [12]. Treatment should theoretically be lifelong with eculizumab, except if the product proves ineffective. Treatment of at least 3 months is necessary to determine this [146]. In the case of ravulizumab, treatment is recommended for at least 6 months, after which further treatment can be customised [138]. Successful attempts are being made to achieve stable remission in children and in adults by suspending administration of the product in order to avoid the huge cost of treatment, the potential complications and the discomfort caused by regular infusion [147]. A recent prospective multicentre study found that relapse was less than 5% in patients without a complement gene variant, compared to a rate of 50% in those carrying a complement gene variant. The risk of relapse was also increased by female sex and higher sC5b-9 levels at the time of treatment discontinuation. After restarting treatment, pre-relapse levels of renal function were achieved in 11/13 cases [148]. In retrospective studies, both the frequency of recurrence and the significance of genetic differences vary [135, 149].

The question is not yet definitively settled, but the available data tend to favour the safety of discontinuation [148]. If the complement-inhibiting treatment is discontinued, very close monitoring (home monitoring of proteinuria with urine dipsticks twice a week, blood pressure measurement, monitoring of petechiae) is required, [147, 150] and treatment should be resumed at the first sign of reactivation. However, even with factor H, gain-of-function C3 and factor B, *CFH:CFHR1* gene rearrangements, combined mutations and low residual GFR, the risk is still substantial. The decision not to use complement-inhibiting treatment can only be made on the basis

002168

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

ofa careful assessment of genetic and other predisposing factors [151]. In aHUS related to isolated heterozygous MCP mutations, long-term treatment with eculizumab to prevent relapse does not appear to be justified [152]. In aHUS due to DGKE mutations, no results can be expected from eculizumab treatment, so complement-inhibiting treatment is not indicated in this disease, or if it is already in progress, treatment should be stopped [153].

Complement-inhibiting agents under development

At the time of writing these guidelines, promising clinical trials are underway with other complement-inhibiting agents. Their testing, approval in Europe and placement on the domestic market is ongoing or is expected in the near future. A summary of what is known about the complement inhibitors that are expected to be introduced in the coming years:

Crovalimab [154]

Crovalimab (RO7112689 or SKY59) is a novel anti-C5 monoclonal antibody-based medicinal product with an isoelectric point, binding to the neonatal Fc receptor and pH-dependent affinity designed so that the antibody recirculates from the endothelial cells in addition to an efficient C5 degradation. Thanks to this technology, crovalimab has a long half-life, binds to C5 on the beta chain, and the bond is not sensitive to the C5 c.2654G \rightarrow A polymorphism. Crovalimab inhibits the activation of the terminal reaction pathway by reducing C5 levels and inhibits the formation of a membrane-damaging complex. Currently, crovalimab is approved for the treatment of paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria, and two clinical trials are ongoing in 2021 to assess the efficacy and safety of crovalimab in adolescent and adult aHUS patients (NCT04958265 and NCT04861259).

Pegcetacoplan [155]

Pegcetacoplan is a PEGylated C3-binding pentadecapeptide that belongs to a group of complement inhibitors not yet used as drugs. Members of this group have been developed as structural analogues of the complement inhibitor compstatin, which, upon binding to the C3 molecule (its C3b part), prevents enzymatic cleavage, i.e. the formation of active C3 and C5 convertase enzymes. The medicinal product can be administered subcutaneously and has inhibitory effects at both the C3-convertase level (alternative, lectin and classical pathways) and the C5-convertase level (terminal pathway). The first marketing authorisation was granted in 2021 for PNH, and clinical trials are ongoing in several other complement-mediated diseases, including transplant-associated thrombotic microangiopathy (EudraCT Number: 2021-003157-27).

Iptacopan [156]

Iptacopan (LNP023) is the first oral, small molecule protease inhibitor with reversible effects capable of inhibiting the serine protease B-factor of the alternative pathway C3 convertase enzyme complex. As a result of the inhibitory effect, the function of the alternative pathway C3 convertase complex (C3bBb*) is reduced, the amplification loop is inhibited, but the classical/lectin pathway C3 convertase (C4b2a) is not inhibited. Currently, clinical trials are ongoing in PNH and several complement-mediated diseases, including adult aHUS (EudraCT Number: 2020-005186-13).

Treatment of autoimmune aHUS

Recommendation 63

In the autoimmune form of aHUS, plasma exchange and immunosuppressant therapy constitute first-line treatment. (1B)

Recommendation 64

In case of life-threatening extrarenal symptoms in the autoimmune form of aHUS, complement-inhibiting treatment may be given as first-line treatment in addition to immunosuppressive therapy [12]. (1C)

Traditional treatment consists of intensive plasma exchange and immunosuppressant (induction: steroids, cyclophosphamide or rituximab; maintenance treatment: steroids, mycophenolate mofetil or azathioprine) treatment. Treatment must be performed so that the antibody titre dips below 1000 AU/mL, if possible. A baseline titre of over 8000 AU/mL is indicative of a poor prognosis [157] In case of severe extrarenal symptoms, first-line complement-inhibitor (due to its immediate effect) + immunosuppressant treatment may be the optimal choice [158].

002168

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Supportive therapy

Recommendation 65 When giving a red blood cell transfusion, the administration of a white blood cell depleted product is recommended. (1D)

Recommendation 66

When determining the indication, clinical symptoms must also be taken into account alongside the degree of anaemia, particularly if there is cardiac involvement. (1A)

Recommendation 67

In renal anaemia, erythropoietin is recommended to reduce the need for transfusion [159]. (1B)

Recommendation 68

Platelet transfusion is generally contraindicated unless there is life-threatening haemorrhage [13, 19]. (1A)

Recommendation 69 Folic acid replacement is necessary during the haemolysis phase [1]. (1C)

Recommendation 70

The patients should be vaccinated against influenza A and SARS-CoV-2 [15, 19]. (1C)

Recommendation 71

Every patient must be admitted to care and regularly checked. The patient must be given in depth information (see the attached 'TTP-HUS patient information brochure') about the nature of the condition, the risk of relapse, its symptoms, the risks of pregnancy and the related tasks. (1D)

Besides the elements described under supportive therapy for TTP, particular attention must be given to resolving electrolyte, acid-base and fluid balance, and treating hypertension. Administering erythropoietin is recommended in renal anaemia to reduce the need for red blood cell transfusion. As influenza is one of the most common triggers, immunising patients against influenza A is recommended [15, 19].

The indication of kidney transplantation in patients with aHUS [17]

Recommendation 72

Kidney transplantation due to atypical HUS cannot be performed without clarifying the genetic background [12, 14, 17]. (1B)

Recommendation 73

In case of a kidney transplant, the risk of relapse and prophylactic therapy to prevent relapse must be determined based on genetic testing of the complement and the condition's biological behaviour. [12]. (1B)

Recommendation 74

In the event of a relapse following a kidney transplant, first-line complement-inhibiting treatment is necessary as plasma exchange is ineffective with regard to the kidney based on the literature and local experience [12, 160]. (1B)

Recommendation 75

As a prophylactic treatment for kidney transplantation, complement-inhibiting treatment is recommended for patients at high risk, and complement-inhibiting treatment or plasma exchange for patients at intermediate risk [15]. (1C)

For a long time, a basic diagnosis of atypical HUS was a contraindication for kidney transplant in end-stage renal disease, mainly due to the particularly poor graft survival data. When performing a kidney transplant in atypical HUS, the main reason for graft loss was a recurrence of the primary disease according to historical data [160]. This may occur immediately after transplantation. In the cited study, graft loss generally occurred 6 months after transplantation and affected $\sim 60-90\%$ of patients according to the data of the various case series reports [161, 162]. Confirmed complement mutation has proven to be the most important predicting factor of the post-transplantation recurrence of aHUS. The mutations that correlate with a low, moderate or high increase in the

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

risk of recurrence were identified by summing up the features of genetic mutations (affected gene, type of mutation, functional effect of the mutation) [15]. In accordance with the recommendations of the French study group, prophylactic therapy is necessary during the peritransplantation period if there is a moderate or high risk of relapse, currently in the form of plasma exchange or targeted complement-inhibiting treatment (Table 10).

Table 10: Prophylaxis preceding kidney transplantation	on [12, 121]	
Risk of recurrence	Mode of prophylaxis	
High		
— FH and gain-of-function mutations: FB, C3		
— Combined mutations, with the exception of	Complement-inhibiting treatment	
MCP combinations		
— Due to the recurrence of earlier graft loss,		
irrespective of the genetic test results		
Moderate		
— Isolated FI mutation	Complement-inhibiting treatment or plasma	
- Combined MCP mutation	exchange	
— Mutation of unknown functional effect		
Low		
—DGKE mutation		
— Isolated MCP mutation	prophylaxis is not necessary	
— No detectable mutation		
— Low anti-FH antibody titre		

In 2019, the French Working Group validated the practical usefulness of this recommendation with new data [121]. It was demonstrated that transplantation in aHUS patients is possible, that complement-inhibiting treatment improves graft survival, and that the therapy chosen based on genetic differences did indeed improve outcome. Based on the new results and the experience gained during the earlier treatment of patients in Hungary (all patients currently awaiting a transplant have previously proven to be plasma-resistant) and the previous literary data (when the disease relapsed during the post-transplantation period, graft loss could not be avoided with plasma exchange [160]), prophylactic complement-inhibiting treatment is indicated if there is a moderate or high risk of recurrence (see Table 10). If complement-inhibiting treatment is not available, prophylactic plasma therapy may be allowed on a case-by-case basis.

Peritransplantational plasma treatment must be started 12–24 hours prior to transplantation and continued for at least 24–48 hours following transplantation. Decreasing the frequency and discontinuing plasma treatment may be planned according to the complement profile and ADAMTS13 activity parameters. Substitution is recommended during the peritransplantational period: 100% FFP or pooled plasma, human, solvent-detergent treated. More recent results have supported the utility of preemptive plasma therapy, showing that even in the high genetic risk subgroup, graft survival can be improved with preemptive plasma therapy [163].

The duration of prophylactic peritransplantational eculizumab treatment should be at least 12–18 months according to the experiences of the French study group (the risk ratio of the primary aHUS recurring in the graft decreases significantly in months 15–20 after transplantation [160]). The guidance provided by the Summary of Product Characteristics and the protocol described in the French study group's paper [164] must be adhered to if the complement-inhibiting treatment uses eculizumab, and if the patient is given a full dose of eculizumab on day 0 and 1 (for enhanced protection against complement activation due to operative stress and cold ischaemic injury to the graft) and on day 7, and then every two weeks thereafter (for at least 12–18 months). The duration of treatment must be planned according to the type of mutation [165], medical history and family medical history, the results of the complement profile and ADAMTS13 activity during the post-transplantation period [166]. Treatment may be suspended if the patient is in full remission (haematological and renal), TMA inactivity can be confirmed with laboratory measurements (e.g. haptoglobin, complement profile, ADAMTS13) and eculizumab is continuously available for treating a potential relapse after the suspension of therapy.

A HUS episode following a transplantation should be considered aHUS and calls for targeted complementinhibiting therapy (e.g. eculizumab) as first-line treatment (see Figure 3)

In case of dialysis-dependent renal failure presenting against a backdrop of aHUS, a kidney transplant can only be planned after investigating the patient's genetic background and molecular aetiology.

Kidney transplantation from a living, unrelated donor can be performed in aHUS with good outcomes, with unconfirmed results suggesting that it can be performed without prophylactic use of complement-inhibiting treatment [167].

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

In the case of a living, related donor (for the protection of both the donor and the graft), transplantation in aHUS should only be allowed if pathogenic or potentially pathogenic mutations in the complement genes can be identified and the donor does not carry any of the risk variants identified in the patient [168].

If aHUS relapse occurs after transplantation in a patient with known genetic predisposition, continuation and long-term use of complement inhibitors is justified, whereas treatment of *de novo* aHUS in graft after renal transplantation with complement inhibitors is only necessary until remission if no genetic risk factor can be confirmed [169].

Combined liver and kidney transplant in HUS

As complement regulator proteins are produced by the liver, a combined liver and kidney transplant is currently the only curative therapy [170] but this is chosen increasingly less in the age of eculizumab treatment due to its potential complications.

TTP AND ATYPICAL HUS A IN PREGNANCY

During pregnancy and the postpartum period, it is difficult to distinguish TTP and aHUS from each other and from severe pre-eclampsia and HELLP syndrome [171, 172]. Accurate differentiation of these pathologies during and after pregnancy is often very difficult due to overlapping symptoms and abnormalities (including hypertension, glomerular impairment, renal failure, elevated LDH, and thrombocytopaenia), especially at the beginning of the process. The timing of and changes in symptoms, the presence of underlying or concomitant diseases/triggers/complications, laboratory abnormalities before (plasma) therapy and probabilistic estimation all play a role in clarifying the exact aetiology and pathology.

Recommendation 76

If atypical peripartum HUS/TTP is suspected, the patient should be transferred immediately to a centre with expertise in the treatment of HUS/TTP, where tertiary obstetrics and intensive care units are available [171]. (1D)

Recommendation 77

If peripartum HUS/TTP is suspected, investigations and therapeutic decisions should be made according to the recommendations of the International Working Group [171]. (1C)

In practice, three practical regularities can also be used to detect TTP and aHUS [172]: Signs of microangiopathy and persistent, deepening thrombocytopenia after delivery raise the suspicion of TTP; elevated serum creatinine after delivery raises the suspicion of aHUS; both thrombocytopenia and creatinine improve after delivery: suspicion of PE/HELLP syndrome.

ТТР

About 5% of all episodes of TTP occur during pregnancy. 46% of these present after week 30 of the pregnancy or postpartum, while 54% present prior to week 30 (weeks 20–29: 38%; before week 20: 15%) [173].

In approximately two thirds of first TTP episodes presenting during pregnancy, the ADAMTS13 enzyme genetic defect (late-onset-USS, incidence: 1:200,000 pregnancies) manifests, most often in the third trimester. Foetal survival is just 58% in pregnancies where the disease is unnoticed; this can be increased to 100% in pregnancies where the disease has already been diagnosed and is given the right care from the start of pregnancy, with regular plasma therapy started on week 8–10 (10 mL/kg FFP every two weeks, then every week from week 20 + aspirin after week 12). Plasma therapy must be customised so that the pregnant platelet count remains within the normal range the entire time. The optimal time of birth is in week 36–38 of pregnancy. The patient must continue to be checked after this, as 20% of cases still require regular plasma replacement [173].

The inhibitor form of the condition generally presents during the second trimester or the postpartum period. Foetal survival is 65%. Foetal death in both types of TTP is most common during the second trimester, caused by microthromboses in the placenta. Abnormal ADAMTS13 activity at the beginning of the pregnancy increases the probability of relapse [173]. However, normal activity does not guarantee a relapse-free pregnancy either. If the patient is known to have inhibitor TTP, ADAMTS13 activity should be checked regularly (monthly). If ADAMTS13 activity dips below 20%, prophylactic plasma therapy (± steroids, + 100 mg acetylsalicylic acid after week 12) is recommended. Treatment must be given so that the patient's platelet count remains within the normal range.

In the event of clinical relapse of TTP, daily plasma exchange (+ steroids, acetylsalicylic acid after week 12 if platelet count >50 g/L) should be performed (Table 6) until remission.

Based on our own experiences (at South-Pest Central Hospital), birth may activate the microangiopathic process even if total remission was achieved with treatment during pregnancy. This must be factored in and the patient

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

monitored closely for at least six weeks following birth, particularly if ADAMTS13 activity is abnormal. If laboratory results are deteriorating continuously, therapy must be restarted as described for TTP.

Atypical HUS

About 20% of new-onset aHUS episodes occur during or immediately after pregnancy. 79% of pregnancyassociated aHUS cases (estimated incidence: 1:25,000 pregnancies) begin during the postpartum period (from day 3 until month 6 following birth), but they may begin earlier (as early as in the first trimester) in response to complement activation factors (such as infection) [174]. According to French data [174], the risk is the greatest during the second pregnancy (nearly 30%), for unknown reasons. Some type of complement mutation can be confirmed in 86% of aHUS cases presenting during pregnancy (FH: 48%, FI: 9%, C3: 9%, MCP: 5%, >1 mutation: 14%, no mutation: 14%) and homozygous aHUS risk haplotype verifiable in 57% of cases (MCP_{ggaac}: 22%, CFHH3: 45%). It is a highly malignant form that causes irreversible renal failure within 1 month in 62% of cases and in 76% of cases in the long term if not managed with the right treatment. By contrast, thrombocytopaenia is mild in 40% of patients (>100 g/L) [174]. Therapy should include immediate plasma exchange and a prompt switch to complement-inhibiting treatment (when PE/HELLP and TTP have been ruled out).

HELLP syndrome

HELLP syndrome (haemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, low platelet count) occurs in about 0.2-0.9% of all pregnancies and in 10-20% of severe eclampsia. Its incidence is approximately 1:1,000 pregnancies. It begins antepartum (weeks 28–36) in 70% of cases and postpartum in 30% of cases, within 48 hours of birth. The latter is not preceded by (pre)eclampsia in 80% of cases. It is more common in Caucasian women over the age of 25 that have given birth several times [175]. It currently constitutes an independent subgroup of TMA (Figure 2) — endothelial dysfunction, of which abnormal placenta development forms the pathological basis. More recently, it has also been linked to abnormal complement regulation [176, 177]. The complement regulation disorder in and of itself leads to a 1.5 to 2-fold increase in the risk of foetal death and eclampsia [174]. It should be differentiated from TTP during pregnancy, and ADAMTS13 deficiency and a LDH/SGOT ratio of over 22 during the third trimester [178] also suggest TTP. The only treatment for HELLP syndrome during pregnancy proven to be effective is termination of the pregnancy and removal of the placenta. The platelet count reaches its trough 23–29 hours after birth before normalising in 6–11 days. Plasma exchange may be effective in the postpartum form of the condition [179]. In cases that do not improve at a satisfactory rate, tests must be extended to investigate aHUS.

SECONDARY FORMS OF TTP-HUS

Table 11 sums up the most common causes of secondary thrombotic microangiopathies. Their common trait is underlying endothelial damage, however the exact molecular mechanism of this is not yet, or not sufficiently, clarified. The pathogenic complement differences underlying atypical HUS do not appear to be dominant in this pathotype [180]. The clinical presentation is most often HUS, but may also be TTP. Silent presentation is also possible, dominated by progressive renal failure alongside mild haematological symptoms. It is also referred to as secondary TTP-HUS/HUS-TTP/TMA or HUS-like/TTP-like in the literature. The outcome depends on the cause; treatment is fundamental and ability to treat also often defines the outcome. ADAMTS13 activity is normal or only slightly reduced in most conditions. However, severe activity deficiency or consumption do rarely occur. In some forms, ADAMTS13 inhibitor (e.g. ticlopidine, interferon, pregnancy, SLE, antiphospholipid syndrome, lymphoma, HIV infection and so on) may also occur. Clarifying this is essential for deciding on treatment. In cases featuring insufficient and inhibition, besides treating the primary disease, plasma exchange and immunosuppressant therapy are also indicated, to be performed as described for TTP. If there is sufficient ADAMTS13 activity, plasma exchange is generally not considered, however eculizumab may be effective in some cases (e.g. mitomycin [181], gemcitabine-[182] associated HUS). There is no reliable data on the efficacy of plasma transfusion in case of severely decreased but not insufficient activity. Some results have shown that short-term complement-inhibiting treatment (4-12 weeks) has shown beneficial results in patients with secondary HUS/TTP in whom treatment of the underlying disease did not result in improved renal function [183-185], but the issue is still controversial [186, 187]. In cancer-associated forms of the condition, significant progress is expected in the future from agents affecting platelet-VWF interaction.

Significant progress has been made recently in the analysis of the relationship between **malignant hypertension** (systolic blood pressure ≥ 180 mm Hg and/or diastolic blood pressure ≥ 120 mm Hg (as per regular measurement), together with signs of organ damage such as renal, cardiac, neurological or ophthalmological complications [188]) and TMA, particularly with regard to the site of complement-inhibiting treatment. It has been shown that malignant hypertension is particularly common in patients with aHUS, its presence is a poor

Medical Guideline 002168 On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

prognostic factor for renal impairment in the absence of pathogenic genetic variation in complement genes, while the efficacy of complement-inhibiting treatment has been demonstrated independently of the presence of malignant hypertension [189]. In another study of 55 and 110 patients with malignant hypertension related to aHUS and other diseases, respectively, Spanish researchers found that patients with aHUS had a better outcome with the complement inhibiting treatment than with plasmapheresis, an effect that was independent of the degree of hypertension [190]. It was also found that TMA as a complication in patients with malignant hypertension from other causes is very rare. This suggests that in malignant hypertension, TMA activity markers should be monitored regularly (see Table 2), and if complete resolution of TMA cannot be achieved with adequate blood pressure control, plasmapheresis or complement-inhibiting treatment may be indicated due to the possibility of aHUS.

Recommendation 78

In the differential diagnosis of hypertensive crisis, aHUS should be considered as an etiological factor and a therapeutic target. (1C)

Recommendation 79

If signs of microangiopathy and acute kidney injury are confirmed during a hypertensive crisis, a nephrologist should be consulted to develop a further investigation and treatment plan. (1D)

Recommendation 80

If signs of microangiopathy and acute kidney injury are confirmed during a hypertensive crisis and the process is expected to be reversed (e.g. based on renal or fundus examination), then initiation of complement-inhibiting treatment is warranted. The length of treatment should be judged on an individual basis (such as verifiability of genetic background and the extent of improvement on antihypertensive treatment, etc.) and should be continued until a maximum clinical response is achieved, with a recommended minimum of 2 months. (1C)

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Table 11: Underlying diseases, conditions and treatments in which the development of secondary thrombotic microangiopathies has been described [1, 11-14, 28-30, 191, 192]
— Pharmacological treatments:
- Quinine
- Thienopyridines: ticlopidine, clopidogrel
- Calcineurin inhibitors: cyclosporine, tacrolimus
- mTOR inhibitors: sirolimus, everolimus
- Chemotherapy agents: mitomycin B, cisplatin, bleomycin, gemcitabine, etc.
- Angiogenesis inhibitors: bevacizumab
- Tyrosine kinase inhibitors: sunitinib
- Other agents: oral contraceptives, interferon, etc.
— Malignant hypertension (often against a background of silent IgA nephropathy)
- Disseminated cancers, often mucin-producing adenocarcinomas
— Infections:
- viral infections (e.g. HIV, CMV, etc.)
- sepsis: bacteria, fungus
- Allogeneic stem cell transplantation: graft-versus-host disease; solid organ transplantation
— Autoimmune conditions:
- SLE
- antiphospholipid syndrome
- SSC renal crisis
- Surgeries (e.g. motor heart surgery); protein-losing conditions (e.g. diarrhoea); pancreatitis
— Extracorporeal membrane oxygenator treatment
- Adeno-associated virus 9 vector-based gene therapy (such as Onasemnogeneabeparvovec)

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Algorithms for the medical care process (Figures)

Figure 2: Classification of thrombotic microangiopathies[12]



On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Figure 3: Summary of the diagnostic algorithm and possible modes of therapy for HUS. See the text for detailed explanations. Based on Reference no. [15], as amended.



On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Figure 4: Recommended care algorithm for adult patients

Suspicion	ADULT: thrombocytopenia + MAHA <u>+</u> acute kidney injury
Tests	 <u>Performing the following tests:</u> blood count, smear, INR, PTI, fibrinogen, D-dimer, ASAT, ALAT, LDH, GGT, ALP, CN, creatinine, amylase, lipase, CRP, troponin, blood group, urine analysis <u>Drawing and storing a sample:</u> ACA, LA, RF, dsDNA, ENA, ANCA, anti-GBM, B12, homocysteine, hepatitis ABC+HIV serology, ADAMTS13, complement, FACS (MCP) <u>Ruling out comorbidity/condition</u> (does not necessarily have to be performed immediately): echocardiography, cranial, abdominal and chest CT, stool and urine culture + verotoxin, pregnancy test
Transfusion	 Ordering FFP Ordering typed blood THR transfusion is contraindicated except if there is life-threatening haemorrhage
Plasma exchange	 initiated within 6 hours at a dose of 60 ml/kg (FFP content >50%) Daily treatment
Medicinal product	 Methylprednisolone given immediately (1 g/day x3 or 1 mg/kg/day) if: ADAMTS13 <10% (or thr <30 G/L and creatinine <200 umol/L) Folic acid, PPI, LMWH, ASA (if plt>50 G/L) <u>+</u> hepatitis vaccine
Modification of therapy	 Requesting off-label license submission for rituximab if ADAMTS13 <10% and No therapeutic response, extremely severe health condition, exacerbation, relapse In case of initiation of Caplacizumab treatment Requesting permission for complement inhibition treatment if ADAMTS13 >10% Renal function does not improve (creat \$\$\sqrt{25}\$%, after at least 5 PEXs) and aHUS can be confirmed (kidney histology, complement profile+genetic), Secondary cause can be ruled out
End of therapy	 Continuing treatment until CR (plt >150 G/l on at least 2 consecutive days, normal LDH) Gradual tapering of ISU Continuing complement inhibition until kidney CR or maximum improvement

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Figure 5: Recommended care algorithm for paediatric patients

SUSPICION	•	 PAEDIATRIC population: thrombocytopenia + MAHA + acute kidney injury Signs suggestive of the <u>atypical</u> form: absence of diarrhoea or diarrhoea and any of the following: Insidious onset HUS relapse Presumed earlier HUS Prior unexplained anaemia HUS following any organ transplant <u>A</u>synchronous HUS in the family
	•	Routine laboratory test: blood count, smear, INR, PTI, fibrinogen, D-dimer, ASAT, ALAT, LDH, GGT, ALP, CN, creatinine, amylase, lipase, CRP, troponin, blood group, urine analysis
	-	Ruling out STEC-HUS: stool, urine (culture + verotoxin PCR, serology)
	•	<u>Ruling out P-HUS</u> : cultures (blood, pleural fluid, cerebrospinal fluid), PCR, DAT, investigation of T activation
	. •	Ruling out influenza A/H1N1: virus culture, ag test, PCR, serology
DIAGNOSIS	7.	Ruling out TTP: ADAMTS13 activity, anti-ADAMTS13 inhibitor
	.	Ruling out cobalamin C disease: serum: homocysteine \uparrow , methionine \downarrow , methylmalonic aciduria, MMACHC gene
	•	<u>Complement dysregulation</u> : classical and alternative pathway activity, C3, C4, CFH, CFI, CFB, anti- CFH, MCP-expression, complement and THBD genetic analysis
	-	Ruling out DGKe mutation: genetic analysis
	•	Ruling out comorbidity/condition: autoimmune, tumour, TX, SCT
THERAPY Must be started within 24 hours!		Confirmed or very likely aHUS: First-line complement inhibitory treatment If complement inhibitory treatment is not available: PEX according to the paediatric guideline (Octaplas). If there is no haematological response to 5 PEXs and/or the improvement in serum creatinine is <25%, complement inhibitory treatment must be used TTP-USS: Factor VIII product with ADAMTS13 activity (e.g., Type 8Y®) or FFP or Octaplas transfusion TTP inhibitor or aHUS anti-CFH pos.: PEX + immunosuppression Other conditions (STEC-HUS, P-HUS, CbI-C, DGKɛ, secondary cause): condition-specific therapy

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

VII. SUGGESTIONS FOR APPLYING THE RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Conditions of application in Hungarian practice

- Application of the medical guideline and acute care for patients with TTP and HUS may only be performed at accredited healthcare providers with sufficient experience in managing these conditions.

1.1. Competence (e.g. licence, accreditation, etc.) and capacity of careproviders

- In TTP, treatment should be managed by a haematologist experienced in TTP, while in paediatric aHUS, treatment should be managed by a nephrologist experienced in treating HUS. In adult aHUS, treatment should be managed by a haematologist and/or nephrologist experienced in treating the condition.
- Care for patients with prior TTP or HUS and assessment of potential changes in therapy is the responsibility of specialist doctors.
- Treating and providing care for TMA patients is recommended in tertiary centres.
- **1.2.** Special material conditions and organisational matters (obstacles and facilitating factors, the resolution of these factors)
 - Application of the medical guideline and acute care for patients with TTP and HUS may only be performed at accredited healthcare providers with sufficient experience in managing these conditions.

1.3. Patient information, social and cultural circumstances, and individual requirements of patients

— In the course of providing treatment and care for patients with TTP and HUS, continuous patient information, prognosis and risk analysis is necessary (based on the accurate diagnosis, classification and aetiology), which is the responsibility of specialist doctors, with the involvement of a multidisciplinary team if necessary. When providing information to patients, their social and cultural background and individual expectations should be taken into account to the greatest extent possible.

1.4. Other conditions

- List of diagnostic centres
- List of apheresis centres offering continuous care
- List of service providers offering mobile apheresis (for temporary care for ventilated and/or non-transportable patients)
- List of acute dialysis centres
- The funding algorithms for diagnostic tests, specific immunosuppressant and complement-inhibiting therapies and haemosupportivetreatments

2. List of documents to help administration

2.1. Patient information sheet, education materials

- 1. TTP-HUS patient information sheet
- 2. Alexion aHUS patient and parent information booklet.
- **2.2** Verification questionnaires and data sheets to be used when completing the series of activities None.

2.3 Tables

Table 1: TTP and HUS: age-related onset of clinical conditions with a known pathomechanismTable 2: Tests necessary to determine and begin immediate treatment of thrombotic microangiopathies(TTP and HUS) to be performed urgently

Table 3: Tests required for differential diagnosis and the selection of targeted therapy for thrombotic microangiopathies (TTP and HUS)

Table 4: Main clinical conditions to be excluded in the differential diagnosis of TTP and HUS

Table 5: PLASMIC score [38] and FRENCH score [27]

- Table 6: The practice of plasma exchange in TTP
- Table 7: Clinical triad characteristic of HUS
- Table 8: Signs suggestive of atypical HUS

Table 9: Plasma exchange in atypical childhood HUS (The recommendation of the European Paediatric Study Group for HUS)

Table 10: Prophylaxis preceding kidney transplantation

Table 11: Underlying diseases, conditions and treatments in which the developmentofsecondary thrombotic microangiopathies has been described

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

2.4 Algorithms

Figure 1: Annual trends in the number of patients diagnosed with aHUS and TTP at the FüstGyörgy Complement Diagnostic Laboratory of the Department of Internal Medicine and Haematologyof Semmelweis University

Figure 2: Classification of thrombotic microangiopathies

Figure 3: Summary of the diagnostic algorithm and possible modes of therapy for HUS [132]. See the text for detailed explanations. Based on reference no. [15], with modifications. Only the most common forms are indicated in the figure.

Figure 4: Recommended care algorithm for adult patients

Figure 5: Recommended care algorithm for paediatric patients

2.5 Other document

None.

3. Guidelines for practical application, audit criteria

- Changes in the incidence data for confirmed congenital TTP, immune TTP, typical and atypical HUS
- Evolution of morbidity (development of known complications [e.g. stroke], permanent organ damage [e.g. dialysis] or change in work capacity) and mortality in patients with proven congenital TTP, immune TTP, typical and atypical HUS.
- Developments in the kidney transplant of aHUS patients, changes in the average survival time of kidney grafts.
- Changes in the incidence of peripartum thrombotic microangiopathy and how many investigations have been conducted in this regard per year
- Changes in the data for confirmed congenital TTP, immune TTP, typical and atypical HUS relapses
- How many applications for targeted biologics for iTTP and aHUS diagnoses were made, and how long did the approval take

VIII. GUIDELINES REVIEW PLAN

The scheduled medical guideline review process will begin six months prior to its expiry. The experts appointed by the heads of the co-author sections and the working group developing the guideline will jointly review new findings in the literature and changes in the Hungarian healthcare system. Aspects covered by the review include (but are not limited to):

- Review and assessment of the literature on the pathogenesis, symptoms, diagnosis, classification, complications and therapy of TTP and HUS
- Review and assessment of new international guidelines on the treatment of TTP and HUS
- Special questions: Treatment of TTP and HUS during pregnancy, kidney transplantation and HUS
- Review and assessment of changes in specific treatment procedures (plasma therapy, targeted immunosuppressant or complement-inhibiting treatment, additional targeted therapeutic procedures for the treatment of TTP and HUS) and their availability Hungary.

The working group developing the medical guideline may initiate an extraordinary review if a major new fact, evidence or data related to the medical guideline is published in the literature, or if a major change affecting the medical guideline's application occurs in the Hungarian healthcare environment.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

IX. REFERENCES

[1] Scully M, Hunt BJ, Benjamin S, Liesner R, Rose P, Peyvandi F, Cheung B, Machin SJ, British Committee for Standards in H. Guidelines on the diagnosis and management of thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and other thrombotic microangiopathies. *British journal of haematology*. 2012; 158: 323-35. 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2012.09167.x.

[2] Scully M, Cataland S, Coppo P, de la Rubia J, Friedman KD, Kremer Hovinga J, Lammle B, Matsumoto M, Pavenski K, Sadler E, Sarode R, Wu H. Consensus on the standardization of terminology in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and related thrombotic microangiopathies. *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis: JTH*. 2017; 15: 312-22. 10.1111/jth.13571.

[3] Zheng XL, Vesely SK, Cataland SR, Coppo P, Geldziler B, Iorio A, Matsumoto M, Mustafa RA, Pai M, Rock G, Russell L, Tarawneh R, Valdes J, Peyvandi F. ISTH guidelines for the diagnosis of thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis: JTH*. 2020; 18: 2486-95. 10.1111/jth.15006.
[4] Zheng XL, Vesely SK, Cataland SR, Coppo P, Geldziler B, Iorio A, Matsumoto M, Mustafa RA, Pai M, Rock G, Russell L, Tarawneh R, Valdes J, Peyvandi F. ISTH guidelines for treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis: JTH*. 2020; 18: 2496-502. 10.1111/jth.15010.

[5] Zheng XL, Vesely SK, Cataland SR, Coppo P, Geldziler B, Iorio A, Matsumoto M, Mustafa RA, Pai M, Rock G, Russell L, Tarawneh R, Valdes J, Peyvandi F. Good practice statements (GPS) for the clinical care of patients with thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis: JTH*. 2020; 18: 2503-12. 10.1111/jth.15009.

[6] Hughes M, Prescott C, Elliott N, Adler AI. NICE guidance on caplacizumab for treating acute acquired thrombotic thrombocytopenia purpura. *The Lancet Haematology*. 2021; 8: e14-e5. 10.1016/S2352-3026(20)30406-3.

[7] Fox LC, Cohney SJ, Kausman JY, Shortt J, Hughes PD, Wood EM, Isbel NM, de Malmanche T, Durkan A, Hissaria P, Blombery P, Barbour TD. Consensus opinion on diagnosis and management of thrombotic microangiopathy in Australia and New Zealand. *Nephrology (Carlton).* 2018; 23: 507-17. 10.1111/nep.13234.

[8] Matsumoto M, Fujimura Y, Wada H, Kokame K, Miyakawa Y, Ueda Y, Higasa S, Moriki T, Yagi H, Miyata T, Murata M. Diagnostic and treatment guidelines for thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP) 2017 in Japan. *International journal of hematology*. 2017; 106: 3-15. 10.1007/s12185-017-2264-7.

[9] Go RS, Winters JL, Leung N, Murray DL, Willrich MA, Abraham RS, Amer H, Hogan WJ, Marshall AL, Sethi S, Tran CL, Chen D, Pruthi RK, Ashrani AA, Fervenza FC, Cramer CH, 2nd, Rodriguez V, Wolanskyj AP, Thome SD, Hook CC. Thrombotic Microangiopathy Care Pathway: A Consensus Statement for the Mayo Clinic Complement Alternative Pathway-Thrombotic Microangiopathy (CAP-TMA) Disease-Oriented Group. *Mayo Clinic proceedings*. 2016; 91: 1189-211. 10.1016/j.mayocp.2016.05.015.

[10] Cuker A, Cataland SR, Coppo P, de la Rubia J, Friedman KD, George JN, Knoebl PN, Kremer Hovinga JA, Lammle B, Matsumoto M, Pavenski K, Peyvandi F, Sakai K, Sarode R, Thomas MR, Tomiyama Y, Veyradier A, Westwood JP, Scully M. Redefining outcomes in immune TTP: an international working group consensus report. *Blood.* 2021; 137: 1855-61. 10.1182/blood.2020009150.

[11] Sarode R, Bandarenko N, Brecher ME, Kiss JE, Marques MB, Szczepiorkowski ZM, Winters JL. Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: 2012 American Society for Apheresis (ASFA) consensus conference on classification, diagnosis, management, and future research. *J Clin Apher*. 2014; 29: 148-67. 10.1002/jca.21302.

[12] Loirat C, Fakhouri F, Ariceta G, Besbas N, Bitzan M, Bjerre A, Coppo R, Emma F, Johnson S, Karpman D, Landau D, Langman CB, Lapeyraque AL, Licht C, Nester C, Pecoraro C, Riedl M, van de Kar NC, Van de Walle J, Vivarelli M, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, International HUS. An international consensus approach to the management of atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome in children. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2016; 31: 15-39. 10.1007/s00467-015-3076-8.

[13] Salvadori M, Bertoni E. Update on hemolytic uremic syndrome: Diagnostic and therapeutic recommendations. *World J Nephrol.* 2013; 2: 56-76. 10.5527/wjn.v2.i3.56.

[14] Campistol JM, Arias M, Ariceta G, Blasco M, Espinosa M, Grinyo JM, Praga M, Torra R, Vilalta R, Rodriguez de Cordoba S. An update for atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome: diagnosis and treatment. A consensus document. *Nefrologia*. 2013; 33: 27-45. 10.3265/Nefrologia.pre2012.Nov.11781.

[15] Zuber J, Fakhouri F, Roumenina LT, Loirat C, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, French Study Group for a HCG. Use of eculizumab for atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome and C3 glomerulopathies. *Nature reviews Nephrology*. 2012; 8: 643-57. 10.1038/nrneph.2012.214.

[16] Ariceta G, Besbas N, Johnson S, Karpman D, Landau D, Licht C, Loirat C, Pecoraro C, Taylor CM, Van de Kar N, Vandewalle J, Zimmerhackl LB. Guideline for the investigation and initial therapy of diarrheanegative hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2009; 24: 687-96. 10.1007/s00467-008-0964-1.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

[17] Taylor CM, Machin S, Wigmore SJ, Goodship TH, working party from the Renal Association tBCfSiH, the British Transplantation S. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome in the United Kingdom. *British journal of haematology*. 2010; 148: 37-47. 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2009.07916.x.

[18] Johnson S, Stojanovic J, Ariceta G, Bitzan M, Besbas N, Frieling M, Karpman D, Landau D, Langman C, Licht C, Pecoraro C, Riedl M, Siomou E, van de Kar N, Walle JV, Loirat C, Taylor CM. An audit analysis of a guideline for the investigation and initial therapy of diarrhea negative (atypical) hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2014; 29: 1967-78. 10.1007/s00467-014-2817-4.

[19] Loirat C, Fremeaux-Bacchi V. Atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Orphanet J Rare Dis.* 2011; 6: 60. 10.1186/1750-1172-6-60.

[20] Petitt RM. Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: a thirty-year review. *Seminars in thrombosis and hemostasis*. 1980; 6: 350-5. 10.1055/s-2007-1005108.

[21] Joly BS, Coppo P, Veyradier A. An update on pathogenesis and diagnosis of thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Expert review of hematology*. 2019; 12: 383-95. 10.1080/17474086.2019.1611423.

[22] Furlan M, Robles R, Galbusera M, Remuzzi G, Kyrle PA, Brenner B, Krause M, Scharrer I, Aumann V, Mittler U, Solenthaler M, Lammle B. von Willebrand factor-cleaving protease in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and the hemolytic-uremic syndrome. *The New England journal of medicine*. 1998; 339: 1578-84. 10.1056/NEJM199811263392202.

[23] Tsai HM, Lian EC. Antibodies to von Willebrand factor-cleaving protease in acute thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *The New England journal of medicine*. 1998; 339: 1585-94. 10.1056/NEJM199811263392203.

[24] Davis AK, Makar RS, Stowell CP, Kuter DJ, Dzik WH. ADAMTS13 binds to CD36: a potential mechanism for platelet and endothelial localization of ADAMTS13. *Transfusion*. 2009; 49: 206-13. 10.1111/j.1537-2995.2008.01978.x.

[25] Chen X, Cheng X, Zhang S, Wu D. ADAMTS13: An Emerging Target in Stroke Therapy. *Frontiers in neurology*. 2019; 10: 772. 10.3389/fneur.2019.00772.

[26] Sonneveld MA, de Maat MP, Portegies ML, Kavousi M, Hofman A, Turecek PL, Rottensteiner H, Scheiflinger F, Koudstaal PJ, Ikram MA, Leebeek FW. Low ADAMTS13 activity is associated with an increased risk of ischemic stroke. *Blood*. 2015; 126: 2739-46. 10.1182/blood-2015-05-643338.

[27] Coppo P, Schwarzinger M, Buffet M, Wynckel A, Clabault K, Presne C, Poullin P, Malot S, Vanhille P, Azoulay E, Galicier L, Lemiale V, Mira JP, Ridel C, Rondeau E, Pourrat J, Girault S, Bordessoule D, Saheb S, Ramakers M, Hamidou M, Vernant JP, Guidet B, Wolf M, Veyradier A, French Reference Center for Thrombotic M. Predictive features of severe acquired ADAMTS13 deficiency in idiopathic thrombotic microangiopathies: the French TMA reference center experience. *PloS one*. 2010; 5: e10208. 10.1371/journal.pone.0010208.

[28] Scully M, Goodship T. How I treat thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome. *British journal of haematology*. 2014; 164: 759-66. 10.1111/bjh.12718.

[29] Ariceta G, Besbas N, Johnson S, Karpman D, Landau D, Licht C, Loirat C, Pecoraro C, Taylor CM, Van de Kar N, Vandewalle J, Zimmerhackl LB, European Paediatric Study Group for HUS. Guideline for the investigation and initial therapy of diarrhea-negative hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2009; 24: 687-96. 10.1007/s00467-008-0964-1.

[30] Cataland SR, Wu HM. How I treat: the clinical differentiation and initial treatment of adult patients with atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Blood.* 2014; 123: 2478-84. 10.1182/blood-2013-11-516237.

[31] Perez-Rodriguez A, Loures E, Rodriguez-Trillo A, Costa-Pinto J, Garcia-Rivero A, Batlle-Lopez A, Batlle J, Lopez-Fernandez MF. Inherited ADAMTS13 deficiency (Upshaw-Schulman syndrome): a short review. *Thromb Res.* 2014; 134: 1171-5. 10.1016/j.thromres.2014.09.004.

[32] Moatti-Cohen M, Garrec C, Wolf M, Boisseau P, Galicier L, Azoulay E, Stepanian A, Delmas Y, Rondeau E, Bezieau S, Coppo P, Veyradier A, French Reference Center for Thrombotic M. Unexpected frequency of Upshaw-Schulman syndrome in pregnancy-onset thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Blood*. 2012; 119: 5888-97. 10.1182/blood-2012-02-408914.

[33] Alwan F, Vendramin C, Liesner R, Clark A, Lester W, Dutt T, Thomas W, Gooding R, Biss T, Watson HG, Cooper N, Rayment R, Cranfield T, van Veen JJ, Hill QA, Davis S, Motwani J, Bhatnagar N, Priddee N, David M, Crowley MP, Alamelu J, Lyall H, Westwood JP, Thomas M, Scully M. Characterization and treatment of congenital thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Blood.* 2019; 133: 1644-51. 10.1182/blood-2018-11-884700.

[34] Rock G, Clark WF, Anderson D, Benny B, Sutton D, Leblond P, Sternbach M, Sontrop J, Members of the Canadian Apheresis G. ADAMTS-13 may not predict disease or outcome in patients with Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura. *Thromb Res.* 2013; 131: 308-12. 10.1016/j.thromres.2013.01.024.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

[35] George JN. Measuring ADAMTS13 activity in patients with suspected thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: when, how, and why? *Transfusion*. 2015; 55: 11-3. 10.1111/trf.12885.

[36] Mannucci PM, Franchini M. Advantages and limits of ADAMTS13 testing in the prognostic assessment of thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Presse Med.* 2012; 41: e157-62. 10.1016/j.lpm.2011.10.025.

[37] Peyvandi F, Rossio R, Ferrari B, Lotta LA, Pontiggia S, GhiringhelliBorsa N, Pizzuti M, Donadelli R, Piras R, Cugno M, Noris M. Thrombotic microangiopathy without renal involvement: two novel mutations in complement-regulator genes. *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis: JTH.* 2016; 14: 340-5. 10.1111/jth.13210.

[38] Bendapudi PK, Hurwitz S, Fry A, Marques MB, Waldo SW, Li A, Sun L, Upadhyay V, Hamdan A, Brunner AM, Gansner JM, Viswanathan S, Kaufman RM, Uhl L, Stowell CP, Dzik WH, Makar RS. Derivation and external validation of the PLASMIC score for rapid assessment of adults with thrombotic microangiopathies: a cohort study. *The Lancet Haematology*. 2017; 4: e157-e64. 10.1016/S2352-3026(17)30026-1.

[39] Scully M, Gattens M, Khair K, Liesner R. The use of intermediate purity factor VIII concentrate BPL 8Y as prophylaxis and treatment in congenital thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *British journal of haematology*. 2006; 135: 101-4. 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06264.x.

[40] Naik S, Mahoney DH. Successful treatment of congenital TTP with a novel approach using plasmaderived factor VIII. *J PediatrHematol Oncol.* 2013; 35: 551-3. 10.1097/MPH.0b013e3182755c38.

[41] Rock GA, Shumak KH, Buskard NA, Blanchette VS, Kelton JG, Nair RC, Spasoff RA. Comparison of plasma exchange with plasma infusion in the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. Canadian Apheresis Study Group. *The New England journal of medicine*. 1991; 325: 393-7. 10.1056/NEJM199108083250604.

[42] Henon P. [Treatment of thrombotic thrombopenic purpura. Results of a multicenter randomized clinical study]. *Presse Med.* 1991; 20: 1761-7.

[43] Clark WF, Forzley BR, Sontrop JM, Kadri A, Moist LM, Suri RS, Salvadori MI, Garg AX. TTP/HUS: observational studies generate hypotheses that lead to randomized controlled trials. *Kidney international Supplement*. 2009: S50-1. 10.1038/ki.2008.621.

[44] Nguyen L, Li X, Duvall D, Terrell DR, Vesely SK, George JN. Twice-daily plasma exchange for patients with refractory thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: the experience of the Oklahoma Registry, 1989 through 2006. *Transfusion*. 2008; 48: 349-57. 10.1111/j.1537-2995.2007.01530.x.

[45] Paglialonga F, Schmitt CP, Shroff R, Vondrak K, Aufricht C, Watson AR, Ariceta G, Fischbach M, Klaus G, Holtta T, Bakkaloglu SA, Zurowska A, Jankauskiene A, VandeWalle J, Schaefer B, Wright E, Connell R, Edefonti A. Indications, technique, and outcome of therapeutic apheresis in European pediatric nephrology units. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2015; 30: 103-11. 10.1007/s00467-014-2907-3.

[46] Scully M, Longair I, Flynn M, Berryman J, Machin SJ. Cryosupernatant and solvent detergent freshfrozen plasma (Octaplas) usage at a single centre in acute thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Vox Sang.* 2007; 93: 154-8. 10.1111/j.1423-0410.2007.00940.x.

[47] Mintz PD, Neff A, MacKenzie M, Goodnough LT, Hillyer C, Kessler C, McCrae K, Menitove JE, Skikne BS, Damon L, Lopez-Plaza I, Rouault C, Crookston KP, Benjamin RJ, George J, Lin JS, Corash L, Conlan MG. A randomized, controlled Phase III trial of therapeutic plasma exchange with fresh-frozen plasma (FFP) prepared with amotosalen and ultraviolet A light compared to untreated FFP in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Transfusion*. 2006; 46: 1693-704. 10.1111/j.1537-2995.2006.00959.x.

[48] Arroyo, JL, Martínez E, Amunárriz C, Muñoz C, Romón I, Álvarez I, García JM: Methylene bluetreated plasma, versus quarantine fresh frozen plasma, for acute thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura treatment: Comparison between centres and critical review on longitudinal data. Transfus. Apher. Sci. 2020 Aug; 59(4): 102771. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2020.102771

[49] Bandarenko N, Brecher ME. United States Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura Apheresis Study Group (US TTP ASG): multicenter survey and retrospective analysis of current efficacy of therapeutic plasma exchange. *J Clin Apher*. 1998; 13: 133-41.

[50] Balduini CL, Gugliotta L, Luppi M, Laurenti L, Klersy C, Pieresca C, Quintini G, Iuliano F, Re R, Spedini P, Vianelli N, Zaccaria A, Pogliani EM, Musso R, Bobbio Pallavicini E, Quarta G, Galieni P, Fragasso A, Casella G, Noris P, Ascari E, Italian TTPSG. High versus standard dose methylprednisolone in the acute phase of idiopathic thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: a randomized study. *Ann Hematol.* 2010; 89: 591-6. 10.1007/s00277-009-0877-5.

[51] Bell WR, Braine HG, Ness PM, Kickler TS. Improved survival in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura-hemolytic uremic syndrome. Clinical experience in 108 patients. *The New England journal of medicine*. 1991; 325: 398-403. 10.1056/NEJM199108083250605.

[52] Rojnuckarin P, Watanaboonyongcharoen P, Akkawat B, Intragumtornchai T. The role of pulse dexamethasone in acquired idiopathic thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis: JTH*. 2006; 4: 1148-50. 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2006.01879.x.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

[53] Westwood JP, Webster H, McGuckin S, McDonald V, Machin SJ, Scully M. Rituximab for thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: benefit of early administration during acute episodes and use of prophylaxis to prevent relapse. *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis: JTH.* 2013; 11: 481-90. 10.1111/jth.12114.

[54] Tsutsumi Y, Yamamoto Y, Ito S, Ohigashi H, Shiratori S, Naruse H, Teshima T. Hepatitis B virus reactivation with a rituximab-containing regimen. *World J Hepatol.* 2015; 7: 2344-51. 10.4254/wjh.v7.i21.2344.
[55] Yazici O, Sendur MA, Aksoy S. Hepatitis C virus reactivation in cancer patients in the era of targeted therapies. *World J Gastroenterol.* 2014; 20: 6716-24. 10.3748/wjg.v20.i22.6716.

56 Rituximab, alkalmazásielőírat.

[57] Reddy MS, Hofmann S, Shen YM, Nagalla S, Rambally S, Usmani A, Sarode R. Comparison of low fixed dose versus standard-dose rituximab to treat thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura in the acute phase and preemptively during remission. *Transfusion and apheresis science: official journal of the World Apheresis Association : official journal of the European Society for Haemapheresis.* 2020; 59: 102885. 10.1016/j.transci.2020.102885.

[58] Zwicker JI, Muia J, Dolatshahi L, Westfield LA, Nieters P, Rodrigues A, Hamdan A, Antun AG, Metjian A, Sadler JE. Adjuvant low-dose rituximab and plasma exchange for acquired TTP. *Blood.* 2019; 134: 1106-9. 10.1182/blood.2019000795.

[59] Scully M, McDonald V, Cavenagh J, Hunt BJ, Longair I, Cohen H, Machin SJ. A phase 2 study of the safety and efficacy of rituximab with plasma exchange in acute acquired thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Blood.* 2011; 118: 1746-53. 10.1182/blood-2011-03-341131.

[60] Benhamou Y, Paintaud G, Azoulay E, Poullin P, Galicier L, Desvignes C, Baudel JL, Peltier J, Mira JP, Pene F, Presne C, Saheb S, Deligny C, Rousseau A, Feger F, Veyradier A, Coppo P. Efficacy of a rituximab regimen based on B cell depletion in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura with suboptimal response to standard treatment: Results of a phase II, multicenter noncomparative study. *American journal of hematology*. 2016; 91: 1246-51. 10.1002/ajh.24559.

[61] Froissart A, Buffet M, Veyradier A, Poullin P, Provot F, Malot S, Schwarzinger M, Galicier L, Vanhille P, Vernant JP, Bordessoule D, Guidet B, Azoulay E, Mariotte E, Rondeau E, Mira JP, Wynckel A, Clabault K, Choukroun G, Presne C, Pourrat J, Hamidou M, Coppo P, French Thrombotic Microangiopathies Reference C. Efficacy and safety of first-line rituximab in severe, acquired thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura with a suboptimal response to plasma exchange. Experience of the French Thrombotic Microangiopathies Reference Center. *Crit Care Med.* 2012; 40: 104-11. 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31822e9d66.

[62] Beloncle F, Buffet M, Coindre JP, Munoz-Bongrand N, Malot S, Pene F, Mira JP, Galicier L, Guidet B, Baudel JL, Subra JF, Tanguy-Schmidt A, Pourrat J, Azoulay E, Veyradier A, Coppo P, Thrombotic Microangiopathies Reference C. Splenectomy and/or cyclophosphamide as salvage therapies in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: the French TMA Reference Center experience. *Transfusion*. 2012; 52: 2436-44. 10.1111/j.1537-2995.2012.03578.x.

[63] Abou-Ismail MY, Arafah Y, Fu P, Cao S, Schmaier AH, Nayak L. Outcomes of Immune Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura (iTTP) With Upfront Cyclophosphamide vs. Rituximab. *Frontiers in medicine*. 2020; 7: 588526. 10.3389/fmed.2020.588526.

[64] Cataland SR, Peyvandi F, Mannucci PM, Lammle B, Kremer Hovinga JA, Machin SJ, Scully M, Rock G, Gilbert JC, Yang S, Wu H, Jilma B, Knoebl P. Initial experience from a double-blind, placebo-controlled, clinical outcome study of ARC1779 in patients with thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *American journal of hematology*. 2012; 87: 430-2. 10.1002/ajh.23106.

[65] Feys HB, Roodt J, Vandeputte N, Pareyn I, Mottl H, Hou S, Lamprecht S, Van Rensburg WJ, Deckmyn H, Vanhoorelbeke K. Inhibition of von Willebrand factor-platelet glycoprotein Ib interaction prevents and reverses symptoms of acute acquired thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura in baboons. *Blood*. 2012; 120: 3611-4. 10.1182/blood-2012-04-421248.

[66] Holz JB. The TITAN trial--assessing the efficacy and safety of an anti-von Willebrand factor Nanobody in patients with acquired thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Transfusion and apheresis science: official journal of the World Apheresis Association : official journal of the European Society for Haemapheresis.* 2012; 46: 343-6. 10.1016/j.transci.2012.03.027.

[67] Scully M, Cataland SR, Peyvandi F, Coppo P, Knobl P, Kremer Hovinga JA, Metjian A, de la Rubia J, Pavenski K, Callewaert F, Biswas D, De Winter H, Zeldin RK. Caplacizumab Treatment for Acquired Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2019; 380: 335-46. 10.1056/NEJMoa1806311.

[68] Peyvandi F, Scully M, Kremer Hovinga JA, Cataland S, Knobl P, Wu H, Artoni A, Westwood JP, Mansouri Taleghani M, Jilma B, Callewaert F, Ulrichts H, Duby C, Tersago D. Caplacizumab for Acquired Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2016; 374: 511-22. 10.1056/NEJMoa1505533.

[69] Cablivialkalmazásielőirat.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

[70] Volker LA, Kaufeld J, Miesbach W, Brahler S, Reinhardt M, Kuhne L, Muhlfeld A, Schreiber A, Gaedeke J, Tolle M, Jabs WJ, Ozcan F, Markau S, Girndt M, Bauer F, Westhoff TH, Felten H, Hausberg M, Brand M, Gerth J, Bieringer M, Bommer M, Zschiedrich S, Schneider J, Elitok S, Gawlik A, Gackler A, Kribben A, Schwenger V, Schoenermarck U, Roeder M, Radermacher J, Bramstedt J, Morgner A, Herbst R, Harth A, Potthoff SA, von Auer C, Wendt R, Christ H, Brinkkoetter PT, Menne J. ADAMTS13 and VWF activities guide individualized caplacizumab treatment in patients with aTTP. *Blood advances*. 2020; 4: 3093-101. 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020001987.

[71] Volker LA, Brinkkoetter PT, Knobl PN, Krstic M, Kaufeld J, Menne J, Buxhofer-Ausch V, Miesbach W. Treatment of acquired thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura without plasma exchange in selected patients under caplacizumab. *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis: JTH*. 2020; 18: 3061-6. 10.1111/jth.15045.

[72] Bobbio-Pallavicini E, Gugliotta L, Centurioni R, Porta C, Vianelli N, Billio A, Tacconi F, Ascari E. Antiplatelet agents in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP). Results of a randomized multicenter trial by the Italian Cooperative Group for TTP. *Haematologica*. 1997; 82: 429-35.

[73] Zakarija A, Kwaan HC, Moake JL, Bandarenko N, Pandey DK, McKoy JM, Yarnold PR, Raisch DW, Winters JL, Raife TJ, Cursio JF, Luu TH, Richey EA, Fisher MJ, Ortel TL, Tallman MS, Zheng XL, Matsumoto M, Fujimura Y, Bennett CL. Ticlopidine- and clopidogrel-associated thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP): review of clinical, laboratory, epidemiological, and pharmacovigilance findings (1989-2008). *Kidney international Supplement*. 2009: S20-4. 10.1038/ki.2008.613.

[74] Jacob S, Dunn BL, Qureshi ZP, Bandarenko N, Kwaan HC, Pandey DK, McKoy JM, Barnato SE, Winters JL, Cursio JF, Weiss I, Raife TJ, Carey PM, Sarode R, Kiss JE, Danielson C, Ortel TL, Clark WF, Rock G, Matsumoto M, Fujimura Y, Zheng XL, Chen H, Chen F, Armstrong JM, Raisch DW, Bennett CL. Ticlopidine-, clopidogrel-, and prasugrel-associated thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: a 20-year review from the Southern Network on Adverse Reactions (SONAR). *Seminars in thrombosis and hemostasis*. 2012; 38: 845-53. 10.1055/s-0032-1328894.

[75] Kappers-Klunne MC, Wijermans P, Fijnheer R, Croockewit AJ, van der Holt B, de Wolf JT, Lowenberg B, Brand A. Splenectomy for the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *British journal of haematology*. 2005; 130: 768-76. 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05681.x.

[76] Goel R, Ness PM, Takemoto CM, Krishnamurti L, King KE, Tobian AA. Platelet transfusions in platelet consumptive disorders are associated with arterial thrombosis and in-hospital mortality. *Blood.* 2015; 125: 1470-6. 10.1182/blood-2014-10-605493.

[77] Otrock ZK, Liu C, Grossman BJ. Platelet transfusion in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Vox Sang.* 2015; 109: 168-72. 10.1111/vox.12274.

[78] Hie M, Gay J, Galicier L, Provot F, Presne C, Poullin P, Bonmarchand G, Wynckel A, Benhamou Y, Vanhille P, Servais A, Bordessoule D, Coindre JP, Hamidou M, Vernant JP, Veyradier A, Coppo P, French Thrombotic Microangiopathies Reference C. Preemptive rituximab infusions after remission efficiently prevent relapses in acquired thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Blood.* 2014; 124: 204-10. 10.1182/blood-2014-01-550244.

[79] Lim W, Vesely SK, George JN. The role of rituximab in the management of patients with acquired thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Blood*. 2015; 125: 1526-31. 10.1182/blood-2014-10-559211.

[80] Peyvandi F, Lavoretano S, Palla R, Feys HB, Vanhoorelbeke K, Battaglioli T, Valsecchi C, Canciani MT, Fabris F, Zver S, Reti M, Mikovic D, Karimi M, Giuffrida G, Laurenti L, Mannucci PM. ADAMTS13 and anti-ADAMTS13 antibodies as markers for recurrence of acquired thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura during remission. *Haematologica*. 2008; 93: 232-9. 10.3324/haematol.11739.

[81] Sui J, Cao W, Halkidis K, Abdelgawwad MS, Kocher NK, Guillory B, Williams LA, Gangaraju R, Marques MB, Zheng XL. Longitudinal assessments of plasma ADAMTS13 biomarkers predict recurrence of immune thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Blood advances*. 2019; 3: 4177-86. 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019000939.

[82] Upreti H, Kasmani J, Dane K, Braunstein EM, Streiff MB, Shanbhag S, Moliterno AR, Sperati CJ, Gottesman RF, Brodsky RA, Kickler TS, Chaturvedi S. Reduced ADAMTS13 activity during TTP remission is associated with stroke in TTP survivors. *Blood*. 2019; 134: 1037-45. 10.1182/blood.2019001056.

[83] Tsai HM. The kidney in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Minerva Med.* 2007; 98: 731-47.

[84] Han B, Page EE, Stewart LM, Deford CC, Scott JG, Schwartz LH, Perdue JJ, Terrell DR, Vesely SK, George JN. Depression and cognitive impairment following recovery from thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *American journal of hematology*. 2015; 90: 709-14. 10.1002/ajh.24060.

[85] Scully M, Knobl P, Kentouche K, Rice L, Windyga J, Schneppenheim R, Kremer Hovinga JA, Kajiwara M, Fujimura Y, Maggiore C, Doralt J, Hibbard C, Martell L, Ewenstein B. Recombinant ADAMTS-13: first-in-human pharmacokinetics and safety in congenital thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Blood*. 2017; 130: 2055-63. 10.1182/blood-2017-06-788026.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

[86] Tersteeg C, Schiviz A, De Meyer SF, Plaimauer B, Scheiflinger F, Rottensteiner H, Vanhoorelbeke K. Potential for Recombinant ADAMTS13 as an Effective Therapy for Acquired Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology.* 2015; 35: 2336-42. 10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.306014.

[87] Plaimauer B, Kremer Hovinga JA, Juno C, Wolfsegger MJ, Skalicky S, Schmidt M, Grillberger L, Hasslacher M, Knobl P, Ehrlich H, Scheiflinger F. Recombinant ADAMTS13 normalizes von Willebrand factorcleaving activity in plasma of acquired TTP patients by overriding inhibitory antibodies. *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis: JTH.* 2011; 9: 936-44. 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04224.x.

[88] Jian C, Xiao J, Gong L, Skipwith CG, Jin SY, Kwaan HC, Zheng XL. Gain-of-function ADAMTS13 variants that are resistant to autoantibodies against ADAMTS13 in patients with acquired thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Blood*. 2012; 119: 3836-43. 10.1182/blood-2011-12-399501.

[89] Prasannan N, Scully M. Novel antiplatelet strategies targeting VWF and GPIb. *Platelets*. 2021; 32: 42-6. 10.1080/09537104.2020.1786038.

90 Ponce AT, Hong KL. A Mini-Review: Clinical Development and Potential of Aptamers for Thrombotic Events Treatment and Monitoring. *Biomedicines*. 2019; 7. 10.3390/biomedicines7030055.

[91] Li BX, Dai X, Xu XR, Adili R, Neves MAD, Lei X, Shen C, Zhu G, Wang Y, Zhou H, Hou Y, Ni T, Pasman Y, Yang Z, Qian F, Zhao Y, Gao Y, Liu J, Teng M, Marshall AH, Cerenzia EG, Li ML, Ni H. In vitro assessment and phase I randomized clinical trial of anfibatide a snake venom derived anti-thrombotic agent targeting human platelet GPIbalpha. *Scientific reports*. 2021; 11: 11663. 10.1038/s41598-021-91165-8.

[92] Tersteeg C, Roodt J, Van Rensburg WJ, Dekimpe C, Vandeputte N, Pareyn I, Vandenbulcke A, Plaimauer B, Lamprecht S, Deckmyn H, Lopez JA, De Meyer SF, Vanhoorelbeke K. N-acetylcysteine in preclinical mouse and baboon models of thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Blood*. 2017; 129: 1030-8. 10.1182/blood-2016-09-738856.

[93] Patriquin CJ, Thomas MR, Dutt T, McGuckin S, Blombery PA, Cranfield T, Westwood JP, Scully M. Bortezomib in the treatment of refractory thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *British journal of haematology*. 2016; 173: 779-85. 10.1111/bjh.13993.

 [94] Westwood JP, Langley K, Heelas E, Machin SJ, Scully M. Complement and cytokine response in acute Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura. *British journal of haematology*. 2014; 164: 858-66. 10.1111/bjh.12707.
 [95] Turner NA, Moake J. Assembly and activation of alternative complement components on endothelial

cell-anchored ultra-large von Willebrand factor links complement and hemostasis-thrombosis. *PloS one*. 2013; 8: e59372. 10.1371/journal.pone.0059372.

[96] Reti M, Farkas P, Csuka D, Razso K, Schlammadinger A, Udvardy ML, Madach K, Domjan G, Bereczki C, Reusz GS, Szabo AJ, Prohaszka Z. Complement activation in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis: JTH*. 2012; 10: 791-8. 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2012.04674.x.

[97] Vigna E, Petrungaro A, Perri A, Terzi D, Recchia AG, Mendicino F, La Russa A, Bossio S, De Stefano L, Zinno F, Bonofiglio R, Morabito F, Gentile M. Efficacy of eculizumab in severe ADAMTS13-deficient thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP) refractory to standard therapies. *Transfusion and apheresis science: official journal of the World Apheresis Association : official journal of the European Society for Haemapheresis.* 2018; 57: 247-9. 10.1016/j.transci.2018.03.005.

[98] Bellomo R, Ronco C, Kellum JA, Mehta RL, Palevsky P. Acute renal failure - definition, outcome measures, animal models, fluid therapy and information technology needs: the Second International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. *Crit Care*. 2004; 8: R204-12. 10.1186/cc2872.

[99] Joseph A, Cointe A, MarianiKurkdjian P, Rafat C, Hertig A. Shiga Toxin-Associated Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome: A Narrative Review. *Toxins*. 2020; 12. 10.3390/toxins12020067.

[100] Rock G, Clark W, Sternbach M, Kolajova M, McLaine P. Haemolytic uraemic syndrome is an immunemediated disease: role of anti-CD36 antibodies. *British journal of haematology*. 2005; 131: 247-52. 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05761.x.

[101] Kielstein JT, Beutel G, Fleig S, Steinhoff J, Meyer TN, Hafer C, Kuhlmann U, Bramstedt J, Panzer U, Vischedyk M, Busch V, Ries W, Mitzner S, Mees S, Stracke S, Nurnberger J, Gerke P, Wiesner M, Sucke B, Abu-Tair M, Kribben A, Klause N, Schindler R, Merkel F, Schnatter S, Dorresteijn EM, Samuelsson O, Brunkhorst R, Collaborators of the DS-HUSr. Best supportive care and therapeutic plasma exchange with or without eculizumab in Shiga-toxin-producing E. coli O104:H4 induced haemolytic-uraemic syndrome: an analysis of the German STEC-HUS registry. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation: official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association.* 2012; 27: 3807-15. 10.1093/ndt/gfs394.

[102] Kakoullis L, Papachristodoulou E, Chra P, Panos G. Shiga toxin-induced haemolytic uraemic syndrome and the role of antibiotics: a global overview. *The Journal of infection*. 2019; 79: 75-94. 10.1016/j.jinf.2019.05.018.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

[103] Dundas S, Todd WT, Stewart AI, Murdoch PS, Chaudhuri AK, Hutchinson SJ. The central Scotland Escherichia coli O157:H7 outbreak: risk factors for the hemolytic uremic syndrome and death among hospitalized patients. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2001; 33: 923-31. 10.1086/322598.

[104] Menne J, Nitschke M, Stingele R, Abu-Tair M, Beneke J, Bramstedt J, Bremer JP, Brunkhorst R, Busch V, Dengler R, Deuschl G, Fellermann K, Fickenscher H, Gerigk C, Goettsche A, Greeve J, Hafer C, Hagenmuller F, Haller H, Herget-Rosenthal S, Hertenstein B, Hofmann C, Lang M, Kielstein JT, Klostermeier UC, Knobloch J, Kuehbacher M, Kunzendorf U, Lehnert H, Manns MP, Menne TF, Meyer TN, Michael C, Munte T, Neumann-Grutzeck C, Nuernberger J, Pavenstaedt H, Ramazan L, Renders L, Repenthin J, Ries W, Rohr A, Rump LC, Samuelsson O, Sayk F, Schmidt BM, Schnatter S, Schocklmann H, Schreiber S, von Seydewitz CU, Steinhoff J, Stracke S, Suerbaum S, van de Loo A, Vischedyk M, Weissenborn K, Wellhoner P, Wiesner M, Zeissig S, Buning J, Schiffer M, Kuehbacher T, consortium E-H. Validation of treatment strategies for enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli O104:H4 induced haemolytic uraemic syndrome: case-control study. *BMJ*. 2012; 345: e4565. 10.1136/bmj.e4565.

[105] Kemper MJ. Outbreak of hemolytic uremic syndrome caused by E. coli O104:H4 in Germany: a pediatric perspective. *Pediatr Nephrol*. 2012; 27: 161-4. 10.1007/s00467-011-2067-7.

[106] Loos S, Ahlenstiel T, Kranz B, Staude H, Pape L, Hartel C, Vester U, Buchtala L, Benz K, Hoppe B, Beringer O, Krause M, Muller D, Pohl M, Lemke J, Hillebrand G, Kreuzer M, Konig J, Wigger M, Konrad M, Haffner D, Oh J, Kemper MJ. An outbreak of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli O104:H4 hemolytic uremic syndrome in Germany: presentation and short-term outcome in children. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2012; 55: 753-9. 10.1093/cid/cis531.

[107] Monet-Didailler C, Chevallier A, Godron-Dubrasquet A, Allard L, Delmas Y, Contin-Bordes C, Brissaud O, Llanas B, Harambat J. Outcome of children with Shiga toxin-associated haemolytic uraemic syndrome treated with eculizumab: a matched cohort study. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation: official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association.* 2020; 35: 2147-53. 10.1093/ndt/gfz158.

[108] Scobell RR, Kaplan BS, Copelovitch L. New insights into the pathogenesis of Streptococcus pneumoniae-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol*. 2020; 35: 1585-91. 10.1007/s00467-019-04342-3.

[109] Meinel C, Sparta G, Dahse HM, Horhold F, Konig R, Westermann M, Coldewey SM, Cseresnyes Z, Figge MT, Hammerschmidt S, Skerka C, Zipfel PF. Streptococcus pneumoniae From Patients WithHemolytic Uremic Syndrome Binds Human Plasminogen via the Surface Protein PspC and Uses Plasmin to Damage Human Endothelial Cells. *The Journal of infectious diseases*. 2018; 217: 358-70. 10.1093/infdis/jix305.

[110] Holle J, Habbig S, Gratopp A, Mauritsch A, Muller D, Thumfart J. Complement activation in children with Streptococcus pneumoniae associated hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2021; 36: 1311-5. 10.1007/s00467-021-04952-w.

[111] Szilagyi A, Kiss N, Bereczki C, Talosi G, Racz K, Turi S, Gyorke Z, Simon E, Horvath E, Kelen K, Reusz GS, Szabo AJ, Tulassay T, Prohaszka Z. The role of complement in Streptococcus pneumoniae-associated haemolytic uraemic syndrome. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation: official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association.* 2013; 28: 2237-45. 10.1093/ndt/gft198.

[112] Petras ML, Dunbar NM, Filiano JJ, Braga MS, Chobanian MC, Szczepiorkowski ZM. Therapeutic plasma exchange in Streptococcus pneumoniae-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome: a case report. *J Clin Apher*. 2012; 27: 212-4. 10.1002/jca.21208.

[113] Hopkins CK, Yuan S, Lu Q, Ziman A, Goldfinger D. A severe case of atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome associated with pneumococcal infection and T activation treated successfully with plasma exchange. *Transfusion*. 2008; 48: 2448-52. 10.1111/j.1537-2995.2008.01871.x.

[114] Waters AM, Kerecuk L, Luk D, Haq MR, Fitzpatrick MM, Gilbert RD, Inward C, Jones C, Pichon B, Reid C, Slack MP, Van't Hoff W, Dillon MJ, Taylor CM, Tullus K. Hemolytic uremic syndrome associated with invasive pneumococcal disease: the United kingdom experience. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2007; 151: 140-4. 10.1016/j.jpeds.2007.03.055.

[115] Wang XL, Du Y, Zhao CG, Wu YB, Yang N, Pei L, Wang LJ, Wang QS. Streptococcal pneumoniaassociated hemolytic uremic syndrome treated by T-antibody-negative plasma exchange in children: Two case reports. *World journal of clinical cases*. 2021; 9: 8164-70. 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i27.8164.

[116] Bitzan M, Zieg J. Influenza-associated thrombotic microangiopathies. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2018; 33: 2009-25. 10.1007/s00467-017-3783-4.

[117] Fakhouri F, Zuber J, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Loirat C. Haemolytic uraemic syndrome. *Lancet*. 2017; 390: 681-96. 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30062-4.

[118] Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Fakhouri F, Garnier A, Bienaime F, Dragon-Durey MA, Ngo S, Moulin B, Servais A, Provot F, Rostaing L, Burtey S, Niaudet P, Deschenes G, Lebranchu Y, Zuber J, Loirat C. Genetics and

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

outcome of atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome: a nationwide French series comparing children and adults. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology: CJASN.* 2013; 8: 554-62. 10.2215/CJN.04760512.

[119] Noris M, Caprioli J, Bresin E, Mossali C, Pianetti G, Gamba S, Daina E, Fenili C, Castelletti F, Sorosina A, Piras R, Donadelli R, Maranta R, van der Meer I, Conway EM, Zipfel PF, Goodship TH, Remuzzi G. Relative role of genetic complement abnormalities in sporadic and familial aHUS and their impact on clinical phenotype. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology: CJASN.* 2010; 5: 1844-59. 10.2215/CJN.02210310.

[120] Schaefer F, Ardissino G, Ariceta G, Fakhouri F, Scully M, Isbel N, Lommele A, Kupelian V, Gasteyger C, Greenbaum LA, Johnson S, Ogawa M, Licht C, VandeWalle J, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Global a HUSR. Clinical and genetic predictors of atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome phenotype and outcome. *Kidney international*. 2018; 94: 408-18. 10.1016/j.kint.2018.02.029.

[121] Zuber J, Frimat M, Caillard S, Kamar N, Gatault P, Petitprez F, Couzi L, Jourde-Chiche N, Chatelet V, Gaisne R, Bertrand D, Bamoulid J, Louis M, SberroSoussan R, Navarro D, Westeel PF, Frimat L, Colosio C, Thierry A, Rivalan J, Albano L, Arzouk N, Cornec-Le Gall E, Claisse G, Elias M, El Karoui K, Chauvet S, Coindre JP, Rerolle JP, Tricot L, Sayegh J, Garrouste C, Charasse C, Delmas Y, Massy Z, Hourmant M, Servais A, Loirat C, Fakhouri F, Pouteil-Noble C, Peraldi MN, Legendre C, Rondeau E, Le Quintrec M, Fremeaux-Bacchi V. Use of Highly Individualized Complement Blockade Has Revolutionized Clinical Outcomes after Kidney Transplantation and Renal Epidemiology of Atypical Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN*. 2019; 30: 2449-63. 10.1681/ASN.2019040331.

[122] Demeulenaere M, Devreese K, Vanbelleghem H, De Zaeytijd J, VandeWalle J, Van Biesen W, Van Laecke S. Thrombomodulin and Endothelial Dysfunction: A Disease-Modifier Shared between Malignant Hypertension and Atypical Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome. *Nephron.* 2018; 140: 63-73. 10.1159/000490201.

[123] Bu F, Maga T, Meyer NC, Wang K, Thomas CP, Nester CM, Smith RJ. Comprehensive genetic analysis of complement and coagulation genes in atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN*. 2014; 25: 55-64. 10.1681/ASN.2013050453.

[124] Blanc C, Togarsimalemath SK, Chauvet S, Le Quintrec M, Moulin B, Buchler M, Jokiranta TS, Roumenina LT, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Dragon-Durey MA. Anti-factor H autoantibodies in C3 glomerulopathies and in atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome: one target, two diseases. *J Immunol.* 2015; 194: 5129-38. 10.4049/jimmunol.1402770.

[125] Beck BB, van Spronsen F, Diepstra A, Berger RM, Komhoff M. Renal thrombotic microangiopathy in patients with cblC defect: review of an under-recognized entity. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2017; 32: 733-41. 10.1007/s00467-016-3399-0.

[126] Komhoff M, Roofthooft MT, Westra D, Teertstra TK, Losito A, van de Kar NC, Berger RM. Combined pulmonary hypertension and renal thrombotic microangiopathy in cobalamin C deficiency. *Pediatrics*. 2013; 132: e540-4. 10.1542/peds.2012-2581.

[127] Cornec-Le Gall E, Delmas Y, De Parscau L, Doucet L, Ogier H, Benoist JF, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Le Meur Y. Adult-onset eculizumab-resistant hemolytic uremic syndrome associated with cobalamin C deficiency. *American journal of kidney diseases: the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. 2014; 63: 119-23. 10.1053/j.ajkd.2013.08.031.

[128] Tadakamalla AK, Talluri SK, Besur S. Pseudo-thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: A rare presentation of pernicious anemia. *N Am J Med Sci*. 2011; 3: 472-4. 10.4297/najms.2011.3472.

[129] Lemaire M, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Schaefer F, Choi M, Tang WH, Le Quintrec M, Fakhouri F, Taque S, Nobili F, Martinez F, Ji W, Overton JD, Mane SM, Nurnberg G, Altmuller J, Thiele H, Morin D, Deschenes G, Baudouin V, Llanas B, Collard L, Majid MA, Simkova E, Nurnberg P, Rioux-Leclerc N, Moeckel GW, Gubler MC, Hwa J, Loirat C, Lifton RP. Recessive mutations in DGKE cause atypical hemolytic-uremic syndrome. *Nat Genet*. 2013; 45: 531-6. 10.1038/ng.2590.

[130] Azukaitis K, Simkova E, Majid MA, Galiano M, Benz K, Amann K, Bockmeyer C, Gajjar R, Meyers KE, Cheong HI, Lange-Sperandio B, Jungraithmayr T, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Bergmann C, Bereczki C, Miklaszewska M, Csuka D, Prohaszka Z, Killen P, Gipson P, Sampson MG, Lemaire M, Schaefer F. The Phenotypic Spectrum of Nephropathies Associated with Mutations in Diacylglycerol Kinase epsilon. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN*. 2017; 28: 3066-75. 10.1681/ASN.2017010031.

[131] Sanchez Chinchilla D, Pinto S, Hoppe B, Adragna M, Lopez L, Justa Roldan ML, Pena A, Lopez Trascasa M, Sanchez-Corral P, Rodriguez de Cordoba S. Complement mutations in diacylglycerol kinaseepsilon-associated atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology: CJASN*. 2014; 9: 1611-9. 10.2215/CJN.01640214.

[132] Fakhouri F, Fremeaux-Bacchi V. Thrombotic microangiopathy in aHUS and beyond: clinical clues from complement genetics. *Nature reviews Nephrology*. 2021; 17: 543-53. 10.1038/s41581-021-00424-4.

[133] Szarvas N, Szilagyi A, Csuka D, Takacs B, Rusai K, Muller T, Arbeiter K, Reti M, Haris A, Wagner L, Torok S, Kelen K, Szabo AJ, Reusz GS, Morgan BP, Prohaszka Z. Genetic analysis and functional

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

characterization of novel mutations in a series of patients with atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Molecular immunology*. 2016; 71: 10-22. 10.1016/j.molimm.2016.01.003.

[134] Prohaszka Z. A hemolitikusurémiásszindrómaés a trombotikusthrombocytopeniás purpura molekulárisszemléletűklasszifikációjaésdiagnosztikájukaktuáliskérdései. *OrvosiHetilap*. 2008: 1251-61.

[135] Wijnsma KL, Duineveld C, Wetzels JFM, van de Kar N. Eculizumab in atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome: strategies toward restrictive use. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2019; 34: 2261-77. 10.1007/s00467-018-4091-3.

[136] Rock G, Shumak K, Kelton J, Blanchette VS, Buskard N, Nair R, Spasoff R. Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: outcome in 24 patients with renal impairment treated with plasma exchange. Canadian Apheresis Study Group. *Transfusion*. 1992; 32: 710-4.

[137] Eculizumab, alkalmazásielőírat. 2021.

[138] Ravulizumabalkalmazásielőirat. 2021.

[139] Ariceta G, Dixon BP, Kim SH, Kapur G, Mauch T, Ortiz S, Vallee M, Denker AE, Kang HG, Greenbaum LA, Study G. The long-acting C5 inhibitor, ravulizumab, is effective and safe in pediatric patients with atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome naive to complement inhibitor treatment. *Kidney international*. 2021; 100: 225-37. 10.1016/j.kint.2020.10.046.

[140] Syed YY. Ravulizumab: A Review in Atypical Haemolytic Uraemic Syndrome. *Drugs*. 2021; 81: 587-94. 10.1007/s40265-021-01481-6.

[141] Hallstensen RF, Bergseth G, Foss S, Jaeger S, Gedde-Dahl T, Holt J, Christiansen D, Lau C, Brekke OL, Armstrong E, Stefanovic V, Andersen JT, Sandlie I, Mollnes TE. Eculizumab treatment during pregnancy does not affect the complement system activity of the newborn. *Immunobiology*. 2015; 220: 452-9. 10.1016/j.imbio.2014.11.003.

[142] Duineveld C, Wijnsma KL, Volokhina EB, van den Heuvel LPB, van de Kar N, Wetzels JFM. Placental passage of eculizumab and complement blockade in a newborn. *Kidney international*. 2019; 95: 996. 10.1016/j.kint.2019.01.012.

[143] Passot C, Sberro-Soussan R, Bertrand D, Caillard S, Schvartz B, Domenger C, Contin-Bordes C, Paintaud G, Halimi JM, Ternant D, Gatault P. Feasibility and safety of tailored dosing schedule for eculizumab based on therapeutic drug monitoring: Lessons from a prospective multicentric study. *British journal of clinical pharmacology*. 2021; 87: 2236-46. 10.1111/bcp.14627.

[144] Volokhina E, Wijnsma K, van der Molen R, Roeleveld N, van der Velden T, Goertz J, Sweep F, Bruggemann RJ, Wetzels J, van de Kar N, van den Heuvel L. Eculizumab Dosing Regimen in Atypical HUS: Possibilities for Individualized Treatment. *Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics*. 2017; 102: 671-8. 10.1002/cpt.686.

[145] Walle JV, Delmas Y, Ardissino G, Wang J, Kincaid JF, Haller H. Improved renal recovery in patients with atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome following rapid initiation of eculizumab treatment. *Journal of nephrology*. 2017; 30: 127-34. 10.1007/s40620-016-0288-3.

[146] Sevinc M, Basturk T, Sahutoglu T, Sakaci T, Koc Y, Ahbap E, Akgol C, Kara E, Brocklebank V, Goodship TH, Kavanagh D, Unsal A. Plasma resistant atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome associated with a CFH mutation treated with eculizumab: a case report. *J Med Case Rep.* 2015; 9: 92. 10.1186/s13256-015-0575y.

[147] Ardissino G, Testa S, Possenti I, Tel F, Paglialonga F, Salardi S, Tedeschi S, Belingheri M, Cugno M. Discontinuation of eculizumab maintenance treatment for atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome: a report of 10 cases. *American journal of kidney diseases: the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. 2014; 64: 633-7. 10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.01.434.

Fakhouri F, Fila M, Hummel A, Ribes D, Sellier-Leclerc AL, Ville S, Pouteil-Noble C, Coindre JP, Le [148] Quintrec M, Rondeau E, Boyer O, Provot F, Djeddi D, Hanf W, Delmas Y, Louillet F, Lahoche A, Favre G, Chatelet V, Launay EA, Presne C, Zaloszyc A, Caillard S, Bally S, Raimbourg Q, Tricot L, Mousson C, Le Thuaut A, Loirat C, Fremeaux-Bacchi V. Eculizumab discontinuation in children and adults with atypical hemolvtic-uremic syndrome: prospective multicenter study. а Blood. 2021: 137: 2438-49. 10.1182/blood.2020009280.

[149] Neto ME, de Moraes Soler L, Vasconcelos HVG, Nga HS, Bravin AM, Borges JCA, Goncalves RC, Von Kriiger RB, Quinino RM, de Mello Santana VBB, de Holanda MI, Vaisbich MH, Naseri AP, Kirsztajn GM, Palma LMP, Andrade LGM. Eculizumab interruption in atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome due to shortage: analysis of a Brazilian cohort. *Journal of nephrology*. 2021; 34: 1373-80. 10.1007/s40620-020-00920-z.

[150] Brambilla M, Ardissino G, Paglialonga F, Testa S, Capone V, Montini G. Haemoglobinuria for the early identification of aHUS relapse: data from the ItalKId-HUS Network. *Journal of nephrology*. 2021. 10.1007/s40620-021-00965-8.

[151] Fakhouri F, Fila M, Provot F, Delmas Y, Barbet C, Chatelet V, Rafat C, Cailliez M, Hogan J, Servais A, Karras A, Makdassi R, Louillet F, Coindre JP, Rondeau E, Loirat C, Fremeaux-Bacchi V. Pathogenic Variants in Complement Genes and Risk of Atypical Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome Relapse after Eculizumab

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Discontinuation. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology: CJASN.* 2017; 12: 50-9. 10.2215/CJN.06440616.

[152] Klambt V, Gimpel C, Bald M, Gerken C, Billing H, Loos S, Hansen M, Konig J, Vinke T, Montoya C, Lange-Sperandio B, Kirschstein M, Hennies I, Pohl M, Haffner K. Different approaches to long-term treatment of aHUS due to MCP mutations: a multicenter analysis. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2021; 36: 463-71. 10.1007/s00467-020-04714-0.

[153] Brocklebank V, Kumar G, Howie AJ, Chandar J, Milford DV, Craze J, Evans J, Finlay E, Freundlich M, Gale DP, Inward C, Mraz M, Jones C, Wong W, Marks SD, Connolly J, Corner BM, Smith-Jackson K, Walsh PR, Marchbank KJ, Harris CL, Wilson V, Wong EKS, Malina M, Johnson S, Sheerin NS, Kavanagh D. Long-term outcomes and response to treatment in diacylglycerol kinase epsilon nephropathy. *Kidney international*. 2020; 97: 1260-74. 10.1016/j.kint.2020.01.045.

[154] Roth A, Nishimura JI, Nagy Z, Gaal-Weisinger J, Panse J, Yoon SS, Egyed M, Ichikawa S, Ito Y, Kim JS, Ninomiya H, Schrezenmeier H, Sica S, Usuki K, Sicre de Fontbrune F, Soret J, Sostelly A, Higginson J, Dieckmann A, Gentile B, Anzures-Cabrera J, Shinomiya K, Jordan G, Biedzka-Sarek M, Klughammer B, Jahreis A, Bucher C, Peffault de Latour R. The complement C5 inhibitor crovalimab in paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. *Blood*. 2020; 135: 912-20. 10.1182/blood.2019003399.

[155] Hoy SM. Pegcetacoplan: First Approval. Drugs. 2021; 81: 1423-30. 10.1007/s40265-021-01560-8.

[156] Risitano AM, Roth A, Soret J, Frieri C, de Fontbrune FS, Marano L, Alashkar F, Benajiba L, Marotta S, Rozenberg I, Milojevic J, End P, Nidamarthy PK, Junge G, Peffault de Latour R. Addition of iptacopan, an oral factor B inhibitor, to eculizumab in patients with paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria and active haemolysis: an open-label, single-arm, phase 2, proof-of-concept trial. *The Lancet Haematology*. 2021; 8: e344-e54. 10.1016/S2352-3026(21)00028-4.

[157] Sinha A, Gulati A, Saini S, Blanc C, Gupta A, Gurjar BS, Saini H, Kotresh ST, Ali U, Bhatia D, Ohri A, Kumar M, Agarwal I, Gulati S, Anand K, Vijayakumar M, Sinha R, Sethi S, Salmona M, George A, Bal V, Singh G, Dinda AK, Hari P, Rath S, Dragon-Durey MA, Bagga A, Indian HUSR. Prompt plasma exchanges and immunosuppressive treatment improves the outcomes of anti-factor H autoantibody-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome in children. *Kidney international*. 2014; 85: 1151-60. 10.1038/ki.2013.373.

[158] Diamante Chiodini B, Davin JC, Corazza F, Khaldi K, Dahan K, Ismaili K, Adams B. Eculizumab in anti-factor h antibodies associated with atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Pediatrics*. 2014; 133: e1764-8. 10.1542/peds.2013-1594.

[159] Pape L, Ahlenstiel T, Kreuzer M, Drube J, Froede K, Franke D, Ehrich JH, Haubitz M. Early erythropoietin reduced the need for red blood cell transfusion in childhood hemolytic uremic syndrome: a randomized prospective pilot trial. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2009; 24: 1061-4. 10.1007/s00467-008-1087-4.

[160] Le Quintrec M, Zuber J, Moulin B, Kamar N, Jablonski M, Lionet A, Chatelet V, Mousson C, Mourad G, Bridoux F, Cassuto E, Loirat C, Rondeau E, Delahousse M, Fremeaux-Bacchi V. Complement genes strongly predict recurrence and graft outcome in adult renal transplant recipients with atypical hemolytic and uremic syndrome. *Am J Transplant*. 2013; 13: 663-75. 10.1111/ajt.12077.

[161] Bresin E, Daina E, Noris M, Castelletti F, Stefanov R, Hill P, Goodship TH, Remuzzi G, International Registry of R, Familial HT. Outcome of renal transplantation in patients with non-Shiga toxin-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome: prognostic significance of genetic background. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology: CJASN*. 2006; 1: 88-99. 10.2215/CJN.00050505.

[162] Sellier-Leclerc AL, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Dragon-Durey MA, Macher MA, Niaudet P, Guest G, Boudailliez B, Bouissou F, Deschenes G, Gie S, Tsimaratos M, Fischbach M, Morin D, Nivet H, Alberti C, Loirat C, French Society of Pediatric N. Differential impact of complement mutations on clinical characteristics in atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN.* 2007; 18: 2392-400. 10.1681/ASN.2006080811.

[163] Aigner C, Bohmig GA, Eskandary F, Herkner H, Prohaszka Z, Csuka D, Kain R, Gaggl M, Sunder-Plassmann R, Muller-Sacherer T, Oszwald A, Fischer G, Schmidt A, Sunder-Plassmann G. Preemptive plasma therapy prevents atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome relapse in kidney transplant recipients. *European journal of internal medicine*. 2020; 73: 51-8. 10.1016/j.ejim.2019.11.007.

[164] Zuber J, Le Quintrec M, Krid S, Bertoye C, Gueutin V, Lahoche A, Heyne N, Ardissino G, Chatelet V, Noel LH, Hourmant M, Niaudet P, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Rondeau E, Legendre C, Loirat C, French Study Group for Atypical HUS. Eculizumab for atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome recurrence in renal transplantation. *Am J Transplant*. 2012; 12: 3337-54. 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04252.x.

[165] Kant S, Bhalla A, Alasfar S, Alachkar N. Ten-year outcome of Eculizumab in kidney transplant recipients with atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome- a single center experience. *BMC nephrology*. 2020; 21: 189. 10.1186/s12882-020-01847-0.

[166] Menne J, Delmas Y, Fakhouri F, Licht C, Lommele A, Minetti EE, Provot F, Rondeau E, Sheerin NS, Wang J, Weekers LE, Greenbaum LA. Outcomes in patients with atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome treated

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

with eculizumab in a long-term observational study. BMC nephrology. 2019; 20: 125. 10.1186/s12882-019-1314-1.

[167] Duineveld C, Verhave JC, Berger SP, van de Kar N, Wetzels JFM. Living Donor Kidney Transplantation in Atypical Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome: A Case Series. *American journal of kidney diseases: the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. 2017; 70: 770-7. 10.1053/j.ajkd.2017.06.024.

[168] Zuber J, Le Quintrec M, Morris H, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Loirat C, Legendre C. Targeted strategies in the prevention and management of atypical HUS recurrence after kidney transplantation. *Transplantation reviews*. 2013; 27: 117-25. 10.1016/j.trre.2013.07.003.

[169] Portoles J, Huerta A, Arjona E, Gavela E, Aguera M, Jimenez C, Cavero T, Marrero D, Rodriguez de Cordoba S, Diekmann F, Matrix I. Characteristics, management and outcomes of atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome in kidney transplant patients: a retrospective national study. *Clinical kidney journal*. 2021; 14: 1173-80. 10.1093/ckj/sfaa096.

[170] Saland JM, Ruggenenti P, Remuzzi G, Consensus Study G. Liver-kidney transplantation to cure atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN*. 2009; 20: 940-9. 10.1681/ASN.2008080906.

[171] Fakhouri F, Scully M, Provot F, Blasco M, Coppo P, Noris M, Paizis K, Kavanagh D, Pene F, Quezada S, Hertig A, Kissling S, O'Brien P, Delmas Y, Alberio L, Winer N, Veyradier A, Cataland S, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Loirat C, Remuzzi G, Tsatsaris V. Management of thrombotic microangiopathy in pregnancy and postpartum: report from an international working group. *Blood*. 2020; 136: 2103-17. 10.1182/blood.2020005221.

[172] George JN, Nester CM, McIntosh JJ. Syndromes of thrombotic microangiopathy associated with pregnancy. *Hematology American Society of Hematology Education Program*. 2015; 2015: 644-8. 10.1182/asheducation-2015.1.644.

[173] Scully M, Thomas M, Underwood M, Watson H, Langley K, Camilleri RS, Clark A, Creagh D, Rayment R, McDonald V, Roy A, Evans G, McGuckin S, Ni Ainle F, Maclean R, Lester W, Nash M, Scott R, P OB, collaborators of the UKTTPR. Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and pregnancy: presentation, management, and subsequent pregnancy outcomes. *Blood*. 2014; 124: 211-9. 10.1182/blood-2014-02-553131.

[174] Fakhouri F, Roumenina L, Provot F, Sallee M, Caillard S, Couzi L, Essig M, Ribes D, Dragon-Durey MA, Bridoux F, Rondeau E, Fremeaux-Bacchi V. Pregnancy-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome revisited in the era of complement gene mutations. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN*. 2010; 21: 859-67. 10.1681/ASN.2009070706.

[175] Satpathy Hemant K SC, Donald Frey. Hellp syndrome. J ObstetGynecol India. 2009; 59:1: 30-40.

[176] Fakhouri F, Jablonski M, Lepercq J, Blouin J, Benachi A, Hourmant M, Pirson Y, Durrbach A, Grunfeld JP, Knebelmann B, Fremeaux-Bacchi V. Factor H, membrane cofactor protein, and factor I mutations in patients with hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, and low platelet count syndrome. *Blood*. 2008; 112: 4542-5. 10.1182/blood-2008-03-144691.

[177] Vaught AJ, Gavriilaki E, Hueppchen N, Blakemore K, Yuan X, Seifert SM, York S, Brodsky RA. Direct evidence of complement activation in HELLP syndrome: A link to atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Exp Hematol.* 2016. 10.1016/j.exphem.2016.01.005.

[178] Keiser SD, Boyd KW, Rehberg JF, Elkins S, Owens MY, Sunesara I, Martin JN, Jr. A high LDH to AST ratio helps to differentiate pregnancy-associated thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP) from HELLP syndrome. *J MaternFetal Neonatal Med.* 2012; 25: 1059-63. 10.3109/14767058.2011.619603.

[179] Erkurt MA, Berber I, Berktas HB, Kuku I, Kaya E, Koroglu M, Nizam I, Bakirhan FA, Ozgul M. A life-saving therapy in Class I HELLP syndrome: Therapeutic plasma exchange. *Transfusion and apheresis science: official journal of the World Apheresis Association : official journal of the European Society for Haemapheresis.* 2015; 52: 194-8. 10.1016/j.transci.2014.12.026.

[180] Le Clech A, Simon-Tillaux N, Provot F, Delmas Y, Vieira-Martins P, Limou S, Halimi JM, Le Quintrec M, Lebourg L, Grange S, Karras A, Ribes D, Jourde-Chiche N, Rondeau E, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Fakhouri F. Atypical and secondary hemolytic uremic syndromes have a distinct presentation and no common genetic risk factors. *Kidney international*. 2019; 95: 1443-52. 10.1016/j.kint.2019.01.023.

[181] Faguer S, Huart A, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Ribes D, Chauveau D. Eculizumab and drug-induced haemolytic-uraemic syndrome. *Clinical kidney journal*. 2013; 6: 484-5. 10.1093/ckj/sft078.

[182] Al Ustwani O, Lohr J, Dy G, Levea C, Connolly G, Arora P, Iyer R. Eculizumab therapy for gemcitabine induced hemolytic uremic syndrome: case series and concise review. *J Gastrointest Oncol.* 2014; 5: E30-3. 10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2013.042.

[183] Wright RD, Bannerman F, Beresford MW, Oni L. A systematic review of the role of eculizumab in systemic lupus erythematosus-associated thrombotic microangiopathy. *BMC nephrology*. 2020; 21: 245. 10.1186/s12882-020-01888-5.

[184] Kello N, Khoury LE, Marder G, Furie R, Zapantis E, Horowitz DL. Secondary thrombotic microangiopathy in systemic lupus erythematosus and antiphospholipid syndrome, the role of complement and

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

use of eculizumab: Case series and review of literature. *Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism*. 2019; 49: 74-83. 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2018.11.005.

[185] Cavero T, Rabasco C, Lopez A, Roman E, Avila A, Sevillano A, Huerta A, Rojas-Rivera J, Fuentes C, Blasco M, Jarque A, Garcia A, Mendizabal S, Gavela E, Macia M, Quintana LF, Maria Romera A, Borrego J, Arjona E, Espinosa M, Portoles J, Gracia-Iguacel C, Gonzalez-Parra E, Aljama P, Morales E, Cao M, Rodriguez de Cordoba S, Praga M. Eculizumab in secondary atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation: official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association.* 2017; 32: 466-74. 10.1093/ndt/gfw453.

[186] Duineveld C, Wetzels JFM. Complement inhibitors are not useful in secondary hemolytic uremic syndromes. *Kidney international*. 2019; 96: 829-33. 10.1016/j.kint.2019.08.001.

[187] Caravaca-Fontan F, Praga M. Complement inhibitors are useful in secondary hemolytic uremic syndromes. *Kidney international*. 2019; 96: 826-9. 10.1016/j.kint.2019.07.006.

Mancia G, Fagard R, Narkiewicz K, Redon J, Zanchetti A, Bohm M, Christiaens T, Cifkova R, De [188] Backer G, Dominiczak A, Galderisi M, Grobbee DE, Jaarsma T, Kirchhof P, Kjeldsen SE, Laurent S, Manolis AJ, Nilsson PM, Ruilope LM, Schmieder RE, Sirnes PA, Sleight P, Viigimaa M, Waeber B, Zannad F, Redon J, Dominiczak A, Narkiewicz K, Nilsson PM, Burnier M, Viigimaa M, Ambrosioni E, Caufield M, Coca A, Olsen MH, Schmieder RE, Tsioufis C, van de Borne P, Zamorano JL, Achenbach S, Baumgartner H, Bax JJ, Bueno H, Dean V, Deaton C, Erol C, Fagard R, Ferrari R, Hasdai D, Hoes AW, Kirchhof P, Knuuti J, Kolh P, Lancellotti P, Linhart A, Nihoyannopoulos P, Piepoli MF, Ponikowski P, Sirnes PA, Tamargo JL, Tendera M, Torbicki A, Wijns W, Windecker S, Clement DL, Coca A, Gillebert TC, Tendera M, Rosei EA, Ambrosioni E, Anker SD, Bauersachs J, Hitij JB, Caulfield M, De Buyzere M, De Geest S, Derumeaux GA, Erdine S, Farsang C, Funck-Brentano C, Gerc V, Germano G, Gielen S, Haller H, Hoes AW, Jordan J, Kahan T, Komajda M, Lovic D, Mahrholdt H, Olsen MH, Ostergren J, Parati G, Perk J, Polonia J, Popescu BA, Reiner Z, Ryden L, Sirenko Y, Stanton A, Struijker-Boudier H, Tsioufis C, van de Borne P, Vlachopoulos C, Volpe M, Wood DA. 2013 ESH/ESC guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the Management of Arterial Hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). European heart journal. 2013; 34: 2159-219. 10.1093/eurhearti/eht151.

[189] El Karoui K, Boudhabhay I, Petitprez F, Vieira-Martins P, Fakhouri F, Zuber J, Aulagnon F, Matignon M, Rondeau E, Mesnard L, Halimi JM, Fremeaux-Bacchi V. Impact of hypertensive emergency and rare complement variants on the presentation and outcome of atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Haematologica*. 2019; 104: 2501-11. 10.3324/haematol.2019.216903.

[190] Cavero T, Arjona E, Soto K, Caravaca-Fontan F, Rabasco C, Bravo L, de la Cerda F, Martin N, Blasco M, Avila A, Huerta A, Cabello V, Jarque A, Alcazar C, Fulladosa X, Carbayo J, Anaya S, Cobelo C, Ramos N, Iglesias E, Baltar J, Martinez-Gallardo R, Perez L, Morales E, Gonzalez R, Macia M, Draibe J, Pallardo L, Quintana LF, Espinosa M, Barros X, Pereira F, Cao M, Moreno JA, Rodriguez de Cordoba S, Praga M, Spanish Group for the Study of Glomerular D. Severe and malignant hypertension are common in primary atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Kidney international*. 2019; 96: 995-1004. 10.1016/j.kint.2019.05.014.

[191] Chand DH, Zaidman C, Arya K, Millner R, Farrar MA, Mackie FE, Goedeker NL, Dharnidharka VR, Dandamudi R, Reyna SP. Thrombotic Microangiopathy Following OnasemnogeneAbeparvovec for Spinal Muscular Atrophy: A Case Series. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2021; 231: 265-8. 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.11.054.

[192] Saltzman DJ, Chang JC, Jimenez JC, Carson JG, Abolhoda A, Newman RS, Milliken JC. Postoperative thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura after open heart operations. *The Annals of thoracic surgery*. 2010; 89: 119-23. 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2009.09.019.

[193] <u>http://www.gradeworkinggroup.org/index.htm</u>

[194] http://semmelweis.hu/kutlab/betegellatas/122-29608/

[195] <u>https://www.news.sanofi.us/2018-09-03-Cablivi-TM-caplacizumab-approved-in-Europe-for-adults-with-acquired-thrombotic-thrombocytopenic-purpura-aTTP</u>

[196] <u>https://www.fda.gov/drugs/resources-information-approved-drugs/fda-approved-caplacizumab-yhdp</u>

[197] <u>www.genomicepidemiology.org</u>

[198] https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02205541

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

X. DEVELOPMENT METHOD

1.Formation of the development group, the development method and the documentation of tasks

The chairperson of the National Advisory Board of Healthcare asked the delegated members of the sections affected by the topic to begin developing the guideline. After its creation, the development group defined a list of tasks to be completed. The medical guideline was created with the individual effort of members and following multiple rounds of consultation.

2. Literary search and selection

The literature was primarily reviewed using the PubMed (ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) database based on the following keywords: HUS, TTP, USS, TMA, HELLP, preeclampsia. Analysing the list of references included in the published international guidelines identified during the search was also part of the literary review.

3. Describing the strength and shortcomings of the evidence used (critical assessment, 'evidence or recommendation matrix'), method for determining the level of evidence

The classification system used for the level of evidence is based on the GRADE nomenclature. [193]

In the text, the development group rated scientific evidence and its credibility and scientific support in parentheses following the text description, for instance: (A).

4. Method for drafting the recommendations

The recommendations included in the guideline were rated based on the evidence background.

The system used for ranking recommendations was elaborated by the development group based on the GRADE nomenclature [193]. In the text, the development group classified recommendations in parentheses following the text description, for instance: (1).

When the adapted guidelines used a different classification system, the Hungarian development group adopted the classification used by the BCSH Guideline and classified recommendations from other adapted guidelines using this system. If adapted guidelines assigned a different grade to a specific recommendation, the development group applied the lower recommendation classification grade.

The recommendations of this medical guideline, applicable within its scope, have been adapted to the pertaining Hungarian medical care environment (characteristics, preferences, health culture and cost-bearing capacity of the treated population, legal environment).

5. Consultation method

Once the medical guideline's medical content was compiled, the document was sent to the Sections of the National Advisory Board of Healthcare that had requested consultative rights and accepted the development group's request to provide consultation. The recommendations received were incorporated into the medical guideline, or the document's structure was amended based on the recommendations if the medical guideline developers agreed with them.

6. Independent expert consultation method

No independent expert consultation took place.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

XI. ANNEX

1. Documents to help administration

1.1. Patient information sheet, education materials

1.1.1 TTP-HUS patient information sheet

TTP-HUS PATIENT INFORMATION SHEET

THROMBOTIC MICROANGIOPATHIES (TMA)

An umbrella term for conditions characterised by similar symptoms and abnormalities in laboratory results. The pathological basis is abnormal platelet activation and aggregation that results in thrombosis in the small blood vessels, disrupting blood supply to the affected areas with consequential organ function impairment. The extent and location of organ injury and the underlying molecular mechanism differs in the various conditions.

1. THE MOST COMMON LABORATORY ABNORMALITIES:

- *Thrombocytopaenia* (low platelet count): continuous activation and aggregation lead to the utilisation of platelets. If bone marrow production is unable to keep up, thrombocytopaenia develops. The degree of thrombocytopaenia may differ among the various conditions.
- Microangiopathic haemolytic anaemia: clot formation in the small blood vessels causes mechanical damage to red blood cells, which are fragmented (schistocytes) and rupture and dissolve within the bloodstream (haemolysis). If production is unable to keep up, anaemia develops.
- *Elevated LDH* (lactate dehydrogenase): its level increases significantly in processes that result in haemolysis (breakdown of red blood cells) and tissue breakdown.
- *Low serum haptoglobin*: a protein that is used up in the bloodstream during haemolysis with the physiological function of binding the haemoglobin from the fragmented red blood cells. Low haptoglobin levels indicate the presence of haemolysis.
- *Elevated creatinine*: the creatinine level increases in kidney injury, to different degrees in various conditions.
- *Abnormalities in urine*: white and red blood cells and free haemoglobin often appear in the urine. A sign of impaired kidney function.

2. MOST COMMON CLINICAL SYMPTOMS

- Haemorrhage caused by thrombocytopaenia: petechiae or small bruising on the skin and mucosa. Sometimes there are no symptoms of haemophilia at all despite very severe thrombocytopaenia. Although severe haemorrhage can sometimes occur, it is generally rare.
- *Haemolytic anaemia*: the mechanical destruction of red blood cells leads to anaemia if red blood cell generation is unable to keep up. The degree of anaemia may vary, and may even be absent initially.
- Neurological symptoms: headache, disturbance of consciousness, speech disorders, sensory disorders, paralysis, and seizures may occur in the most diverse combinations. They are mainly seen in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP), but are not compulsory symptoms. The symptoms often 'shift', improving or deteriorating spontaneously.
- *Renal impairment*: a decrease in the kidney's detoxification function characterised by a decrease in the quantity of urine. May require dialysis treatment. Is most often seen in haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS) and HELLP syndrome.
- *Fever*: may present without infection (mainly in TTP), but may also signal an accompanying infection.
- *Other symptoms*: besides the nervous system and the kidney, the most commonly affected organ is the heart, manifesting in the form of arrhythmia, myocardial infarction and heart failure. As microthromboses affect the entire body, other symptoms may also occur: intestinal perforation, pancreatitis, etc.

3. KEY CLINICAL FORMS

a. Thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (Moschcowitz syndrome, TTP)

It is a rare disease that mainly affects women, occurring most frequently in young adulthood, but may occur at any age. It is most often caused by a deficiency in an acquired or congenital factor circulating in blood plasma (the ADAMTS13 enzyme) and is characterised by enzyme activity of under 10%. The enzyme physiologically breaks down the von Willebrand factor (VWF). VWF is a coagulation factor with a complex structure, a huge molecule (ultra-large VWF, ULVWF) that enters the circulation when the cells covering the internal surface of blood vessel walls (endothelium) are exposed to damaging or stimulating stimuli. Its physiological role is to anchor platelets, creating a so-called "platelet-dense" seal at the site of damage to the vessel wall. The ADAMTS13 enzyme's function is to cleave excess VWF into smaller parts that do not bind platelets as much. If

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

ADAMTS13 enzyme function is lacking for any reason, platelet plugs are formed in the small blood vessels and flood the body, are carried away and disrupt blood supply to distant organs (most often the brain, kidney and heart). The process uses up platelets, decreasing the platelet count (thrombocytopaenia) and haemophilia may occur. While passing through clotted red blood cells, the red blood cells are mechanically damaged and ruptured (haemolysis), which may manifest in the form of anaemia. Acquired and congenital forms of the condition are both known:

- The congenital form: It is also known as Upshaw-Schulman syndrome and is very rare. It stems from a genetic enzyme disorder. It may typically present during the neonatal period or later on, mainly during pregnancy. Diagnosis is often delayed in its milder forms. The condition may be hereditary.
- Acquired form: stems from an enzyme function disorder, the autoantibody (inhibitor) inhibiting enzyme function. The mortality rate is over 90% without treatment, while a sustained asymptomatic state can be achieved in nearly 80–95% of patients with adequate treatment started on time. The condition may return later on (see also section 6/a). It is not hereditary.
- b. Haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)
 - Umbrella term that includes several clearly defined conditions:
 - Typical HUS (STEC-HUS): caused by infection with verotoxin-producing bacteria (Escherichiacoli, Shigella dysenteriae, Citrobacter freundii), usually from food or drink. It is the most common cause of paediatric renal failure. Mainly affects children between 2–5 years of age, but may also occur in adulthood. Its typical symptom is acute renal failure, haemolysis and thrombocytopaenia following bloody diarrhoea, which is why it was formerly called diarrhoea-associated 'D+' HUS. Neurological and other symptoms may also occur. Generally responds well to treatment, resolving most of the time without permanent injury, and relapse and family history (except in cases occurring simultaneously in several family members) are not characteristic. Prospects are less positive in adults. A huge epidemic caused by a previously unknown strain of E. coli broke out in Germany in 2011 which uncharacteristically predominantly affected adult women, causing a high number of severe neurological symptoms and high mortality. The condition is not hereditary.
 - Pneumococcus-associated HUS (P-HUS): very severe disease in children under 2 years of age. The symptoms are caused by the neuraminidase enzyme produced by the Streptococcus pneumoniae bacteria, which exposes hidden antigens by cleaving off sialic acid on cell membranes. The antibodies normally present in plasma react with these hidden antigens and cause cell damage. The condition is generally not hereditary.
 - Atypical HUS (aHUS): is usually caused by deregulation of the alternative activation pathway of the complement system. The complement system is found in blood plasma and is a vital part of the congenital immune system. The alternative activation pathway plays an important role in shielding against pathogens. Under normal circumstances, this system exhibits continuous spontaneous activation. The role of regulatory proteins is to keep this smouldering activity at bay and to prevent complement activation from damaging the body's own cells. Its defective functioning damages the endothelium (the layer of cells lining the inside of blood vessels) and forms tiny blood clots that flood the body and result in the dysfunction of many different organs. The most pronounced abnormalities manifest in the kidney, the heart and the nervous system. Haematological abnormalities (haemolysis, anaemia, thrombocytopaenia) are generally milder than in TTP. It may occur at any age, but mainly affects newborns, children over the age of five years and young adults. It does not have a distinctive introductory phase (no bloody diarrhoea) and the process is generally chronic, characterised by relapses and may have a family history. Without proper treatment, it often leads to end-stage renal failure, has high mortality, and generally recurs in transplanted kidney grafts. Several forms are known:
 - *Congenital form*: the regulatory factors of the alternative activation pathway of the complement system do not function correctly or are not produced for genetic reasons. It is a hereditary condition.
 - *Acquired form*: the autoantibody impedes the functioning of regulatory proteins (e.g.: factor H). It is not a hereditary condition.

— Secondary TTP-HUS

Clinical symptoms and laboratory abnormalities reminiscent of TTP and HUS may manifest alongside various medications, infections, tumours and autoimmune diseases. The underlying cause and mechanism of these is very diverse, and often not precisely known. It is not a hereditary condition.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

4. THE EXAMINATION PROCESS

The examination is a complex time-consuming process that is quite costly. Today, establishing an accurate diagnosis is essential for choosing the right therapy. The following examinations may be performed:

- full blood count, peripheral blood smear
- blood chemistry and immunology tests
- blood coagulation tests
- ADAMTS13 tests (and genetic tests if warranted)
- complement tests (and genetic tests if warranted)
- blood type serological tests
- virology (including HIV)
- urine test (chemistry, culture, pregnancy test)
- stool test (culture, and alsoverotoxin)
- imaging examinations (chest x-ray, abdominal/heart ultrasound, cranial CT/MTI)
- other tests (crista biopsy, kidney biopsy)

Genetic tests may be performed to identify hereditary factors; a family examination may also be necessary if the result is positive. The genetic tests can only be performed with your consent.

5. THERAPEUTIC OPTIONS

The time factor may be so crucial in certain conditions that there is no time to wait for the results of every test. In such cases, a reasonable suspicion of the condition is sufficient for starting treatment.

- a. *Plasma exchange:* a blood cleaning procedure performed outside the body using a cell or plasma separator specifically developed for this purpose, where approximately 40–60 mL/kg of plasma is removed from the patient and primarily replaced with fresh plasma from blood donors in case of TTP and HUS. The procedure is aimed at removing the abnormal substance responsible for the condition (autoantibody, abnormal regulatory factor) and replacing the lacking or dysfunctional substance (enzymes, normal regulatory factors) in large volume. A central cannula may be necessary for the treatment. (For details, see the institutional patient information sheet and informed consent form for plasma exchange). It currently constitutes first-line treatment for TTP. It is currently only recommended in the short term in atypical HUS (for up to 5–10 days), with longer treatment only considered if complement-inhibiting treatment is not available or the diagnosis is unclear.
- b. *Plasma transfusion:* administration of fresh plasma from blood donors using a transfusion set, at a dose of 10–30 mL/kg. It is the basic therapy for the genetic form of TTP. It can also be used in some cases of atypical HUS (if the regulator protein is not abnormal but absent), particularly if complement-inhibiting treatment is not available.
- c. Immunosuppressant treatment: Therapy used in the acquired forms of TTP and atypical HUS caused by autoantibodies. Steroids and/or rituximab are most commonly used. The latter is an off-label use and therefore requires OGYÉI and NEAK financing authorisation. Rituximab must not be given during pregnancy and is not recommended for one year after pregnancy. It is not without risks, and may entail fatal complications (see the patient information leaflet for rituximab). More rarely, other agents (cyclophosphamide, cyclosporine, mycophenolate-mofetil etc.) may also be considered.
- d. *Inhibition of VWF and platelet bounding:* the recently registered caplacizumab prevents the bounding of Willebrand factor and platelets. It blocks platelet microthrombus formation without affecting the autoimmune process. It should therefore be combined with immunosuppressive treatment. Very effective, but symptomatic therapy. Mainly mild to moderate bleeding complications can be expected as adverse effects. Its availability is currently limited due to its extreme cost.
- e. Complement-inhibiting treatment (eculizumab, ravulizumab): the treatment of choice in confirmed atypical HUS (also in children in case there is a strong suspicion). Given the huge costs of treatment, its use is always subject to NEAK funding authorisation. It constitutes symptomatic therapy that stops complement activation without affecting the underlying process. It requires long-term treatment spanning several months or years, or lifelong treatment in many patients. At least 2 weeks prior to starting therapy, patients must be vaccinated against *Neisseria meningitis* (and paediatric patients against *Haemophilus influenza* and *pneumococcus* as well), in some cases with the temporary or sustained use of antibiotics.
- *f. Removal of the spleen, splenectomy:* A procedure that is still used today to prevent frequent relapses in the acquired inhibitor form of TTP. Decreases the frequency of relapse. Vaccination against encapsulated bacteria is necessary beforehand.
- *g. Platelet aggregation inhibition, thrombosis prophylaxis, thrombosis prevention:* If the platelet count is above 50 g/L, low-dose aspirin and low molecular weight heparin are also used during treatment.
- *h. Transfusion treatment:* platelet transfusion can generally only be given for serious clinical haemorrhage, otherwise it is not warranted by a low platelet count alone. Red blood cell transfusion is necessary in the

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

majority of patients using a typed and screened, filtered (leukoreduced) product. Fresh frozen plasma may also be given outside plasma exchange, particularly in TTP. As blood preparations in Hungary are not virus-inactivated, there is a small chance of virus transmission.

i. Other supportive therapy: some patients require treatment in an intensive care unit, parenteral nutrition, artificial respiration and dialysis. Adequately managing the ion balance, the acid-base balance and hypertension, and detecting and treating any potential infections are important.

6. PROSPECTS FOR REMISSION

- a. In TTP: if plasma exchange is started on time (supplemented with immunosuppressant treatment if necessary), 80–95% of patients achieve a sustained asymptomatic state. In a small proportion of patients, some degree of mainly neurological residual symptoms may remain: memory problems, personality disorders, paralysis or other symptoms. The disease returns in 20–50% of patients (relapse). The time of relapse is extremely variable and cannot be predicted. Relapse is most often triggered by pregnancy, infection or surgery. If ADAMTS13 activity remains abnormal or becomes abnormal once again during the asymptomatic phase, there is a greater chance of relapse. In such cases, repeated immunosuppressant treatment may normalise enzyme activity in some patients. That being said, many patients may remain asymptomatic for years with low or even zero activity.
- b. *In atypical HUS:* the sooner we start complement-inhibiting treatment, the greater the chance of restoring kidney function: Treatment started within 28 days yields the best results. After three months of dialysis, a kidney biopsy may help decide whether to give or continue giving the medicinal product. Successful attempts are being made to achieve stable remission by suspending administration of the product in order to avoid the huge cost of treatment, the potential complications and the discomfort caused by regular infusion. In such cases, very close patient control is necessary (testing urine twice weekly with a test strip) and treatment must be continued upon the first sign of relapse.

Haematological remission is easily achieved with plasma exchange, but the improvement in renal function is only seen rarely, with most patients developing end-stage renal failure.

If a kidney transplant is performed due to atypical HUS, the results of the complement genetic test are essential for choosing the optimal therapy.

- c. *Typical HUS:* usually cured with supportive treatment. Residual symptoms are rare and the mortality rate is low.
- d. *Secondary TTP in HUS:* the treatability of the primary disease determines the outcome, and the prognosis is unfortunately often poor.

7. PREGNANCY AFTER TTP-HUS

a. In the inhibitor form of *TTP*, the condition often returns after pregnancy, which requires plasma exchange (supplemented with steroid therapy if needed) (rituximab cannot be given during pregnancy). Pregnancy generally further activates the process. Therefore, pregnancy later must be considered very carefully. An effective method of birth control is necessary and oestrogen-based contraceptives should be avoided. If the patient nevertheless chooses pregnancy, it should only be permitted with regular (weekly) control in a tertiary care centre with joint obstetric and haematological care. A positive, complication-free outcome can nevertheless not be guaranteed.

In the hereditary form of TTP, regular plasma transfusion during pregnancy decreases the risk of complications for the foetus and the mother, but does not rule them out completely.

In both forms, ADAMTS13 activity and platelet count must be regularly checked during and after pregnancy.

- b. In *atypical HUS*, the administration of complement-inhibiting treatment during pregnancy is currently not recommended by the manufacturer in the absence of sufficient clinical data. For this reason, treatment can only be performed subject to off-label funding approval from OGYI and NEAK.
- c. *Typical HUS* in the patient's clinical history does not pose a risk to pregnancy if the condition resolves without residual symptoms.

1.2. Data sheets used when completing series of activities

None.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Table 1: TTP and H	IUS: age-related onset of c	elinical conditions with a known path	omechanism [19].
Typical age- related onset	Probable diagnosis	Clinical presentation	Tests confirming the diagnosis
From neonate to adult age	Congenital TTP (Upshaw-Schulman sy)	severe jaundice, 'burgundy' urine without any significant haematuria,	ADAMTS13 activity <10% absence of ADAMTS13 inhibitor
Pregnancy	'Late-onset' USS	relatives or siblings, neonatal death absence of foetal development or foetal death (42%), or clinical TTP in the third trimester	ADAM 1313 genetic mutation
Neonates – <6 months of age	Methylmalonic aciduria-HUS (Cobalamin-C defect)	feeding difficulties, stunted growth and development, hypotension	hyperhomocysteinaemia, hypomethionaemia, methylmalonic aciduria, MMACHC mutation
Neonate <1-2 years of age	Diacylglycerol kinase epsilon (DGKE) mutation	hypertension, haematuria, proteinuria, renal failure	DGKE genetic mutation
< 2 years	Pneumococcal- associated HUS (neuraminidase- associated HUS)	fever, invasive S. pneumoniae infection: pneumonia, meningitis, septicaemia (empyema, subdural abscess)	positive direct Coombs, T antigen activation, positive culture (blood, cerebrospinal fluid), PCR
>6 months – <5 years	STEC-HUS (formerly D+HUS)	Acute gastroenteritis, (bloody) diarrhoea in the past two weeks in a STEC or Shigelladysenteriae endemic region	stool culture: MacConkey agar: 0157:H7, PCR: Shiga toxin serum: anti-LPS antibodies
From adolescence to adult age	Autoimmune TTP	haematological symptoms neurological symptoms + renal involvement of varying degree fever	ADAMTS13 activity <10% ADAMTS13 inhibitor
From birth to adulthood	Complement-mediated aHUS	haematological symptoms symptoms of acute kidney injury symptoms suggestive of atypicality (Table 8)	complement C3, C4 alternative total complement FH, FB, FI, MCP expression anti-FH antibody complement genetic test
HUS: haemolytic u and metalloproteina homocystinuria; P lipopolysaccharide; membrane cofactor	HUS: haemolytic uraemic syndrome; TTP: thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura; ADAMTS13: A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with a thrombospondin type 1 motif, member 13; MMACHC: methylmalonic aciduria and homocystinuria; PCR: polymerase chain reaction; STEC: Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli; LPS: lipopolysaccharide; FH: complement factor H; FI: complement factor I; FB: complement factor B; MCP: membrane cofactor protein (CD46)		

......

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Table 2: Tests necessary to determine and begin immediate treatment of thrombotic microangiopathies (TTP and HUS) to be performed urgently [1]. and see **Table 5** too.

The diagnosis requires	Typical value
direct Coombs test	negative
complete blood count	thrombocytopenia (TTP<30 G/l; HUS <150 G/l), anaemia, reticulocytosis
peripheral blood smear	schistocytosis <u>+</u> nucleated red blood cells, spherocytes, polychromasia basophilic stippling
serum haptoglobin	low/unmeasurably low
serum indirect bilirubin	normal/slightly abnormal/rarely elevated
Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH)	high (most often 1000–5000 IU/L)
transaminases	normal/slightly abnormal
screening coagulogram (PT, APTI, fibrinogen)	normal/slightly abnormal
Increased creatinine	TTP: often moderate, creatinine remains below 200 micromol/L HUS: often significant, for an accurate assessment of the degree of acute kidney injury, see Table 7
troponin	normal/varying degrees of increase
C-reactive protein (CRP)	normal/slightly abnormal
procalcitonin	normal/slightly abnormal (renal failure: high)
complete urine	varying degrees of haemoglobinuria, proteinuria, (micro)haematuria

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Table 3: Tests required for differential diagnosis and microangiopathies (TTP and HUS). [1, 12-14, 17, 28-30]	the selection of targeted therapy for thrombotic
Tests required for differential diagnosis and the selection of therapy	Comment
pregnancy test	for women of childbearing age
eye exam, ocular fundus exam	If malignant hypertension is suspected
kidney biopsy if feasible, histological exam	To confirm the final diagnosis of TMA, to assess the reversibility of kidney damage
virology (HIV, hepatitis A/B/C/E, CMV, EBV, +/- other)	the blood sample <u>must</u> be drawn and sent to the laboratory prior to starting therapy
screening test for autoimmune disease (RF, ANA, dsDNA, ENA screening, C3, C4, lupus anticoagulant, antiphospholipid antibodies, In the event of acute kidney injury: ANCA, anti-GBM as well	the blood sample <u>must</u> be drawn and sent to the laboratory prior to starting therapy
ADAMTS13 activity, antigen, inhibitor, genetic test	prior to starting therapy, the blood sample <u>must</u> be drawn and stored according to the specialist laboratory's requirements or sent to the laboratory
complement screening test + complement genetic test + flow cytometry (CD46)	prior to starting therapy, the blood sample <u>must</u> be drawn and stored according to the specialist laboratory's requirements or sent to the laboratory
stool culture + verotoxin PCR	diarrhoea at the onset of the condition or in the 1–2 weeks directly preceding onset
Examination of cobalamin metabolism (plasma, homocysteine, plasma + urine methylmalonic acid, vitamin B12 level, genetic test)	it is recommended in all paediatric cases and in the event of hyperhomocysteinaemia in young adults

Table 4: Main clinical conditions to be excluded in the differential diagnosis of TTP and HUS [1, 12-14, 17, 28-30].

Immune thrombocytopenia

Autoimmune haemolytic anaemia

Evans syndrome (autoimmune haemolytic anaemia and thrombocytopaenia)

Disseminated intravascular coagulation

(Pre)eclampsia, HELLP syndrome

Cobalamin C deficiency (children, young adults), vitamin B₁₂ deficiency (adults)

Secondary thrombotic microangiopathies (see Table 11)

Thrombocytopaenia and/or other causes of haemolysis

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Table 5: PLASMIC score [38] and FRENCH sc	ore [27]	
Lab test	PLASMIC score	FRENCH score
Platelet count	<30 G/L (+1)	<30 G/L (+1)
Serum creatinine level	<176.84 µmol/L (+1)	<199.83 µmol/L (+1)
Signs of haemolysis (presence of at least 1 of the following)	(+1)	*
indirect bilirubin >34.2 µmol/L		
reticulocyte count >2.5% undetectable haptoglobin		
No history of active tumour in recent years	(+1)	*
No history of solid organ or stem cell transplantation	(+1)	*
INR <1.5	(+1)	*
MCV <90 fL	(+1)	NA
Probability of ADAMTS13 activity below 10%:	Score 0-4: 0-4% Score 5: -24% Score 6-7: 62-82%	Score 0: 2% Score 1: 70% Score 2: 94%

Each item is worth 1 point (+1); INR, international normalised ratio; MCV, mean corpuscular volume; SCT, stem cell transplantation;

*The French score can be used in TMA if there is no history of tumour, transplantation and unconfirmed disseminated intravascular coagulation in addition to fragmentation haemolysis. These are basic criteria and no specific points are awarded for them in the French score. The French score originally included the antinuclear factor.

NA: MCV is not included in the French score.

Table 6: The practice of plasma exchange in TTP [1].
 Volume: 1.5 plasma volumes/day (initially) 1.0 plasma volumes/day (once the patient's condition has stabilised)
– Substitution fluid: FFP (>50%)
– Frequency: daily
 Endpoint: haematological remission*
[*] Platelet count >150 g/L on at least two consecutive days, with no signs of haemolysis and rising or normal haemoglobin level.

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Table 7: The clinical triad of HUS [13, 14, 17, 19, 29, 30].	
Thrombocytopaenia caused by plat	elet consumption
Microangiopathic haemolytic anae	mia
 Confirmed acute kidney injury: with the following classification — — — — — 	proteinuria and/or glomerular haematuria and/or decreased renal function, according to RIFLE criteria [98]: Risk: 1.5x increase in serum creatinine or decrease in GFR >25%, or urine output per hour <0.5 mL/kg/hour for 6 hours, Injury: 2x increase in serum creatinine or decrease in GFR >50%, or urine output per hour <0.5 mL/kg/hour for 12 hours, Failure: 3x increase in serum creatinine or decrease in GFR >75% or an acute increase in serum creatinine of >353 micromol/L (>44 micromol/L), or urine output per hour <0.3 mL/kg/hour for 24 hours, or anuria for 12 hours Loss: protracted acute renal failure = total loss of kidney function for >4 weeks, ESRD End stage kidney disease (>3 months)

Table 8: Signs suggestive of atypical HUS [29].
— Absence of diarrhoea prior to the onset of HUS
<u>or</u>
— Diarrhoea + presence of <u>any</u> of the following:
- Age <6 months or >5 years
- Insidious onset
- HUS relapse
- Presumed earlier HUS
- Prior unexplained anaemia or thrombocytopaenia
- HUS following any organ transplant
- Asynchronous HUS occurring in the family
On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Table 9: Plasma exchange in childhood atypical HUS			
(The recommendation of the European Paediatric Study Group for HUS) [29]			
— Start plasma exchange within 24 hours, <u>except</u> :			
- if an alternative diagnosis requiring different treatment is reasonably suspected			
- in small children if placing the line in the vein causes technical difficulties			
- if renal involvement is mild, if the risk/benefit balance is negative			
- Substitution: FFP or pooled plasma, human, solvent-detergent treated			
— Volume: 1.5 plasma volumes (60–75 mL/kg/session)			
— Frequency:			
- 1x daily for 5 days			
- 5x weekly for 2 weeks			
- 3x weekly for 2 weeks			
- on day 33 of the evaluation of therapeutic effect			
— Endpoint:			
- Confirmation of alternative diagnosis not treatable by plasma exchange			
- Severe complication requiring abandonment of plasma exchange			
- Haematological remission [*]			
* Aetiology must be clarified in order to continue plasma exchange			

Table 10: Prophylaxis preceding kidney transplantation [12, 121]				
Risk of recurrence	Mode of prophylaxis			
High				
— FH and gain-of-function mutations: FB, C3				
— Combined mutations, with the exception of	Complement-inhibiting treatment			
MCP combinations	complement minorang deathent			
— Due to the recurrence of earlier graft loss,				
irrespective of the genetic test results				
Moderate				
— Isolated FI mutation	Complement-inhibiting treatment or plasma			
— Combine MCP mutation	exchange			
— Mutation of unknown functional effect				
Low				
— DGKE mutation				
— Isolated MCP mutation	prophylaxis is not necessary			
— No detectable mutation				
— Low anti-FH antibody titre				

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Table 11: Underlying diseases, conditions and treatments in which the development of secondary thrombotic microangiopathies has been described [1, 11-14, 28-30, 191, 192]				
— Pharmacological treatments:				
- Quinine				
- Thienopyridines: ticlopidine, clopidogrel				
- Calcineurin inhibitors: cyclosporine, tacrolimus				
- mTOR inhibitors: sirolimus, everolimus				
- Chemotherapy agents: mitomycin B, cisplatin, bleomycin, gemcitabine, etc.				
- Angiogenesis inhibitors: bevacizumab				
- Tyrosine kinase inhibitors: sunitinib				
- Other agents: oral contraceptives, interferon, etc.				
- Malignant hypertension (often against a background of silent IgA nephropathy)				
- Disseminated cancers, often mucin-producing adenocarcinomas				
— Infections:				
- viral infections (e.g. HIV, CMV, etc.)				
- sepsis: bacteria, fungus				
- Allogeneic stem cell transplantation: graft-versus-host disease; solid organ transplantation				
— Autoimmune conditions:				
- SLE				
- antiphospholipid syndrome				
- SSC renal crisis				
- Surgeries (e.g. motor heart surgery); protein-losing conditions (e.g. diarrhoea); pancreatitis				
— Extracorporeal membrane oxygenator treatment				
- Adeno-associated virus 9 vector-based gene therapy (such as Onasemnogeneabeparvovec)				

On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

1.4. Algorithms

Figure 1. Annual trends in the number of patients diagnosed with aHUS and TTP at the FüstGyörgy Complement Diagnostic Laboratory of the Department of Internal Medicine and Haematology of Semmelweis University. The curve shows the cumulative number of cases, and the numbers above the curve show the number of cases diagnosed in a given year.



On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Figure 2: Classification of thrombotic microangiopathies [12]



On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Figure 3: Summary of the diagnostic algorithm and possible modes of therapy for HUS [132]. See the text for detailed explanations. Based on reference no. [15], with modifications. Only the most common forms are indicated in the figure.



On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Suspicion	<u>ADULT</u> : thrombocytopenia + MAHA <u>+</u> acute kidney injury		
Tests	 <u>Performing the following tests:</u> blood count, smear, INR, PTI, fibrinogen, D-dimer, ASAT, ALAT, LDH, GGT, ALP, CN, creatinine, amylase, lipase, CRP, troponin, blood group, urine analysis <u>Drawing and storing a sample:</u> ACA, LA, RF, dsDNA, ENA, ANCA, anti-GBM, B12, homocysteine, hepatitis ABC+HIV serology, ADAMTS13, complement, FACS (MCP) <u>Ruling out comorbidity/condition</u> (does not necessarily have to be performed immediately): echocardiography, cranial, abdominal and chest CT, stool and urine culture + verotoxin, pregnancy test 		
Transfusion	 Ordering FFP Ordering typed blood THR transfusion is contraindicated except if there is life-threatening haemorrhage 		
Plasma exchange	 initiated within 6 hours at a dose of 60 ml/kg (FFP content >50%) Daily treatment 		
Medicinal product	 Methylprednisolone given immediately (1 g/day x3 or 1 mg/kg/day) if: ADAMTS13 <10% (or thr <30 G/L and creatinine <200 umol/L) Folic acid, PPI, LMWH, ASA (if plt>50 G/L) <u>+</u> hepatitis vaccine 		
Modification of therapy	 Requesting off-label license submission for rituximab if ADAMTS13 <10% and No therapeutic response, extremely severe health condition, exacerbation, relapse In case of initiation of Caplacizumab treatment Requesting permission for complement inhibition treatment if ADAMTS13 >10% Renal function does not improve (creat \$\sqrt{257}\$, after at least 5 PEXs) and aHUS can be confirmed (kidney histology, complement profile+genetic), Secondary cause can be ruled out 		
End of therapy	 Continuing treatment until CR (plt >150 G/l on at least 2 consecutive days, normal LDH) Gradual tapering of ISU Continuing complement inhibition until kidney CR or maximum improvement 		

Figure 4: Recommended care algorithm for adult patients

Medical Guideline 002168 On the treatment of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura (TTP) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS)

Figure 5: Recommended care algorithm for paediatric patients

SUSPICION		 PAEDIATRIC population: thrombocytopenia + MAHA + acute kidney injury Signs suggestive of the <u>atypical</u> form: absence of diarrhoea or diarrhoea and any of the following: Insidious onset HUS relapse Presumed earlier HUS Prior unexplained anaemia HUS following any organ transplant <u>A</u>synchronous HUS in the family
		 <u>Routine laboratory test</u>: blood count, smear, INR, PTI, fibrinogen, D-dimer, ASAT, ALAT, LDH, GGT, ALP, CN, creatinine, amylase, lipase, CRP, troponin, blood group, urine analysis
		 <u>Ruling out STEC-HUS</u>: stool, urine (culture + verotoxin PCR, serology)
[<u>Ruling out P-HUS</u>: cultures (blood, pleural fluid, cerebrospinal fluid), PCR, DAT, investigation of T activation
DIFFERENTIAL	$\overline{\mathbf{k}}$	 <u>Ruling out influenza A/H1N1</u>: virus culture, ag test, PCR, serology
DIAGNOSIS	X	Ruling out TTP: ADAMTS13 activity, anti-ADAMTS13 inhibitor
	[]	 <u>Ruling out cobalamin C disease</u>: serum: homocysteine ↑, methionine↓, methylmalonic aciduria, MMACHC gene
		 <u>Complement dysregulation</u>: classical and alternative pathway activity, C3, C4, CFH, CFI, CFB, anti- CFH, MCP-expression, complement and THBD genetic analysis
		 Ruling out DGKe mutation: genetic analysis
		 <u>Ruling out comorbidity/condition</u>: autoimmune, tumour, TX, SCT
THERAPY Must be started within 24 hours!		 Confirmed or very likely aHUS: First-line complement inhibitory treatment If complement inhibitory treatment is not available: PEX according to the paediatric guideline (Octaplas). If there is no haematological response to 5 PEXs and/or the improvement in serum creatinine is <25%, complement inhibitory treatment must be used TTP-USS: Factor VIII product with ADAMTS13 activity (e.g., Type 8Y®) or FFP or Octaplas transfusion TTP inhibitor or aHUS anti-CFH pos.: PEX + immunosuppression Other conditions (STEC-HUS, P-HUS, CbI-C, DGKe, secondary cause): condition-specific therapy

1.5. Other documents

None.